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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------- x  
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

 v.  
 
BUY-A-HOME, LLC; METROPOLITAN HOUSING, 
LLC; GRAMERCY FUNDING GROUP LTD; MITCHELL 
COHEN; CAMBRIDGE HOME CAPITAL, LLC; SETH 
KRAMER; CRAIG HYMAN; SETH LAPIDUS; 
JACQUELINE DERRELL; CAMBRIDGE FUNDING 
GROUP, LTD.; JAMES J. GOLDBERG, d/b/a JJG 
REAL ESTATE APPRAISAL SERVICES; BUCKLEY 
CONSULTING GROUP INC. f/k/a PREMIER 
APPRAISAL SERVICES; WILLIAM BUCKLEY; and 
ROBERT MICHELINE d/b/a P&M APPRAISALS, 

 
Defendants. 
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10 Civ. 9280 
 
 
AMENDED 
COMPLAINT 
 
 
JURY TRIAL 
REQUESTED 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------- x  
 

Plaintiff, the United States of America, by its attorney, Preet Bharara, 

United States Attorney for the Southern District of New York, alleges upon 

information and belief as follows: 
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INTRODUCTION 

1. This is a civil action by the United States against residential property 

sellers, mortgage lenders, and appraisers who participated in a series of mortgage 

fraud schemes to orchestrate at least seventeen flip sales of homes, located in 

Bronx, Westchester, and other counties in the New York area, at inflated prices and 

to buyers who could not afford such homes.  To obtain mortgage financing for those 

fraudulent flip sales, defendants created false documents and inflated appraisals 

and submitted these false records to the United States Department of Housing and 

Urban Development (“HUD”) and to subsidiaries of two financial institutions.  This 

action seeks civil penalties under the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and 

Enforcement Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1833a (“FIRREA”); treble damages and civil penalties 

under the False Claims Act (“FCA”), 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-33; and injunctive relief 

under the Fraud Injunction Statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1345. 

2. Defendants’ frauds operated by abusing the positions of trust that 

HUD direct endorser lenders, such as defendant Cambridge Home Capital, LLC 

(“Cambridge”), and HUD Roster Appraisers, such as defendant James J. Goldberg, 

occupied within HUD’s mortgage insurance program.  It was the obligation of those 

lenders and appraisers to ensure that HUD would only insure mortgage loans that 

met HUD requirements.  Specifically, direct endorsers had the responsibility to 

ascertain that a mortgage loan to be insured by HUD in fact met the requirements 

for HUD insurance.  Similarly, it was the duty of a HUD-approved Roster Appraiser 

to refrain from “hitting the numbers” pre-determined by a seller or a lender.  

However, Cambridge and the appraiser defendants abused their positions of trust  
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instead of meeting their obligations to HUD, they conspired with flip sellers to 

secure HUD-insured loans by creating and submitting fraudulent documents, 

inflated appraisals, and false certifications. 

3. Defendants’ mortgage fraud scheme typically proceeded in four steps.  

First, defendant Mitchell Cohen, the mastermind behind the schemes, bought up 

properties for resale, using three entities he controlled – defendants Buy a Home, 

LLC (“Buy-a-Home”), Gramercy Funding Ltd. (“Gramercy”), and Metropolitan 

Housing, LLC (“Metropolitan”).  But, instead of paying for renovations that would 

enhance the value of these properties, Cohen directed sales efforts at inexperienced 

home-buyers, convincing them to buy the properties from him at inflated prices – 

frequently 60% or more above what Cohen had paid just two or three months prior.   

4. Cohen relied on three means to induce the buyers to accept his inflated 

prices.  First, Cohen misled buyers into underestimating the true costs of home 

ownership.  For example, to sell a home on Newark Avenue in Staten Island, Cohen 

and Buy-a-Home told buyers that they could offset the monthly mortgage payments 

with $800 in rental income, when, in fact, that home was a single-family unit and 

did not have an apartment for rent.  See infra at ¶¶ 118-120.  Similarly, to influence 

inexperienced home-buyers to purchase a home on Nicholas Avenue in Staten 

Island, Cohen directed Buy-a-Home sales agents to understate the monthly cost of 

owning that property by $800.  See infra at ¶¶ 189–191.  Second, to induce buyers to 

purchase his properties, Cohen also paid off their personal debts or promised to 

make mortgage payments on their behalf.  For example, in connection with selling a 

home on 116th Street in Queens, Buy-a-Home provided $6,500 to Cambridge to pay 
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off the buyers’ pre-existing debts to creditors such as Cingular and Capital One.  See 

infra at ¶¶ 98–103.  Further, in connection with selling a home on Newark Avenue, 

Cohen promised the buyers that he would make their mortgage payments for the 

first five months.  See infra at ¶¶ 313–314.  Third, Cohen invariably induced buyers 

to purchase his properties at inflated prices by arranging to pay almost all of the 

down payment and closing costs.  In other words, buyers typically contributed 

nothing, or a nominal amount, to purchase properties priced at more than $300,000 

or $400,000.  See, e.g., infra at ¶¶ 230–231, 438–450. 

5. As step two in defendants’ frauds, i.e., after Cohen had duped 

inexperienced buyers into agreeing to purchase a home from him at an inflated 

price, Cambridge, a HUD-approved direct endorser, arranged financing for buyers 

to consummate the fraudulent flip sale.  As a HUD direct endorser, Cambridge was 

delegated the authority to endorse mortgage loans for HUD insurance, and it had 

the corresponding duty to verify whether loans met HUD requirements.  See infra 

at ¶¶ 39–58.  Cambridge, however, had a corrupt agreement with Cohen that it 

would abuse its direct endorser status and obtain HUD insurance for the mortgage 

loans to finance Cohen’s flip sales – irrespective of whether they met HUD 

requirements.   

6. In furtherance of defendants’ fraudulent schemes, Cambridge created 

false records to make buyers appear more credit-worthy than they were and to hide 

Cohen’s payoffs of the buyers’ personal debts from HUD and from financial 

institutions.  Specifically, to produce the appearance of greater credit-worthiness, 

Cambridge created false records to inflate buyers’ incomes or to understate their 
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debts.  For example, to facilitate the flip sale of a home on Beach 46th Street in Far 

Rockaway, Cambridge falsified the occupation of one buyer – from being a “security 

guard” to being a “head chef” at restaurants – and falsely inflated her monthly 

income by 50%.  See infra at ¶¶ 176–177.  Similarly, to create the mirage that the 

buyers of a property on York Avenue in Staten Island had discharged a significant 

portion of their personal liabilities, Cambridge conspired with Cohen to pay off such 

debts using funds from Cohen, while claiming that the funds had come from the 

buyers’ daughter.  See infra at ¶¶ 152–156.  Further, to hide the fact that Cohen 

was paying off the buyers’ personal debts, Cambridge arranged for the preparation 

of false and misleading documents.  For example, Jacqueline Derrell, the Director of 

Operations at Cambridge, falsely stated in a record that the buyers for a property 

on 116th Street in Queens had brought $6,500 in cash to the closing to pay off their 

debts, whereas, in fact, Cohen had provided Cambridge with $6,500 to pay off such 

debts.  See infra at ¶¶ 98–103.  Further, Cambridge invariably arranged for Cohen’s 

payoffs of buyers’ debts to be omitted from the loan closing documents, even though 

HUD rules required any such payment to be documented as an inducement to 

purchase.  See, e.g., infra at ¶¶ 152–156, 222-226, 269–273. 

7. Third, Defendants’ fraud also required participation by appraisers.  To 

obtain HUD insurance, Cambridge and Cohen had to procure appraisal reports that 

“hit the numbers,” i.e., fraudulently valued homes at or above the inflated prices set 

by Cohen.  Here, three appraisers – defendants Goldberg, William Buckley, and 

Robert Micheline (collectively, the “Appraiser Defendants”) – filled that role.  To 

ensure that they would continue to receive appraisal business from Cohen and 
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Cambridge, the Appraiser Defendants conspired with Cohen and Cambridge to 

issue fraudulent appraisals that “hit the numbers.”  For example, when Cambridge 

demanded that Goldberg raise the rental income estimate for a home on Newark 

Avenue to an obviously unjustifiable level, Goldberg simply ignored the obligation 

to be independent and acceded to Cambridge’s demand.  See infra at ¶¶ 336–337.  

In another instance, to “hit the number” for Cambridge pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Micheline falsely reported that a home on 116th Street in Queens 

required no major repairs, when, in fact, that property needed the replacement of a 

kitchen, repairs to the roof, and refurbishment of a bathroom.  See infra at ¶¶ 95-

97.  Finally, Buckley likewise conspired with Cohen and the lenders that worked 

with Cohen, including Cambridge, in order to “hit the number.”  Indeed, as detailed 

below, see infra at ¶¶ 88–117, 481–514, Buckley has participated extensively in 

Cohen’s schemes. In furtherance of the conspiracy, Buckley repeatedly helped 

Cohen decide how high to inflate the prices of his properties when Cohen 

subsequently marketed such properties to unsophisticated buyers.  Buckley also 

issued, or caused appraisers affiliated with him to issue, appraisals reflecting the 

inflated valuations that Cohen and Buckley had set.  In addition, Buckley 

consistently failed to disclose his relationship with Cohen in his appraisals, which 

falsely claimed to have been created independently for Cambridge or other lenders, 

whereas Buckley, in fact, had conspired with Cohen to arrive at the inflated 

valuations and, since 2010, also had acted as Cohen’s main contractor in performing 

deficient renovations on properties sold by Cohen.   
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8. Finally, Cohen and Cambridge were involved in the fourth step in 

defendants’ fraud.  Specifically, after securing the false records and inflated 

appraisals, Cambridge obtained HUD insurance for the mortgage loans for 

financing Cohen’s fraudulent flip sales by submitting those false documents to 

HUD, along with Cambridge’s false certifications regarding compliance with HUD 

requirements.  See, e.g., infra at ¶¶ 94-105, 174–185.  Further, to ensure that 

buyers who received funds from Cohen would consummate their purchases of 

Cohen’s properties, Cohen and Cambridge arranged to pay off the buyers’ personal 

debts only after the sales had closed.  They did so by having Cambridge, rather than 

the buyers, send checks to the buyers’ creditors, post-closing.  See infra at ¶¶ 98-

100, 222–224.  In addition, because it had only a limited amount of capital, 

Cambridge replenished its capital by selling the seventeen mortgage loans used to 

finance Cohen’s flip sales to subsidiaries of two financial institutions – Citibank, 

N.A. (“Citibank”) and Countrywide Bank, FSB (“Countrywide Bank”) – relying on 

the same false records and false certifications that it had submitted to HUD.   

9. Defendants’ fraud generated significant profits for them – for example, 

from the seventeen flip sales discussed below alone, Cohen and the entities 

associated with him netted more than one million dollars in profits.  Not 

surprisingly, all seventeen mortgage loans have defaulted, most in the first six 

months after they closed.  Those defaults have harmed HUD, which insured these 

mortgages.  In fact, HUD already has received mortgage insurance claims for two of 

Cohen’s properties, and can reasonably expect to receive insurance claims for the 

other fifteen.  Those existing and expected insurance claims expose HUD to more 
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than $7.5 million in potential losses.  Defendants’ fraud also harmed the 

inexperienced, first-time buyers, who either have lost their homes or currently face 

eviction or foreclosure.  Finally, the mortgage fraud scheme affected Citibank and 

Countrywide Bank, to whose subsidiaries Cambridge sold these bad loans.  Those 

financial institutions have had to spend hundreds of thousands of dollars on interim 

mortgage payments on the defaulted loans.  In light of the significant harm that 

defendants’ fraud has caused, it is appropriate to impose civil penalties on 

defendants under FIRREA, and to order them to pay treble damages and penalties 

under the FCA, for their participation in the mortgage fraud scheme. 

10. The United States also is entitled to injunctive relief because 

defendants can be expected to continue to engage in fraudulent conduct unless the 

Court stops them.  Specifically, injunctive relief as against Cohen and Buckley is 

absolutely necessary because they have continued to orchestrate the mortgage fraud 

scheme that Cohen perpetrated in connection with HUD Loans Nos. 1–17, and 

because, unless enjoined, they can be expected to continue to do so. See infra at ¶¶ 

481–514.  In addition, because Goldberg and Buckley remain FHA Roster 

Appraisers, and because Kramer, Hyman, Lapidus, and Derrell may continue to 

originate HUD-insured mortgage loans through Cambridge or other businesses, 

injunctive relief also is appropriate as to those defendants to prevent them from 

further abusing the HUD mortgage insurance program, at the expense of HUD, 

inexperienced home-buyers, and financial institutions.
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PARTIES 

11. Plaintiff the United States is a sovereign, and HUD is a department of 

the United States.  One of HUD’s statutory mandates is to create and sustain 

quality affordable homes for all Americans.  HUD implements this mandate 

through the Federal Housing Administration (“FHA”), which, among other things, 

provides mortgage insurance on loans made by HUD-approved lenders. 

12. Defendant Buy-a-Home is a New York limited liability company.  

During all relevant times, Buy-a-Home has been a real estate firm which has had 

its principal place of business at 87-02 Queens Boulevard in Queens, New York.   

13. Defendant Metropolitan is a New York limited liability company.  

During all relevant times, Metropolitan was a real estate firm which had its 

principal place of business 98-75 Queens Boulevard in Rego Park, New York. 

14. Defendant Gramercy is a New York corporation.  During all relevant 

times, Gramercy was a real estate firm which had its principal place of business 

118-12 152nd Street in Queens, New York.  Gramercy, collectively with Buy-a-

Home and Metropolitan, will be referred to as the “Cohen Entities”. 

15. Defendant Mitchell Cohen is an individual residing in Nassau County, 

New York.  During all relevant times, Cohen has been the co-owner of and a 

principal at Buy-a-Home, Metropolitan, and Gramercy. 

16. Defendant Cambridge is a New York limited liability company which 

has its principal place of business at 80 Cutter Mill Road in Great Neck, New York.  

Cambridge is a HUD-approved direct endorser.  In the two-year period from 

January 1, 2007 to January 2009, Cambridge originated more than 900 mortgage 
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loans insured by HUD, representing more than $162 million in principal loan 

amounts.  More than 50% of those loans subsequently defaulted. 

17. Defendant Seth Kramer is an individual residing in Nassau County, 

New York.  During all relevant times, Kramer was the President and a co-owner of 

Cambridge.   

18. Defendant Craig Hyman is an individual residing in Nassau County, 

New York.  During all relevant times, Hyman was a Vice President and a co-owner 

of Cambridge. 

19. Defendant Seth Lapidus is an individual residing in Nassau County, 

New York.  Until about September 2009, Lapidus was the Senior Loan Officer at 

Cambridge. 

20. Defendant Jacqueline Derrell is an individual residing in Kings 

County, New York.  Until about January 2009, Derrell was the Director of 

Operations at Cambridge.  Derrell, collectively with Cambridge, Kramer, Hyman, 

and Lapidus, will be referred to as the “Cambridge Defendants”. 

21. Defendant Cambridge Funding Group Ltd. (“CFG”) is a New York 

corporation and is co-owned by Kramer and Hyman.  During all relevant times, 

CFG has been in the business of making construction loans and has its principal 

place of business at 80 Cutter Mill Road in Great Neck, New York. 

22. Defendant Goldberg is an individual residing in Nassau County, New 

York.  During all relevant times, Goldberg did business as JJG Real Estate 

Appraisal Services (“JJG”), which has its principal place of business at Suite 102, 

500 Old Country Road in Garden City, New York.  In 2007 and 2008, Cambridge 
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was one of JJG’s largest customers and paid JJG to conduct several hundred real 

estate appraisals.  Specifically, Goldberg and another JJG appraiser, Mark Pitman, 

performed appraisals for a number of homes involved in Cohen’s flip sales.  For each 

of the appraisals performed by Pitman, Goldberg personally reviewed, edited, 

approved, and sent the appraisal report to Cambridge.   

23. Defendant Buckley Consulting Group Inc. (“Buckley Consulting”) is a 

New York corporation in the real estate appraisal business which, during the 

relevant time period, did business as Premier Appraisal Services, Inc. (“Premier”), 

and had its principal place of business at 181 West Main Street, Suite 202, in 

Babylon, New York.  In May 2011, Premier was renamed Buckley Consulting and 

currently maintains a principal place of business at 1111 Deer Park Avenue in 

North Babylon, New York.   

24. Defendant William Buckley is an individual residing in Nassau 

County, New York.  During all relevant times, Buckley has been a principal at 

Buckley Consulting Group (formerly Premier) and has performed appraisals for 

homes involved in Cohen’s flip sales.  Buckley is also the owner of IDU Renovations, 

Inc., a construction business that has performed renovations for homes involved in 

Cohen’s flip sales.  Buckley is also a principal of 10253 Realty, LLC, and One World 

Properties LLC, which transact business in the area of residential real estate.   

25. Defendant Robert Micheline is an individual appraiser residing in 

Nassau County, New York.  During all relevant times, Micheline did business as 

P&M Appraisals and performed appraisals for homes involved in Cohen’s flip sales. 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

26. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345. 

27. Venue is proper in the Southern District of New York under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1391(b)(2) because a substantial part of the events and omissions alleged in this 

Complaint occurred in connection with flip sales of homes located in Bronx and 

Westchester Counties, within this District.  Venue also is proper as to the named 

corporate defendants pursuant to 28 U.S.C.  § 1391(c) because each of those entities 

conducted business within this District. 

CIVIL STATUTES FOR COMBATTING MORTGAGE FRAUD 

28. In 1989, Congress enacted FIRREA as part of a comprehensive 

legislative plan to reform and strengthen the federal deposit insurance system. 

Pursuant to FIRREA, the United States can recover civil penalties, up to $1 million 

for each violation or up to $5 million for a continuing violation, from persons who 

“violate any provision of law to which this section is made applicable.”  12 U.S.C. § 

1833a(a)-(b).  Further, if a defendant “derives pecuniary gain from the violation, or 

if the violation results in pecuniary loss to a person other than the [defendant],” 

FIRREA authorizes the United States to recover civil penalties greater than $1 

million per violation, or $5 million per a continuing violation.  Id. § 1833a(b)(3)(A). 

29. As relevant to this action, FIRREA authorizes the United States to 

recover civil penalties for violations of, or conspiracies to violate, four provisions of 

Title 18 of the United States Code: 
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18 U.S.C. § 1006: which proscribes any entity or individual 

“connected in any capacity with . . . [HUD]”  from “make[ing] 

any false entry in any book, report or statement of or to [HUD]” 

with the “intent to . . . deceive any officer, auditor, examiner or 

agent . . . of [a] department or agency of the United States”;   

18 U.S.C. § 1014: which proscribes “knowingly mak[ing] any 

false statement or report, or willingly overvalu[ing] any land, 

property or security, for the purpose of influencing in any way 

the action of the [FHA] . . .;” 

18 U.S.C. § 1341 (Mail Fraud Affecting a Financial Institution):  

which proscribes the use of “the Postal Service, or ... private or 

commercial interstate carrier” for the purpose of executing, or 

attempting to execute, “[a] scheme or artifice to defraud, or for 

obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent 

pretenses, representations, or promises . . .”;  

 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (Wire Fraud Affecting a Financial Institution):  

which proscribes the use of “wire . . . in interstate or foreign 

commerce” for the purpose of executing, or attempting to 

execute, “[a] scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining 

money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, 

representations, or promises . . . .”  

30. The False Claims Act authorizes the United States to seek treble 

damages and statutory civil penalties against, among others, any person (i) who 

“knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, a false or fraudulent claim for 

payment or approval;” (ii) who “knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or 

used, a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim;” or (iii) 

conspires to commit such a violation of the FCA.  31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A)–(C). 
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31. Finally, the Fraud Injunction Statute authorizes the United States to 

commence a civil action to enjoin any “person” who is “violating or about to violate” 

(among other criminal statutes) 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006, 1014, 1341, and 1343, from 

committing further violations of those statutes.  18 U.S.C. § 1345(a)(I)(B). 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. HUD’S MORTGAGE INSURANCE PROGRAM  

32. Under the National Housing Act of 1934, 12 U.S.C. § 1709 et seq., 

HUD, through FHA, provides mortgage insurance to first-time and low-income 

home-buyers seeking residential mortgages, as well as older home-owners seeking 

reverse mortgages.   

33. To qualify for HUD mortgage insurance, a mortgage loan must meet 

all the applicable HUD requirements.  Those requirements relate to, among other 

things, adequacy of the buyer’s income to meet the mortgage payments and other 

obligations, the buyer’s credit-worthiness, appropriateness of the valuation for the 

property subject to the mortgage, and the absence of any kickbacks or fraudulent 

payments made or promised in connection with the transaction.   

34. In the mortgage industry, the imprimatur of HUD mortgage insurance 

makes covered mortgage loans highly marketable for resale to investors — both 

because such loans are expected to have met HUD requirements and because they 

are insured by the full faith and credit of the United States. 

B. THE SELLER’S AND THE BUYER’S OBLIGATIONS IN CONNECTION 
WITH OBTAINING HUD-INSURED MORTGAGE LOANS 

35. For a sale that involves a HUD-insured mortgage loan to close, the 

seller must execute a Settlement Statement, a standard HUD form that is 
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commonly known as the HUD-1.  In connection with executing that form, the seller 

is required to certify that the HUD-1 Settlement Statement accurately reflects “all 

receipts and disbursements” made by the seller.   

36. Specifically, the seller must ensure that the HUD-1 Settlement 

Statement reflects all the payments that it made to, or on behalf of, the buyer to 

consummate the sale, including any payment made by the seller that was not for 

purposes of contributing to the buyer’s actual closing costs, prepaid expenses, 

discount points, or another financing concession.  Under HUD rules, any such 

payment by the seller is deemed an inducement to purchase, and it must be 

reflected in the Settlement Statement as a reduction to the purchase price for the 

purpose of HUD insurance. 

37. To properly close the sale transaction and obtain HUD mortgage 

insurance, the buyer must sign the Settlement Statement and certify that the 

Settlement Statement accurately reflects “all receipts and disbursements” made by 

the buyer.  The buyer also must complete a Uniform Residential Loan Application 

(the “URLA” or the “Loan Application”) and certify to HUD that the URLA contains 

full and accurate information regarding his or her income, assets, and liabilities.   

38. In addition, to qualify for HUD mortgage insurance in connection with 

purchasing a residential property, the buyer must certify that he or she intends to 

use the property to be purchased as his or her primary residence and must assist 

the mortgage lender in verifying the information provided by the buyer pertaining 

to his or her income, assets and liabilities, and credit history.   
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C. CAMBRIDGE’S DUTIES AS A HUD DIRECT ENDORSER 

39. HUD insures mortgage loans only when they are originated and 

underwritten by HUD-approved lenders.  The HUD-approved lenders participate in 

HUD’s Direct Endorser Program, which delegates to the participating direct 

endorsers the responsibility for ensuring that mortgage loan applications meet the 

requirements for HUD mortgage insurance.  See 24 C.F.R. § 203.5(a).   

40. During all relevant times, Cambridge was a HUD-approved direct 

endorser and originated hundreds of mortgage loans that were insured by HUD 

based on Cambridge’s certifications that those loans met HUD requirements and 

qualified for HUD insurance.  Indeed, a substantial majority of the mortgage loans 

originated by Cambridge from 2005 to 2008 were subject to HUD mortgage 

insurance. 

41. During all relevant times, Kramer, Hyman, and Derrell each possessed 

a personal identification code in the Computerized Homes Underwriting 

Management System (“CHUMS”), also known as a CHUMS ID number, which 

allowed them to underwrite loans and make certifications to HUD regarding the 

eligibility of mortgage loans for HUD insurance.  Kramer, Hyman, and Derrell had 

applied for and obtained their CHUMS ID numbers from HUD. 

42. As a HUD direct endorser, Cambridge was required, under HUD 

regulations, to exercise due diligence in underwriting mortgage loans that it 

approved for HUD mortgage insurance.  See 24 C.F.R. § 203.5(c).  Specifically, 

Cambridge was required, among other things, (i) to exercise due care to “obtain[] 

and verify[] information for a loan;” (ii) to exercise due care in ascertaining that the 

Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS   Document 96    Filed 02/15/12   Page 16 of 210



17 
 

loan application was suitable for mortgage insurance under relevant HUD 

requirements and, generally, under the standards for prudent underwriting; and 

(iii) to make certifications to HUD as to the accuracy and completeness of the 

information submitted to HUD and that the mortgage loan met HUD requirements 

and the standards for prudent underwriting.  Id. 

i. Cambridge’s Duties to Verify the Information in the Documents 
Submitted to HUD 

43. As a direct endorser, Cambridge’s endorsement of a mortgage loan for 

HUD insurance was required to be based on the submission of the following 

documentations to HUD: 

a. URLA and Addendum, which must be signed and dated by all 

buyers and by Cambridge; 

b. Mortgage Credit Analysis Worksheet (“MCAW”), in which 

Cambridge was required to truthfully and accurately enumerate 

the buyer’s available assets and income, as well as the expected 

costs of both the mortgage and other fixed payments owed by the 

buyer; 

c. Credit reports for all buyers; 

d. Verifications of Employment for all buyers; 

e. Verification of available funds from the buyer’s bank, and the 

buyer’s most recent bank statements;  

f. Verifications of Rent or Payment History of Present and Previous 

Mortgages for all buyers; and  

g. HUD-1 Settlement Statement, which must reflect “all receipts and 

disbursements” by and to the seller and the buyer, as well as any 

payment by the seller that is an inducement to purchase. 
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44. Under HUD rules and regulations, Cambridge had a duty to verify the 

accuracy and completeness of all the information in the documents that it submitted 

to HUD, as identified in Paragraph 43.   

45. Specifically, Cambridge had the duty to verify that the HUD-1 

Settlement Statement fully reflected all the payments and disbursement between 

the buyer and the seller, or persons affiliated with the seller, including any 

payment made by the seller that constituted an inducement to purchase.   

46. Likewise, Cambridge had the duty to verify that a buyer seeking a 

HUD-insured mortgage in a purchase transaction qualified as a first-time home-

buyer under HUD rules and regulations.  

47. Moreover, Cambridge had the duty to verify each component of the 

buyer’s total income reported in the Loan Application.  Specifically, Cambridge had 

a duty to reconcile and document any discrepancy between the amount of any 

income component as stated in the Loan Application and the amount of such income 

component as reported by other sources.   

ii. Cambridge’s Duties as the Underwriter 

48. As a direct endorser, Cambridge had a duty to assess the adequacy of a 

buyer’s income and available assets for meeting his or her mortgage payments and 

other fixed payment obligations.  Specifically, Cambridge was required to solicit 

information that would provide a complete picture of the buyer’s overall financial 

situation.  

49. Among other things, Cambridge had the duty to calculate a buyer’s 

verifiable income and determine the likelihood that such income would continue 
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through at least the first three years of the mortgage.  In particular, Cambridge was 

required to ascertain the following from a buyer: 

a. salaries, wages, and other regular payments such as social security 

or retirement benefits; 

b. any alimony, child support or maintenance income; and  

c. any net rental income from property owned by the buyer. 

50. As a direct endorser, Cambridge also had the duty to compute, and to 

document on the MCAW forms, two qualifying ratios to determine whether the 

buyer could reasonably be expected to meet the expenses involved in home 

ownership, and otherwise provide for the buyer’s family.  First, Cambridge had to 

compute the Mortgage Payment to Effective Income Total ratio (the “MP/I Ratio”), 

which reflects the buyer’s mortgage payment (including payments into an escrow 

account for taxes, insurance and any other assessments) as a percentage of his or 

her effective, i.e., gross, income.  Second, Cambridge had to compute the Total Fixed 

Payment to Effective Income ratio (the “FP/I Ratio”, and, collectively with the MP/I 

Ratio, the “Qualifying Ratios”), which reflects the buyer’s mortgage payments plus 

all other recurring obligations, as a percentage of his or her effective income. 

51. Under HUD rules and regulations, Cambridge was forbidden from 

approving for HUD mortgage insurance any mortgage loan for which the MP/I Ratio 

exceeded 31% or the FP/I Ratio exceeded 43%, unless Cambridge otherwise 

determined that one or more significant “compensating factors” were present to 

justify making the loan under prudent underwriting principles.  To approve any 

mortgage loan with a qualifying ratio that exceeded these HUD thresholds, 
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Cambridge was required to document on the MCAW form the existence of all 

compensating factors, which included whether a buyer had:  

a. demonstrated the ability to pay housing expenses equal to or greater 

than the proposed monthly housing expense for the new mortgage over 

the past twelve to twenty-four months; 

b. demonstrated an ability to accumulate savings and a conservative 

attitude toward the use of credit;  

c. only a minimal increase in the housing expense; or 

d. at least three months’ documented cash reserves after closing. 

52. As a direct endorser, it was Cambridge’s duty to judge the overall 

merit of loan applications by determining – beyond mechanically applying the HUD 

requirements – whether the loan transactions complied with standards of prudent 

underwriting.  Specifically, Cambridge was required to ascertain whether the 

mortgage amount was inflated because the buyer had been given any pecuniary 

inducements to purchase the property subject to the mortgage.   

iii. Cambridge’s Duties under Its Quality Control Plans 

53. As a condition for obtaining and maintaining its direct endorser status, 

Cambridge was required by HUD regulations to promulgate an adequate quality 

control plan and to comply fully with its quality control plan in deciding whether to 

endorse mortgage loans for HUD insurance.   

54. In 2004, in connection with the resolution of an audit of Cambridge by 

HUD, Cambridge also certified to HUD that it would comply fully with its quality 

control plan in determining whether to endorse mortgage loans for HUD insurance.   
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55. During all relevant times, under its quality control plans, Cambridge 

had the duty to, among other things, perform the following: 

a. Resolve and document all conflicting information or discrepancies 

in the application files; 

b. Determine whether the sale transaction was a flip sale by 

reviewing whether a seller had acquired the mortgage property at 

the time of or soon before closing; and 

c. Obtain appropriate tax returns for all self-employed buyers; 

d. Determine whether the appraised value was established 

appropriately, using reasonable comparables and reasonable 

adjustments; 

e. Determine whether the loan file contains pertinent documentation 

of the buyer’s source of funds for the required initial investment;  

f. Determine whether there are sufficient and documented 

compensating factors if the qualifying ratios exceeded HUD limits; 

and 

g. Determine whether the HUD-1 settlement statement was 

accurately prepared and properly certified. 

iv. Cambridge’s Certifications to HUD 

56. Under HUD rules and regulations, for each mortgage loan that it 

originated that was insured by HUD, Cambridge was required to make a series of 

certifications to HUD in the HUD Addendum to Uniform Residential Loan 

Application and the Direct Endorsement Approval for a HUD/FHA Insured 

Mortgage, commonly known as the HUD 1003 Addendum, including certifications 

that: 
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a. The loan terms furnished in the URLA and the HUD 1003 

Addendum were true, accurate and complete; 

b. Each closing condition that Cambridge had enumerated in the 

commitment letter that Cambridge issued to the buyer had been met; 

c. The information contained in the URLA and the HUD 1003 

Addendum had been obtained directly from the buyer by a 

Cambridge employee or its duly authorized agent and was true to the 

best of Cambridge’s knowledge and belief; 

d. The verification of employment was requested and received by the 

lender without passing through the hands of any third persons and 

was true to the best of Cambridge’s knowledge and belief; 

e. The verification of deposit was requested and received by the lender 

without passing through the hands of any third persons and was true 

to the best of Cambridge’s knowledge and belief; 

f. The proposed loan to the buyer met the income and credit 

requirements of the governing law in Cambridge’s judgment; 

g. Cambridge employees had personally reviewed any appraisal report, 

credit application, and all associated documents; 

h. Cambridge had used due diligence in underwriting the mortgage; 

i. Statements made by Cambridge in the application for HUD 

insurance were true and correct; 

j. Statements made by Cambridge in the Lender's Certificate were true 

and correct; 

k. Complete disbursement of the loan would be made to the buyer, or to 

his or her creditors for his or her account and with his or her consent; 

l. Cambridge had not paid any kickback, fee or consideration of any 

type, directly or indirectly, to any party in connection with the 
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transaction except as permitted under HUD regulations and 

administrative instructions; 

m. An officer at Cambridge had personally reviewed the mortgage loan 

documents, closing statements, application for insurance 

endorsement, and all accompanying documents; 

n. An officer at Cambridge had made all certifications required for the 

mortgage by HUD Handbook 4000.4; and 

o. Cambridge made all certifications otherwise required by HUD, 

including: 

i. The buyer’s monthly mortgage payments will not be in excess of 

his or her reasonable ability to pay, see 24 C.F.R. § 203.21; 

ii. The buyer’s income is and will be adequate to meet the periodic 

payments required to amortize the mortgage submitted for 

insurance, see 24 C.F.R. § 203.33; and  

iii. The buyer’s general credit standing is satisfactory.  See 24 

C.F.R. § 203.34. 

57. In addition, Cambridge, as a direct endorser, had an independent duty 

to ensure the quality and accuracy of appraisals.  See 24 C.F.R. § 203.5(e)(3).  

Specifically, Cambridge was required to certify to HUD, in the Underwriter's 

Analysis of Appraisal Reports, that a mortgage property was appraised using 

acceptable comparable properties to determine their values and that the appraisals 

and related documentation satisfied HUD’s appraisal requirements. 

58. Finally, and as a condition for maintaining its participation in HUD’s 

Direct Endorser Program, Cambridge was required to submit to HUD, on an annual 

basis, a certification by its President or Vice President that Cambridge had 

conformed to all HUD regulations necessary to maintain its HUD approval as a 
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direct endorser, that Cambridge was responsible for all actions of its employees, and 

that Cambridge had complied fully with the requirements of its quality control 

plans.  During the relevant times, Kramer and Hyman made the annual 

certifications to HUD on behalf of Cambridge.   

D. APPRAISERS’ DUTIES IN APPRAISING PROPERTIES THAT WOULD 
BE SOLD SUBJECT TO HUD MORTGAGE INSURANCE 

59. As a prerequisite to the approval of any mortgage loan insured by 

HUD under the Direct Endorsement Program, a direct endorser, such as 

Cambridge, is required to have the subject property appraised by an appraiser 

listed on HUD’s FHA Appraiser Roster (an “FHA Roster Appraiser”).  See 24 C.F.R. 

§§ 200.200(a); 203.5(e)(1).   

60. During all relevant times, JJG offered appraisal services by FHA 

Roster Appraisers, including Goldberg and another JJG appraiser, in connection 

with HUD-insured mortgage transactions.  Specifically, JJG issued at least seven 

appraisal reports in connection with Cohen’s flip sales. 

61. During all relevant times, Buckley was an FHA Roster Appraiser. 

Through Premier, Buckley offered appraisal services in connection with HUD-

insured mortgage transactions.  Specifically, as an FHA Roster Appraiser, Buckley 

issued at least five appraisal reports in connection with the 17 flip sales described 

herein, and has issued or otherwise obtained dozens of additional appraisal reports 

in connection with other flip sales orchestrated by Cohen between 2007 and today. 

62. During all relevant times, Micheline was an FHA Roster Appraiser. 

Micheline offered appraisal services in connection with HUD-insured mortgage 
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transactions.  Specifically, as an FHA Roster Appraiser, Micheline issued at least 

four appraisal reports in connection with Cohen’s flip sales. 

63. FHA Roster Appraisers are obligated to comply with all requirements 

set forth in the HUD Appraiser Handbook and all other instructions and standards 

issued by HUD in conducting appraisals.  See 24 C.F.R. §§ 200.206(b), (c). 

64. FHA Roster Appraisers must ensure that their appraisals and related 

documentation satisfy HUD requirements for FHA appraisals, and they bear 

responsibility for the quality of their appraisals in meeting HUD requirements.  See 

24 C.F.R. § 203.5(c)(3).   

65. Among other requirements imposed by HUD, an FHA Roster 

Appraiser must: 

a. Perform all appraisal services commensurate with the standards and 

requirements of HUD, and with HUD as the intended user of the 

appraisal report along with the mortgagee; 

b. Adhere to all standards set forth in the Uniform Standards of 

Professional Appraisal Practice (“USPAP”), including performing 

complete appraisals as defined by USPAP; 

c. Perform appraisals with impartiality, objectivity, and independence, 

and without accommodation of personal interests; 

d. Avoid practices that do not comply with HUD or USPAP standards, 

such as estimating a specified value of a mortgage property that was 

pre-determined by the mortgagee – a practice commonly referred to as 

“hitting a number”; 

e. Verify all market and comparable information used in the appraisal 

process to ensure that the information is accurate and meaningful and 
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provides the appraiser with a firm understanding of market 

motivations and trends; 

f. Adhere to HUD requirements regarding selection and use of 

comparable sale and rental properties; 

g. Analyze all sales of the mortgage property that occurred within the 

three years prior to the effective date of the appraisal; 

h. Include in the appraisal report all internal and external factors, known 

as “obsolescences,” that are likely to detract from the value of the 

mortgage property; 

i. Specify an “effective date of value,” which is the date when the 

appraiser physically inspects the mortgage property; or, if another date 

is specifically defined by the mortgagee, indicate the alternative date 

and the date on which the property was physically inspected; 

j. Clearly and accurately set forth the appraisal in a manner that will 

not be misleading, including sufficient information to enable the 

intended users of the appraisal to understand the report properly; and 

k. Sign the appraisal report, which makes the appraiser fully and wholly 

accountable for the information presented and for the appraisal’s 

findings. 

66. In adherence to HUD requirements and the USPAP Ethics Rule, FHA 

Roster Appraisers must not use or communicate a misleading or fraudulent 

appraisal report or knowingly permit an employee or other person to communicate a 

misleading or fraudulent appraisal report. 

E. CAMBRIDGE’S RESALE OF MORTGAGE LOANS TO CITI-MORTGAGE, 
INC. AND COUNTRYWIDE HOME MORTGAGES, INC. 

67. During all relevant times, Citi Mortgage, Inc. (“Citi”) was a wholly-

owned subsidiary of Citibank, a financial institution insured by the Federal Deposit  

Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS   Document 96    Filed 02/15/12   Page 26 of 210



27 
 

Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”).   

68. From at least May 2002 to September 2008, Citi purchased from 

Cambridge hundreds of mortgage loans, including loans that Cambridge had 

originated to finance Cohen’s flip sales.     

69. During all relevant times, Citi purchased mortgage loans from 

Cambridge pursuant to a Loan Purchase Agreement that it had with Cambridge 

(the “Citi Loan Purchase Agreement”).  Pursuant to that agreement, Citi relied on 

Cambridge’s underwriting determinations in deciding whether to purchase a 

mortgage loan from Cambridge.  Specifically, Citi relied on Cambridge’s 

determinations as to, among other things, whether a loan met HUD requirements 

for mortgage insurance, whether the transaction involved any kickback or any 

inducement to purchase, and whether the buyers had sufficient income and 

creditworthiness.   

70. Citi also relied on documents submitted by Cambridge, such as the 

Loan Application, the MCAW form, and the HUD-1 Settlement Statement.  

Cambridge transmitted those and other documents to Citi by interstate mail and by 

wire.  Under the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement, Cambridge warranted that none of 

the statements in the documents provided to Citi contained any misrepresentation, 

false statement, or misleading omission.   

71. Under the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement, Cambridge was permitted 

to sell to Citi only loans for which the buyers had made the first monthly mortgage 

payment.  Further, Citi had the right to demand that Cambridge repurchase any 

mortgage loan that defaulted within the first six months of its term. 
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72. After Citi purchased HUD-insured mortgage loans from Cambridge, 

Citi typically sold such loans to trusts, which then issued mortgage-backed 

securities (“MBS”) to investors, backed by guarantees from Ginnie Mae.   

73. Pursuant to the terms of its resale of mortgage loans to the MBS-

issuing trusts, Citi retained the obligation to make mortgage payments for any 

loans that defaulted.  Thus, for each loan Citi purchased from Cambridge that 

defaulted, Citi suffered interim losses for a period of months – between the time of 

default and the time when, after a foreclosure sale, Citi would receive insurance 

proceeds from HUD. 

74. From in or about 2001 to in or about July 2008, Countrywide Home 

Loans, Inc. (“Countrywide”) was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Countrywide Bank, a 

financial institution insured by the FDIC.   

75. From in or about at least April 2001 to 2008, Countrywide purchased 

from Cambridge hundreds of mortgage loans, including a number of loans that 

Cambridge had originated to finance Cohen’s flip sales. 

76. During all relevant times, Countrywide purchased mortgage loans 

from Cambridge pursuant to a Loan Purchase Agreement that it had with 

Cambridge (the “Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement”).  Pursuant to that 

agreement, Countrywide relied on Cambridge’s underwriting determinations in 

deciding whether to purchase a mortgage loan from Cambridge.  Specifically, 

Countrywide relied on Cambridge’s determinations as to, among other things, 

whether a loan met HUD requirements for mortgage insurance, whether the 
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transaction involved any kickback or any inducement to purchase, and whether the 

buyers had sufficient income and creditworthiness. 

77. Countrywide also relied on documents submitted by Cambridge, such 

as the Loan Application, the MCAW form, and the HUD-1 Settlement Statement.  

Cambridge transmitted those and other documents to Countrywide by interstate 

mail and by wire.  Under the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement, Cambridge 

warranted that all representations made in the documents that it submitted to 

Countrywide were true and correct.   

78. Under the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement, Countrywide had 

the right to demand that Cambridge repurchase any mortgage loan for which the 

buyer failed to make the first monthly mortgage payment or for which the buyer 

was 90 days delinquent on any monthly mortgage payment within the first twelve 

months of the term of the loan.   

79. After Countrywide purchased HUD-insured mortgage loans from 

Cambridge, Countrywide typically sold such loans to trusts, which then issued MBS 

to investors, backed by guarantees from Ginnie Mae.   

80. Pursuant to the terms of its resale of mortgage loans to the MBS-

issuing trusts, Countrywide retained the obligation to make mortgage payments for 

any loans that defaulted.  Thus, for each loan Countrywide purchased from 

Cambridge that defaulted, Countrywide suffered interim losses for a period of 

months – between the time of default and the time when, after a foreclosure sale, 

Countrywide would receive insurance proceeds from HUD. 
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DEFENDANTS’ SCHEMES TO DEFRAUD HUD AND TO COMMIT FRAUD 
AFFECTING FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 

81. Defendants profited from their mortgage fraud schemes by abusing the 

positions of trust that the Cambridge Defendants and the Appraiser Defendants 

occupied within HUD’s mortgage insurance program.  Specifically, HUD delegated 

to Cambridge, in its role as a direct endorser, the responsibility to ascertain the 

appropriateness of extending HUD insurance for any mortgage loan, including the 

loans used to finance Cohen’s flip sale transactions.  Similarly, the Appraiser 

Defendants, as FHA Roster Appraisers, warranted to HUD that they would 

perform appraisals objectively and refrain from “hitting the numbers” pre-

determined by either Cambridge or Cohen.  In reality, however, both the 

Cambridge Defendants and the Appraiser Defendants willfully disregarded their 

obligations to HUD, choosing instead to conspire with Cohen and the Cohen 

Entities to create and submit false documents, false certifications, and inflated 

appraisals tailored to justify Cohen’s flip sales. 

82. Defendants similarly exploited Cambridge’s relationship with Citi and 

Countrywide in connection with their fraudulent schemes.  Specifically, despite 

warranting to Citi and Countrywide that it was providing true and correct 

information and documents in connection with the sale of each mortgage loan, 

Cambridge knowingly and willfully submitted to Citi and Countrywide false 

records, false certifications, and inflated appraisals, to induce them to purchase the 

mortgage loans that it had originated to finance Cohen’s flip sales.   
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83. In furtherance of defendants’ mortgage fraud schemes, Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities (i) misrepresented to buyers the true costs of home-ownership; (ii) 

gave buyers money to induce them to purchase; (iii) conspired with Cambridge to 

create fraudulent records to inflate buyers’ incomes or to understate their 

liabilities; and (iv) induced buyers to purchase by structuring the sales such that 

nearly all of the down payments and closing costs would be paid from the mortgage 

loans, rather than by the buyers.  Cohen and Cohen Entities engaged in such 

conduct for purposes of inducing inexperienced buyers to purchase homes at 

inflated prices, fraudulently obtaining HUD insurance for the mortgage loans used 

to finance such the flip sales, and fraudulently inducing Citi or Countrywide to 

purchase such mortgage loans from Cambridge.   

84. In furtherance of defendants’ mortgage fraud schemes, the Cambridge 

Defendants (i) conspired with Cohen and the Cohen Entities to create false records 

to inflate buyers’ incomes or to understate their liabilities; (ii) created false records, 

such as HUD-1 Settlement Statements and gift affidavits, to hide the fact that 

Cohen provided the funds for buyers to pay off their personal debts; (iii) made false 

certifications to HUD about whether the mortgage loans used to finance Cohen’s 

fraudulent flip sales met requirements for HUD insurance and whether Cambridge 

met its duties as a direct endorser; (iv) sent payments to creditors of buyers to pay 

off the buyers’ personal debts; and (iv) made false representations to, or withheld 

material information from, Citi and Countrywide.  Cambridge engaged in such 

conduct for purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD insurance for the mortgage 
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loans that it originated to finance Cohen’s flip sales and fraudulently inducing Citi 

and Countrywide to purchase such loans. 

85. In furtherance of defendants’ mortgage fraud schemes, the Appraiser 

Defendants prepared false and fraudulent appraisal reports, which contained  

(i) inflated valuations for homes sold by Cohen, (ii) inflated estimates for rental 

incomes for such properties, and (iii) false certifications regarding compliance with 

HUD appraisal standards.   The Appraiser Defendants created the false and 

fraudulent reports for purposes of enabling Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the 

Cambridge Defendants to obtain HUD insurance for mortgage loans used to 

finance Cohen’s flip sales and to induce Citi or Countrywide to purchase such 

loans. 

86.  From orchestrating the seventeen fraudulent flip sales, Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities received direct payments, as well as payments made indirectly to 

individuals and entities affiliated with them.  Specifically, Cohen arranged for 

numerous payments to be made through Mark Wolf, his partner at Gramercy and 

Buy-a-Home; Wolf & Wolf, a firm controlled by Mark Wolf; and Erin Davis, a 

manager at Buy-a-Home.  In total, the direct and indirect payments to Cohen and 

the Cohen Entities amount to more than $1.3 million.   

87. For their participation in the seventeen fraudulent flip sales, the 

Cambridge Defendants collectively and individually derived at least $400,000 in 

fees, resale proceeds, profits, kickbacks, and interest.  First, Cambridge, and 

Kramer and Hyman as its principals, received more than $140,000 in loan 

origination fees from those flip sales.  Second, Cambridge also earned more than 
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$180,000 from reselling such loans to Citi and Countrywide.  Third, Cambridge 

received more than $120,000 in proceeds from a flip sale – which Cohen 

orchestrated – of a property that Cambridge owned on Beach 46th Street.  Fourth, 

Cambridge and its principals received tens of thousands of dollars in kickbacks 

from Cohen.  Fifth, Kramer and Hyman also benefitted from Cohen’s fraudulent 

flip sales because CFG, which Kramer and Hyman owned, received more than 

$130,000 from those sales, in repayment of high-interest loans that CFG had made 

to Gramercy. 

88. Lastly, the Appraiser Defendants also profited from their participation 

in the mortgage fraud schemes by ensuring that they would get additional 

appraisal business from Cambridge or Cohen.  Specifically, by agreeing to “hit the 

numbers” for Cambridge on eight flip sales by Cohen, Goldberg positioned JJG to 

receive more than 275 appraisal assignments from Cambridge in 2007 and 2008, 

which translated to approximately $150,000 in appraisal fees.  Similarly, by 

helping Cohen decide how much to inflate sales prices and by issuing or obtaining 

inflated appraisals that “hit the numbers” for Cohen’s flip sales, Buckley ensured 

that he would make hundreds of thousands of dollars from his participation in 

Cohen’s schemes.  See infra at ¶¶ 481–514.  Among other things, Buckley profited 

from dozens of referrals to Premier for appraisals in connection with Cohen’s flip 

sales; numerous assignments for IDU Renovations, Buckley’s construction 

business, to perform superficial renovations on properties that Cohen flipped; and 

Cohen’s assistance in arranging flip sales of residential properties that Buckley 

owned through 10253 Realty or One World Properties.   
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89. Described below are seventeen fraudulent sales orchestrated by the 

defendants as part of their scheme to fraudulently obtain HUD mortgage insurance 

and to commit fraud by mail and wire, affecting financial institutions.  In addition 

to those specific transactions, defendants, separately or in combination, likely 

orchestrated, or participated in, numerous other frauds on HUD and affecting 

financial institutions.   

A. HUD LOAN NO. 1:  116TH STREET, RICHMOND HILL 

90. From in or about February 2007 to in or about July 2007, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Premier, Buckley, and Micheline 

conspired to orchestrate the flip sale of a property located on 116th Street in the 

Richmond Hill neighborhood in Queens, New York (the “116th Street Property”) at 

an inflated price to buyers who lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the 

property.   

91. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Premier, 

Buckley, and Micheline obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount 

of $360,355 used to finance the fraudulent flip sale of the 116th Street Property 

(“HUD Loan No. 1”), and sold HUD Loan No. 1 to Citi, by misrepresenting the true 

cost of home ownership, paying off the buyers’ personal debts to induce them to 

purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for the 116th Street Property, creating 

false records to omit inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with 

HUD requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to 

Citi. 
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92. In or about February 2007, Cohen bought the 116th Street Property for 

$275,000.  At the time of that purchase, Cohen knew that the 116th Street Property 

required repairs to the roof, as well as the renovation of a kitchen and a bathroom.  

But, instead of repairing these conditions, Cohen and Buckley worked in concert to 

inflate the price for the 116th Street Property.  Specifically, in February and March 

2007, Buckley and Premier appraiser Peter Sarafian prepared two inflated 

appraisals, purporting to show that, with only minimal improvements (without 

repairing the roof, kitchen, or bathroom), the 116th Street Property was worth 

$420,000, i.e., 53% more than what Cohen had just paid to purchase the home. 

93. In or about May and June 2007, i.e., less than four months later, 

Cohen induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 1-A and 1-B, to 

purchase the 116th Street Property, for $371,500.  In connection with that sale, 

Cohen had Buckley issue, on June 14, 2007, an inflated appraisal intended for 

Cambridge, again valuing the property at $420,000.  In his June 2007 appraisal, 

Buckley falsely stated that there were “no repairs needed or physical inadequacies” 

at the 116th Street Property, whereas, in fact, Cohen had never repaired the roof or 

renovated the kitchen or bathroom.  Buckley also falsely certified that his appraisal 

had been conducted in accordance with HUD appraisal standards, when he actually 

had failed to comply with numerous HUD standards, including, among others, to 

select suitably comparable sales comparisons and to justify the substantial 

appreciation from February to June (approximately 53%) in the absence of major 

repairs. 
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94. Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, referred Buyers 1-A and 1-B to Lapidus 

at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, 

based on a corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge 

Defendants that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance 

irrespective of whether Buyers 1-A and 1-B qualified for such insurance or whether 

the 116th Street Property was worth $371,500. 

95. On or about June 8, 2007, Micheline issued an appraisal report for the 

116th Street Property, valuing the property at $372,000.  The appraisal report 

issued by Micheline, like Buckley’s, contained an inflated valuation for the property 

and numerous other falsities.   

96. Specifically, Micheline significantly inflated the valuation of the 116th 

Street Property by stating that the property had three bedrooms, when it actually 

had only two bedrooms.  Micheline also inflated the valuation of the 116th Street 

Property by claiming in his report that “no major repairs [were] required.”  In fact, 

that property required numerous major repairs — according to a “post-closing 

agreement” between Cohen and the buyers, dated June 14, 2007, the repairs needed 

at the 116th Street Property included, among other things, “[to] replace kitchen,” [to] 

repair leader from roof”, and “to refurbish bathroom.”  A copy of that Post-Closing 

Agreement is attached to this Complaint as Exhibit 1.     

97. Further, Micheline falsely certified that his appraisal of the 116th 

Street Property had been conducted in accordance with HUD appraisal standards.  

In fact, Micheline’s appraisal failed to comply with numerous HUD standards, 

including, among others, to select suitably comparable sales comparisons and to 
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justify the substantial appreciation during Cohen’s four-month ownership (a value 

increase of approximately 35%), when no major repairs had been performed. 

98. On June 12, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No. 1, 

Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 1-A and 1-B, which required, as a 

condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that those buyers pay off certain 

personal debts owed to creditors such as Capital One and Cingular. 

99. On June 14, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan No. 

1 to Buyers 1-A and 1-B.  Kramer, acting as the underwriter, certified to HUD that 

HUD Loan No. 1 met HUD’s underwriting requirements.  Further, Derrell, 

certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed HUD Loan No. 2 to HUD for mortgage 

insurance.  

100. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that all closing conditions 

listed in the commitment letter issued by Cambridge had been met by the time of 

closing on June 14, 2007.  In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyers 1-A and 1-

B had not paid off their personal debts prior to closing, because those debts would 

not be paid off until Cambridge issued approximately $6,500 in checks to Buyers  

1-A’s and 1-B’s creditors, including Capital One and Cingular, on June 22, 2007.  

Hyman personally signed those checks issued by Cambridge.  

101. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD 

Loan No. 1, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct.  In 

fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it 

omitted the fact that Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, was providing $6,500 to pay off 
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Buyers 1-A’s and 1-B’s personal debts, which payment should have been reflected 

on the HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.   

102. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen was providing the funds to pay 

off Buyers 1-A’s and 1-B’s personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants conspired with 

Cohen and the Cohen Entities to create records to assert falsely that the funds for 

paying off those debts had come from Buyers 1-A’s and 1-B’s own funds. 

103. Specifically, Derrell created a false note stating that, at closing, 

Cambridge had received $6,500 in cash from Buyers 1-A and 1-B, for the purpose of 

paying off their personal debts.  According to Derrell’s note, Buyers 1-A and 1-B had 

obtained $6,500 in cash by cashing their 2006 tax refund check.  Derrell’s note 

provided Cambridge with an explanation for why Buyers 1-A’s and 1-B’s bank 

account statements did not reflect their depositing the tax refund check and then 

withdrawing cash to pay Cambridge.  Derrell, however, knew that her note was 

false because Buyers 1-A and 1-B did not give any cash to Cambridge. 

104. In connection with endorsing HUD Loan No. 1 for HUD mortgage 

insurance, Cambridge certified to HUD that neither it nor its principals had any 

financial stake in the sale of the 116th Street Property.  In fact, Cambridge’s affiliate 

CFG held a junior mortgage against that property, in the amount of more than 

$100,000.  Thus, by originating a HUD-insured loan to finance Cohen’s flip sale of 

the 116th Street Property, Cambridge’s principals Kramer and Hyman stood to be 

paid in full on CFG’s loan.  In other words, and contrary to Cambridge’s certification 

to HUD, Kramer and Hyman each had a direct financial stake in the sale of the 

116th Street Property. 
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105. Further, Cambridge, through Kramer, also falsely certified HUD Loan 

No. 1 to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that HUD Loan No. 1 failed 

to comply with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects: 

a. HUD Loan No. 1 had Qualifying Ratios (44.16% and 54.23%) that 

significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively), 

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and 

a. Micheline’s appraisal for the 116th Street Property had not been 

conducted in accordance with HUD requirements and contained 

an inflated valuation for the 116th Street Property. 

106. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 1, Buyers 2-A and 2-B 

contributed only a minimal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated 

with purchasing the 116th Street Property.  Instead, Cohen, as the seller, paid 

$11,145 toward the down payment and $15,682.36 in closing costs, both of which 

were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 1.  In other words, Cohen 

induced Buyers 1-A and 1-B to buy the property at an inflated price by effectively 

paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home. 

107. On July 27, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 1 to Countrywide, 

pursuant to the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than 

$11,000 from the sale of that loan. 

108. Cohen provided $6,500 to pay off Buyers 1-A’s and 1-B’s personal 

debts, and also paid for nearly all of the down payment and closing costs, to induce 

Buyers 1-A and 1-B to obtain HUD Loan No. 1 based on an inflated price for the 

116th Street Property.  In connection with that sale, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home 
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and Wolf & Wolf, made more than $81,000 in profits, from the disbursement of 

HUD Loan No. 1. 

109. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the 116th Street Property to Buyers 1-A 

and 1-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received more than $20,000 in fees and 

resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 1.  Further, CFG received more than 

$106,000 in disbursement from HUD Loan No. 1, in repayment of the loan it had 

made to Gramercy. 

110. Micheline, who provided an inflated appraisal for the 116th Street 

Property based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with the Cambridge 

Defendants, not only was paid $450 for that appraisal, but also ensured that he 

would receive additional appraisal referrals from Cambridge.  Similarly, Buckley, 

through Premier, was paid $1,075 by Cohen and Cambridge for his inflated 

appraisals and ensured future appraisal referrals from Cohen.  In addition, by 

working in concert with Cohen to orchestrate the flip sale of the 116th Street 

Property, Buckley further cemented the corrupt and lucrative relationship between 

his business interests and Cohen’s.  See supra at ¶ 88.   

111. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of the 116th Street Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, CFG, Buckley, Premier, and Micheline used interstate mail carriers 

and interstate wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading 

information, including, among other documents, false and fraudulent gift affidavits, 

appraisal report, and HUD Addendum. 
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112. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Micheline submitted to 

HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for 

the 116th Street Property and the Settlement Statement and HUD Addendum for 

HUD Loan No. 1.  Based on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the Cohen 

Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, and Micheline obtained HUD mortgage 

insurance to HUD Loan No. 1.  Buckley and Premier also provided to Cambridge a 

false and fraudulent appraisal report with the intention that it be submitted to 

HUD, and for which Buckley and Premier received compensation.   

113. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide, 

using interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and 

certifications, including Micheline’s appraisal report and the Settlement Statement 

and HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 1.  Based on those false certifications and 

records, they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 1. 

114. Based on the false and fraudulent certifications and records created by 

Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, and Micheline, which 

certification and records had been sent to HUD using interstate mail and by wire, 

HUD agreed to insure HUD Loan No. 1.   

115. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide, 

using interstate mail carrier and by wire, numerous false and fraudulent records, 

including the MCAW form, the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, and the HUD 

Addendum for HUD Loan No.1.  Based on those false certification and records, they 

caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 1 from Cambridge. 
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116. Buyers 1-A and 1-B, who never could have afforded the 116th Street 

Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 1 within seven 

months of the closing, exposing HUD and Countrywide potentially to more than 

$400,000 in losses. 

117. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, 

CFG, Premier, Buckley, and Micheline violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection 

with the origination and sale of HUD Loan No. 1 in that they engaged in a scheme 

to defraud HUD, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a 

scheme to commit mail and wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely 

Countrywide Bank, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. 

B. HUD LOAN NO. 2:  NEWARK AVENUE PROPERTY A  

118. From in or about February 2007 to in or about May 2007, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants conspired to orchestrate the flip 

sale of a property located on Newark Avenue in Staten Island, Richmond County, 

New York (“Newark Avenue Property A”) at an inflated price to buyers who lacked 

the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.   

119. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants obtained 

HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $358,900 used to finance the 

fraudulent flip sale of Newark Avenue Property A (“HUD Loan No. 2”), and sold 

HUD Loan No. 2 to Citi, by misrepresenting the true cost of home ownership, 

paying off the buyers’ personal debts to induce them to purchase, obtaining an 

inflated appraisal for Newark Avenue Property A, creating false records to inflate a 
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buyer’s income and to omit inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance 

with HUD requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and 

to Citi. 

120. Specifically, on or about February 5, 2007, Cohen, through Buy-a-

Home, contracted with Pearsal Avenue Builders Corp. (“Pearsal Builders”) to 

purchase Newark Avenue Property A for approximately $272,000.  Rather than 

closing on that property, Cohen immediately sought to resell it to inexperienced 

home-buyers for $370,000.  To influence prospective buyers to accept the inflated 

valuation, Buy-a-Home sales agents falsely told them that their mortgage payments 

would be offset by approximately $800 per month in rental income.  But, in fact, 

Newark Avenue Property A was a single-family home that had no rental unit.   

121. In or about March 2007, i.e., less than two months after he contracted 

to buy Newark Avenue Property A for $272,000, Cohen, through Metropolitan and 

Buy-a-Home, induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 2-A and 2-

B, to buy that home for $370,000.  To circumvent HUD rules regarding flip sales, 

Cohen concealed Buy-a-Home’s contract to purchase Newark Avenue Property A by 

identifying Pearsal Builders as the seller, without disclosing that Buy-a-Home stood 

to gain nearly $100,000 in gross profit from the flip sale. 

122. Cohen referred Buyers 2-A and 2-B to Lapidus at Cambridge for 

purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, based on the 

corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants 

that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of 
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whether Buyers 2-A and 2-B qualified for such insurance or whether Newark 

Avenue Property A was worth $370,000. 

123. On or about April 4, 2007, Cambridge obtained an inflated appraisal 

for Newark Avenue Property A from Rapid Appraisal Services (“Rapid”), valuing the 

property exactly at the sale price, $370,000.  Rapid’s appraisal report inflated the 

value of Newark Avenue Property A by failing to account for a significant external 

obsolescence – the fact that the property was located directly across from and faced 

the stanchions of an elevated highway leading to the Bayonne Bridge – that 

substantially decreased the value of that property.  Rapid’s appraisal report also 

inflated the value of Newark Avenue Property A by selecting for comparison sales of 

properties that were not, in fact, comparable to Newark Avenue Property A.  

Finally, Rapid failed to conduct a “complete” appraisal, in violation of a basic HUD 

appraisal requirement.   

124. On April 13, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No. 2, 

Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 2-A and 2-B, which required, as a 

condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that Buyer 2-A pay off certain 

personal debts that he owed to creditors such as Macy’s, Target, and Verizon. 

125. On April 18, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan  

No. 2, which Kramer, acting as the underwriter, certified as meeting HUD’s 

requirements, and which Derrell, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed for 

HUD mortgage insurance.   

126. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD on April 18, 2007, that all 

closing conditions listed in the commitment letter issued by Cambridge had been 
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met by the time of closing.  In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyer 2-A had 

not paid off his personal debts prior to closing, because those debts would not be 

paid off until Cambridge issued approximately $12,400 in checks to Buyer 2-A’s 

creditors, including Macy’s, Target, Verizon, on April 30, 2007, almost two weeks 

after the closing date.  Hyman personally signed those checks issued by Cambridge.  

127. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD 

Loan No. 2, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct.  In 

fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it 

omitted the fact that Cohen had provided funds to Buyers 2-A and 2-B to pay off 

Buyer 2-A’s personal debts, which payment should have been reflected on the HUD-

1 as an inducement to purchase.   

128. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had provided funds to pay off 

Buyer 2-A’s personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants conspired with Cohen and 

the Cohen Entities to create false and fraudulent gift affidavits, which asserted that 

the funds for paying off Buyer 2-A’s debts had come from his father, rather than 

Cohen.   

129. A series of e-mails dated April 25, 2007, among Wendy Perkins, an 

underwriter at Cambridge; Erin Davis, a manager at Buy-a-Home; and Cohen 

illustrates Cambridge’s involvement in facilitating Cohen’s payoff of Buyer 2-A’s 

debts and concealing Cohen’s role.  A copy of that e-mail chain is attached to this 

Complaint as Exhibit 2. 

130. Specifically, in the opening e-mail, Perkins told Davis that, in 

connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 2 for Buyers 2-A and 2-B, Cohen had sent 
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a “certified bank check in the amount of $3,363.00 from Northfork Bank” to 

Cambridge.   

131. According to Perkins, Cohen should not have sent Cambridge a check 

from Northfork Bank because Buyer 2-A’s father, who supposedly was providing the 

$3,363 to Cambridge as a gift to his son, did not even have an account with 

Northfork Bank.  Indeed, Northfork is Buy-a-Home’s and Cohen’s bank.   

132. To maintain the illusion that Buyer 2-A’s father was the source of 

those funds, Perkins advised Davis (i) to obtain a certified bank check from 

Washington Mutual – the bank used by Buyer 2-A’s father – in the “additional 

[amount of] $3,363”, and (ii) to “prepare a letter from [Borrower 2-A’s] Dad stating 

that he did not realize that he needed to give his son a gift totaling $12,630 and this 

is why he took out an additional gift of $3,363.”   

133. To ensure that Cambridge could erase any evidence of Cohen being the 

source of those funds, Perkins also asked Davis to tell Cohen to go to Cambridge to 

“retrieve the incorrect bank certified check.” In response, Davis reassured Perkins 

that “Mitch [Cohen] would be there shortly” to pick up the check and that Buy-a-

Home would work to “get this all resolved.”    

134. In connection with endorsing HUD Loan No. 2 for HUD mortgage 

insurance, Cambridge also certified to HUD that the Loan Applications and the 

MCAW form for Buyers 2-A and 2-B were true and correct.  In fact, however, the 

Cambridge Defendants conspired with Cohen and the Cohen Entities to falsify 

those records to inflate Buyer 2-A’s income.   
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135. Specifically, on or about March 27, 2007, Buyer 2-A told Lapidus that 

his monthly salary was $3,333, an amount that was corroborated by the pay stubs 

that Cambridge obtained from Buyer 1-A’s employer.  Cambridge, however, inserted 

$3,625 as Buyer 2-A’s monthly salary into his final Loan Application and the 

MCAW form.  By inflating Buyer 2-A’s monthly income, Cambridge fraudulently 

lowered the Qualifying Ratios for HUD Loan No. 2.  Relevant excerpts from the 

initial and final Loan Applications for Buyer 2-A are attached to this Complaint as 

Exhibit 3.   

136. Cambridge, specifically Kramer, also falsely certified HUD Loan No. 2 

to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that this loan failed to comply 

with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects: 

a. HUD Loan No. 2 had Qualifying Ratios (39.22% and 51.33%) that 

significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively)  

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and 

b. Rapid’s appraisal for Newark Avenue Property A contained an 

inflated valuation for that property and had not been conducted in 

accordance with HUD requirements. 

137. On or about May 9, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 2 to Citi, 

pursuant to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than $8,500 from 

the sale of that loan. 

138. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 2, Buyers 2-A and 2-B 

contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated 

with purchasing Newark Avenue Property A.  Instead, Cohen arranged for the 

payment of $11,225 toward the down payment and $15,894.56 in closing costs, both 
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of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 2.  In other words, 

Cohen also induced Buyers 2-A and 2-B to buy the property at an inflated price by 

effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home. 

139. Cohen gave thousands of dollars to pay off Buyers 2-A’s personal debts, 

and also arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down payment and closing 

costs, to induce Buyers 2-A and 2-B to obtain HUD Loan No. 2 on the basis of an 

inflated valuation for Newark Avenue Property A.  In connection with that sale 

alone, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home and Wolf & Wolf, made almost $58,000 in 

profits, from the disbursement of HUD Loan No. 2. 

140. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of Newark Avenue Property A to Buyers 2-A 

and 2-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received close to $14,000 in fees and resale 

proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 2. 

141. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of Newark Property A, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge 

Defendants used interstate mail carriers and interstate wire to transmit documents 

that contained false and misleading information, including, among other 

documents, false and fraudulent gift affidavits, Loan Application, MCAW form, and 

HUD Addendum.   

142. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants submitted to HUD numerous 

false records and certifications, including the Loan Application, the MCAW form, 

and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 2.  Based on those false certifications 
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and records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants obtained HUD 

mortgage insurance for HUD Loan No. 2.   

143. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using 

interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and 

certifications, including the Loan Application, the MCAW form, and the HUD 

Addendum for HUD Loan No. 2.  Based on those false certifications and records, 

they caused Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 2. 

144. Buyers 2-A and 2-B, whom Cohen had misled as to the true cost of 

owning Newark Avenue Property A, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 2 within five 

months of closing, exposing HUD and Citi potentially to more than $400,000 in 

losses. 

145. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge 

Defendants violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale of 

HUD Loan No. 2 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation of 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and wire 

fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 

1341 and 1343. 

C. HUD LOAN NO. 3:  YORK AVENUE, STATEN ISLAND 

146. From in or about June 2007 to in or about August 2007, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier, and Buckley conspired to 

orchestrate the flip sale of a property located on York Avenue in Staten Island, 

Richmond County, New York (the “York Avenue Property”) at an inflated price to 

buyers who lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.   
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147. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier, and 

Buckley obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $447,600 

used to finance the fraudulent flip sale of the York Avenue Property (“HUD Loan 

No. 3”), and sold HUD Loan No. 3 to Countrywide by paying off the buyers’ personal 

debts to induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for the York 

Avenue Property, creating false records to omit inducements to purchase, falsely 

certifying compliance with HUD requirements, and submitting false and misleading 

records to HUD and to Countrywide. 

148. Specifically, in or about June, 2007, Cohen, through Gramercy, 

contracted with an individual named Dominic Grasso to purchase the York Avenue 

Property for approximately $370,500.  Rather than closing on that property, Cohen 

immediately sought to resell it to inexperienced home-buyers for $461,500. 

149. In or about August 2007, i.e., less than two months later, Cohen 

induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 3-A and 3-B, to purchase 

the York Avenue Property, for $461,500.  To circumvent HUD rules regarding flip 

sales, Cohen concealed Buy-a-Home’s contract to purchase the York Avenue 

Property by identifying Grasso as the seller, without disclosing that Buy-a-Home 

stood to gain more than $90,000 in gross profit from the flip sale. 

150. Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, referred Buyers 3-A and 3-B to Lapidus 

at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, 

based on a corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge 

Defendants that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance 
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irrespective of whether Buyers 3-A and 3-B qualified for such insurance or whether 

the York Avenue Property was worth $461,500. 

151. On or about August 4, 2007, at Cohen’s direction, Buckley, through 

Premier, issued an inflated appraisal of the York Avenue Property for Cambridge, 

valuing the property at $460,000.  Buckley’s appraisal report inflated the value of 

the York Avenue Property by selecting for comparison sales of properties that were 

not, in fact, comparable to the York Avenue Property.  Specifically, the sale price of 

a nearby property, which offered 40% more living space, was only $10,000 more 

than Buckley’s valuation of the York Avenue Property.  Buckley also inflated his 

appraisal by complying with Cambridge’s requests (i) to increase the expected 

rental income for the property from $1,250 to $1,500 and (ii) to change the term of 

the appraisal from being “subject to” the completion of certain repairs to “as is.”  

Finally, Buckley did not conduct a “complete” appraisal, in violation of a basic 

appraisal requirement. 

152. On August 2, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No. 

3, Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 3-A and 3-B, which required, as 

a condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that those buyers pay off certain 

judgments and other outstanding personal liabilities. 

153. On August 10, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan 

No. 3 to Buyers 3-A and 3-B.  Derrell, acting as the underwriter, certified to HUD 

that HUD Loan No. 3 met HUD’s underwriting requirements.  Further, Kramer, 

certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed HUD Loan No. 3 to HUD for mortgage 

insurance.   
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154. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that all closing conditions 

listed in the commitment letter had been met by the time of closing on August 10, 

2007.  In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyers 3-A and 3-B had not paid off 

their personal debts prior to closing, because those debts would not be paid off until 

August 16, August 20, and September 5, 2007, when Cambridge issued 

approximately $11,490 in checks to Buyers 3-A’s and 3-B’s creditors.  Hyman 

personally signed those checks.  

155. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD 

Loan No. 3, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct.  In 

fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it 

omitted the fact that Cohen had provided several thousand dollars to Buyers 3-A 

and 3-B to pay off their personal debts, which payment should have been reflected 

on the HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.   

156. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had provided funds to pay off 

Buyers 3-A’s and 3-B’s personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants conspired with 

Cohen and the Cohen Entities to create false and fraudulent gift affidavits, which 

asserted that the funds for paying off Buyers 3-A’s and 3-B’s debts had come from 

their daughter, rather than Cohen.  Specifically, to give the appearance that Buyers 

3-A and 3-B received a gift from their daughter, Cohen and Seth Lapidus obtained a 

cashier’s check from the buyers’ daughter’s bank, using Cohen’s funds,. 

157. In addition, Cambridge, through Kramer, also falsely certified HUD 

Loan No. 3 to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that HUD Loan No. 3 

failed to comply with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects: 
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a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 3 falsely understated Buyers 3-

A’s and 3-B’s liabilities by not including the debts they owed, which 

Cambridge would not pay off until weeks after the closing; 

b. HUD Loan No. 3 had Qualifying Ratios (53.32% and 53.65%) that 

significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively), 

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and 

c. Buckley’s appraisal for the York Avenue Property had not been 

conducted in accordance with HUD requirements and contained an 

inflated valuation for the York Avenue Property. 

158. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 3, Buyers 3-A and 3-B 

contributed only a minimal amount to the down payment and closing costs 

associated with purchasing the York Avenue Property.  Instead, Cohen, as the 

seller, paid $13,845 toward the down payment and $14,647 in closing costs, both of 

which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 3.  In other words, Cohen 

induced Buyers 3-A and 3-B to buy the property at an inflated price by effectively 

paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home. 

159. On August 24, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 3 to Countrywide, 

pursuant to the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than 

$13,000 from the sale of that loan. 

160. Cohen provided thousands of dollars to pay off Buyers 3-A’s and 3-B’s 

personal debts, and also paid for nearly all of the down payment and closing costs, 

to induce them to obtain HUD Loan No. 3 based on an inflated price for the York 

Avenue Property.  In connection with that sale alone, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home 

and Mark Wolf, made more than $46,000 in net profits, from the disbursement of 

HUD Loan No. 3. 
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161. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the York Avenue Property to Buyers 3-A 

and 3-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received more than $25,000 in fees and 

resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 3.  

162. Buckley, who provided an inflated appraisal for the York Avenue 

Property based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with Cohen and the 

Cambridge Defendants, not only was paid several hundred dollars for that 

appraisal, but also ensured future appraisal referrals from Cohen and further 

cemented the corrupt and lucrative relationship between his business interests and 

Cohen’s.  See supra at ¶ 88.   

163. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of the York Avenue Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, Premier, and Buckley used interstate mail carriers and interstate wire 

to transmit documents that contained false and misleading information, including, 

among other documents, false and fraudulent gift affidavits, appraisal report, and 

HUD Addendum. 

164. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Buckley submitted to 

HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for 

the York Avenue Property and the Settlement Statement and HUD Addendum for 

HUD Loan No. 3.  Based on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the Cohen 

Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants obtained HUD mortgage insurance to 

HUD Loan No. 3.   

Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS   Document 96    Filed 02/15/12   Page 54 of 210



55 
 

165. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide, 

using interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and 

certifications, the appraisal report for the York Avenue Property and the Settlement 

Statement and HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 3.  Based on those false 

certifications and records, they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 3. 

166. Based on the false and fraudulent certifications and records created by 

Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier, and Buckley, 

which certification and records had been sent to HUD using interstate mail and by 

wire, HUD agreed to insure HUD Loan No. 3.  Further, based on those false and 

fraudulent records, which had been sent to Countrywide using interstate mail and 

by wire, Countrywide agreed to purchase HUD Loan No. 3 from Cambridge. 

167. Buyers 3-A and 3-B, who never could have afforded the York Avenue 

Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 3 within 18 

months of the closing, exposing HUD and Countrywide potentially to more than 

$500,000 in losses. 

168. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, 

Premier, and Buckley violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination 

and sale of HUD Loan No. 3 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit 

mail and wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Countrywide Bank, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. 
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D. HUD LOAN NO. 4: BEACH 46TH STREET, FAR ROCKAWAY 

169. From in or about January 2006 to in or about August 2007, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg conspired to orchestrate 

the flip sale of a property located on Beach 46th Street in Far Rockaway, New York 

(the “Beach 46th Street Property”), at an inflated price to buyers who lacked the 

financial wherewithal to purchase the property.   

170. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg 

obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $454,930 used to 

finance the fraudulent flip sale of the Beach 46th Street Property (“HUD Loan No. 

4”), and sold HUD Loan No. 4 to Citi, by paying off the buyers’ personal debts to 

induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for the Beach 46th Street 

Property, by creating false records to inflate a buyer’s income and to omit 

inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with HUD requirements, 

and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to Citi. 

171. In or about January 2006, Cambridge acquired the Beach 46th Street 

Property for $1,000, subject to two mortgages in the approximate amount of 

$380,000. 

172. In or about April 2007, Cohen induced three inexperienced, first-time 

home-buyers, Buyers 4-A, 4-B, and 4-C to purchase the Beach 46th Street Property 

for $469,000.   

173. Cohen referred Buyers 4-A, 4-B, and 4-C to Lapidus at Cambridge for 

purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, based on the 
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corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants 

that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of 

whether Buyers 4-A, 4-B, and 4-C qualified for such insurance or whether the Beach 

46th Street Property was worth $469,000. 

174. On or about April 24, 2007, Cambridge obtained an inflated appraisal 

for the Beach 46th Street Property from Mark Pitman, a JJG appraiser, valuing the 

property at $470,000.  Pitman’s appraisal report, which inflated the value of the 

Beach 46th Street Property by failing to comply with numerous HUD appraisal 

standards, including, among others, to conduct and report a complete appraisal, to 

report full and accurate data about the property including its sales history, and to 

appropriately value the property vis-à-vis comparable property sales.  Goldberg 

personally reviewed, approved, and signed the appraisal report on behalf of Pitman. 

175. On April 30, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan  

No. 4, which Derrell, acting as the underwriter, certified as meeting HUD’s 

requirements, and which Hyman, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed for 

HUD mortgage insurance.    

176. In connection with endorsing HUD Loan No. 4 for HUD mortgage 

insurance, Cambridge also certified to HUD that the Loan Application for Buyer 4-

A and the MCAW form were true and correct.  In fact, however, the Cambridge 

Defendants conspired with Cohen and the Cohen Entities to falsify those records to 

inflate Buyer 4-A’s income.   

177. Specifically, on or about April 13, 2007, Buyer 4-A told Lapidus that 

she worked as a security guard and that her monthly salary was $1,733.  
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Cambridge, however, inserted “head chef” as Buyer 4-A’s occupation and $2,600 as 

her monthly salary into her final Loan Application, and created false and 

fraudulent records to support this information.  The two versions of the Loan 

Applications for Buyer 4-A are attached to this Complaint as Exhibit 4.  By inflating 

Buyer 4-A’s monthly income, Cambridge fraudulently lowered the Qualifying Ratios 

for HUD Loan No. 4.   

178. In connection with endorsing HUD Loan No. 4 for HUD mortgage 

insurance, Cambridge certified to HUD that neither it nor its principals had any 

financial stake in the sale of the Beach 46th Street Property.  In fact, Cambridge 

was the owner of the property.  Thus, by originating a HUD-insured loan to finance 

the flip sale of the Beach 46th Street Property, Cambridge and its principals, 

Kramer and Hyman, stood to make a significant profit.  In other words, and 

contrary to Cambridge’s certification to HUD, Kramer and Hyman each had a direct 

financial stake in the sale of the Beach 46th Street Property. 

179. Cambridge, specifically Hyman, also falsely certified HUD Loan No. 4 

to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that that loan failed to comply 

with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects: 

a. HUD Loan No. 4 had an MP/I ratio (36.18%) that significantly 

exceeded the HUD threshold (31%)  and did not have any applicable 

compensating factor; and 

b. JJG’s appraisal for the Beach 46th Street Property contained an 

inflated valuation for that property and had not been conducted in 

accordance with HUD requirements. 
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180. On or about August 1, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 4 to Citi, 

pursuant to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than $10,000 for 

that loan.   

181. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 4, Buyers 4-A, 4-B, and 4-

C contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing costs 

associated with purchasing the Beach 46th Street Property.  Instead, Cohen 

arranged for the payment of $14,070 toward the down payment and $14,833.06 in 

closing costs, both of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 4.  In 

other words, Cohen also induced Buyers 4-A, 4-B, and 4-C to buy the property at an 

inflated price by effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home. 

182. Cohen arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down payment 

and closing costs to induce Buyers 4-A, 4-B, and 4-C to obtain HUD Loan No. 4 on 

the basis of an inflated valuation for the Beach 46th Street Property.  In connection 

with that sale alone, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, made $25,000 in fees, from the 

disbursement of HUD Loan No. 4. 

183. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the Beach 46th Street Property to Buyers 

4-A, 4-B, and 4-C at an inflated price, Cambridge received approximately $135,000 

in profits and resale proceeds.   

184. Further, in exchange for supplying Cambridge with an inflated 

appraisal for the Beach 46th Street Property, Goldberg, in addition to receiving $500 

for issuing an inflated appraisal report, ensured that he would receive hundreds of 

additional appraisal assignments from Cambridge.  
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185. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of the Beach 46th Street Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the 

Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg used interstate mail carriers and interstate 

wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading information, 

including, among other documents, false and fraudulent Loan Application, MCAW 

form, appraisal, and HUD Addendum.   

186. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg submitted to 

HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the Loan Application, the 

MCAW form, the appraisal, and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 4.  Based 

on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, and Goldberg obtained HUD mortgage insurance to HUD Loan No. 4.  

Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using interstate mail 

carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and certifications, including the 

Loan Application, the MCAW form, and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 4.  

Based on those false certifications and records, they caused Citi to purchase HUD 

Loan No. 4. 

187. Buyers 4-A, 4-B, and 4-C, whom Cohen had misled as to the true cost 

of owning the Beach 46th Street Property and who never could have afforded that 

property at the inflated price set by Cambridge, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 4 

within four months of closing, exposing HUD and Citi potentially to more than 

$500,000 in losses. 

188. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, 

and Goldberg violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale 
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of HUD Loan No. 4 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and 

wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. 

E. HUD LOAN NO. 5:  NICHOLAS AVENUE, STATEN ISLAND 

189. From in or about February 2007 to in or about May 2007, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg conspired to orchestrate 

the flip sale of a property located on Nicholas Avenue in Staten Island, Richmond 

County, New York (the “Nicholas Avenue Property”) at an inflated price to buyers 

who lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.   

190. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg 

obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $359,600 used to 

finance the fraudulent flip sale of the Nicholas Avenue Property (“HUD Loan No. 

5”), and sold HUD Loan No. 5 to Citi, by misrepresenting the true cost of home 

ownership, paying off the buyers’ personal debts to induce them to purchase, 

obtaining an inflated appraisal for the Nicholas Avenue Property, creating false 

records to omit inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with HUD 

requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to Citi. 

191. In or about February 2007, Cohen, through Metropolitan, bought the 

Nicholas Avenue Property for $229,500.  To influence prospective buyers to accept 

the inflated valuation, Buy-a-Home sales agents falsely told them that the monthly 

cost of owning that property, after taking into account tax deductions and rental 
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income, would be almost eight hundred dollars less than Buy-a-Home’s internal 

estimates indicated.  

192. In or about April and May 2007, i.e., less than three months later, 

Cohen induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 5-A and 5-B, to 

purchase the Nicholas Avenue Property, for $370,750.   

193. Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, referred Buyers 5-A and 5-B to Lapidus 

at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, 

based on a corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge 

Defendants that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance 

irrespective of whether Buyers 5-A and 5-B qualified for such insurance or whether 

the Nicholas Avenue Property was worth $370,750. 

194. On or about May 22, 2007, JJG issued an appraisal report for the 

Nicholas Avenue Property, valuing the property at $380,000.  That appraisal report, 

which Goldberg personally reviewed, edited, approved, and sent to Cambridge, 

contained an inflated valuation for the property and numerous other falsities.   

195. Specifically, JJG’s appraisal report inflated the value of the Nicholas 

Avenue Property by falsely describing the property as having an additional useable 

bedroom and a partially-finished basement and by overstating the value of repairs 

by more than $20,000.  JJG also inflated the value of the property by falsely stating 

that all necessary repairs had been made by the closing date, when, in fact, repairs 

remained ongoing for three weeks.  Finally, the JJG appraisal report failed to 

adequately document these improvements as required by HUD.   
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196. On May 16, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No. 5, 

Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 5-A and 5-B, which required, as a 

condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that those buyers pay off certain 

personal debts owed to creditors such as Best Buy and Sears. 

197. On May 24, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan No. 

5 to Buyers 5-A and 5-B.  Kramer, acting as the underwriter, certified to HUD that 

HUD Loan No. 5 met HUD’s underwriting requirement.  Further, Derrell, certifying 

on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed HUD Loan No. 5 to HUD for mortgage insurance.   

198. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that all closing conditions 

listed in the commitment letter issued by Cambridge had been met by the time of 

closing on May 24, 2007.  In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyers 5-A and  

5-B had not paid off their personal debts prior to closing, because some of those 

debts would not be paid off until May 29, 2007, when Cambridge issued checks to 

Buyers 5-A’s and 5-B’s creditors.  Hyman personally signed those checks issued by 

Cambridge.  

199. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD 

Loan No. 5, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct.  In 

fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it 

omitted the fact that Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, had given approximately $8,200 

to Buyers 5-A and 5-B to pay off their personal debts, which payment should have 

been reflected on the HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.  

200. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had given money to Buyers 5-A 

and 5-B to pay off their personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants conspired with 
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Cohen and the Cohen Entities to create records to assert falsely that the funds for 

paying off those debts had come from Buyers 5-B’s sister. 

201. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants, Cohen, and the Cohen 

Entities conspired to create false gift affidavits stating that the funds used for 

paying off Buyers 5-A’s and 5-B’s personal debts came from Borrower 5-B’s sister’s 

personal funds.  In fact, however, those funds had come from Cohen, not Borrower 

5-B’s sister.  

202. Further, Cambridge, through Kramer, falsely certified HUD Loan No. 5 

to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that HUD Loan No. 5 failed to 

comply with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects: 

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 5 falsely understated Buyers 5-

A’s and 5-B’s liabilities by failing to include the personal debts they 

owed, which Cambridge would not pay off until several days after 

the closing; 

b. HUD Loan No. 5 had Qualifying Ratios (42.54% and 52.50%) that 

significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively), 

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and 

b. JJG’s appraisal for the Nicholas Avenue Property had not been 

conducted in accordance with HUD requirements and contained 

an inflated valuation for the Nicholas Avenue Street Property. 

203. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 5, Buyers 5-A and 5-B 

contributed only a minimal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated 

with purchasing the Nicholas Avenue Property.  Instead, Cohen, as the seller, paid 

$12,500 toward the down payment and $14,995.12 in closing costs, both of which 

were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 5.  In other words, Cohen 
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induced Buyers 5-A and 5-B to buy the property at an inflated price by effectively 

paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home. 

204. On August 1, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 5 to Citi, pursuant 

to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received approximately $8,500. 

205. Cohen gave Buyers 5-A and 5-B thousands of dollars to pay off their 

personal debts, and also paid for nearly all of the down payment and closing costs, 

to induce them to obtain HUD Loan No. 5 based on an inflated price for the 

Nicholas Avenue Property.  In connection with that sale, Cohen, through Buy-a-

Home and Wolf & Wolf, made approximately $102,000 in profits, from the 

disbursement of HUD Loan No. 5. 

206. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the Nicholas Avenue Property to Buyers 

5-A and 5-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received close to $18,000 in fees and 

resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 5.   

207. Further, in exchange for supplying Cambridge with an inflated 

appraisal for the Nicholas Avenue Property, Goldberg, in addition to receiving $700 

for issuing an inflated appraisal report, ensured that he would receive hundreds of 

additional appraisal assignments from Cambridge. 

208. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of the Nicholas Avenue Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the 

Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg used interstate mail carriers and interstate 

wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading information, 
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including, among other documents, false and fraudulent gift affidavits, appraisal 

report, and HUD Addendum. 

209. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg submitted to 

HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for 

the Nicholas Avenue Property and the Settlement Statement and HUD Addendum 

for HUD Loan No. 5.  Based on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg obtained HUD mortgage 

insurance for HUD Loan No. 5.   

210. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using 

interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and 

certifications, including the appraisal report for the Nicholas Avenue Property and 

the Settlement Statement and HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 5.  Based on 

those false certifications and records, they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD 

Loan No. 5. 

211. Based on the false and fraudulent certifications and records created by 

Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg, which 

certification and records had been sent to HUD using interstate mail and by wire, 

HUD agreed to insure HUD Loan No. 5.  Further, based on those false and 

fraudulent records, which had been sent to Citi using interstate mail and by wire, 

Citi agreed to purchase HUD Loan No. 5 from Cambridge. 

212. Buyers 5-A and 5-B, who never could have afforded the Nicholas 

Avenue Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 5 
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within seven months of the closing, exposing HUD and Citi potentially to more than 

$400,000 in losses. 

213. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, 

and Goldberg violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale 

of HUD Loan No. 5 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and 

wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. 

F. HUD LOAN NO. 6:  ALASKA STREET, STATEN ISLAND 

214. From in or about March 2007 to in or about July 2007, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Premier, and Buckley conspired 

to orchestrate the flip sale of a property located on Alaska Street in Staten Island, 

Richmond County, New York (the “Alaska Street Property”) at an inflated price to 

buyers who lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.   

215. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Premier, 

and Buckley obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of 

$460,750 used to finance the fraudulent flip sale of the Alaska Street Property 

(“HUD Loan No. 6”), and sold HUD Loan No. 6 to Citi, by paying off the buyers’ 

personal debts to induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for the 

Alaska Street Property, creating false records to omit inducements to purchase, 

falsely certifying compliance with HUD requirements, and submitting false and 

misleading records to HUD and to Citi. 
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216. In or about March 2007, Cohen, through Gramercy, bought the Alaska 

Street Property for $338,500.  In connection with that purchase, Gramercy obtained 

a $25,000 loan from CFG, which was secured by a junior mortgage on the Alaska 

Street Property. 

217. In or about July 2007, i.e., less than three months later, Cohen induced 

two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 6-A and 6-B, to purchase the 

Alaska Street Property, for $475,000.   

218. Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, referred Buyers 6-A and 6-B to Lapidus 

at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, 

based on a corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge 

Defendants that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance 

irrespective of whether Buyers 6-A and 6-B qualified for such insurance or whether 

the Alaska Street Property was worth $475,000. 

219. On or about July 22, 2007, at Cohen’s direction, Buckley, through 

Premier, issued an appraisal report for the Alaska Street Property, valuing the 

property at $480,000.  That appraisal report contained an inflated valuation for the 

property and numerous other falsities.   

220. Specifically, Buckley significantly inflated the valuation of the Alaska 

Street Property by selecting for comparison sales of properties that were not, in fact, 

comparable to the Alaska Street Property.  Buckley also inflated the rental income 

that Buyers 6-A and 6-B could expect to generate from renting out the basement 

studio at the Alaska Street Property by falsifying the rent for similar apartments.   
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221. Further, Buckley falsely certified that his appraisal of the Alaska 

Street Property had been conducted in accordance with HUD appraisal standards.  

In fact, Buckley’s appraisal failed to comply with numerous HUD standards, 

including, among others, to select suitably comparable sales comparisons and to 

justify the approximately 45% appreciation during Cohen’s four-month ownership 

with no major repairs noted. 

222. On July 25, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No. 6, 

Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 6-A and 6-B, which required, as a 

condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that those buyers pay off certain 

personal debts owed to creditors such as Bally Total Fitness and JC Penny. 

223. On July 27, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan No. 

6 to Buyers 6-A and 6-B.  Derrell, acting as the underwriter, certified to HUD that 

HUD Loan No. 6 met HUD’s underwriting requirements.  Further, Hyman, 

certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed HUD Loan No. 6 to HUD for mortgage 

insurance.   

224. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that all closing conditions 

listed in the commitment letter issued by Cambridge had been met by the time of 

closing on July 27, 2007.  In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyers 6-A and  

6-B had not paid off their personal debts prior to closing, because those debts would 

not be paid off until July 30, 2007, when Cambridge issued approximately $14,000 

in checks to pay off Buyers 6-A’s and 6-B’s student loans and creditors, including 

Bally and JC Penny.  Hyman personally signed those checks issued by Cambridge.  
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225. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD 

Loan No. 6, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct.  In 

fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it 

omitted the fact that Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, had provided Cambridge with 

approximately $27,000 in funds to pay off Buyers 6-A’s and 6-B’s personal debts, 

which payment should have been reflected on the HUD-1 as an inducement to 

purchase. 

226.  Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had given the funds to pay off 

Buyers 6-A’s and 6-B’s personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants conspired with 

Cohen and the Cohen Entities to create records to assert falsely that the funds for 

paying off those debts had come from a gift from one of Buyer 6-B’s relatives. 

227. Specifically, Cambridge claimed to have obtained the funds for paying 

off Buyers 6-A’s and 6-B’s student loans and personal debts using $27,000 in funds 

that Buyer 6-A’s brother-in-law had given to Cambridge as a gift.  In fact, however, 

Erin Davis, the Buy-a-Home manager, had given those funds to her then-boyfriend 

– who was not related to Buyer 6-A – to give to Cambridge, and had created 

fraudulent gift affidavits to conceal that fact.  Further, Cohen compensated Davis 

for that outlay at the closing of HUD Loan No. 6, directing a $14,000 payment to 

Davis directly from the disbursement of that loan. 

228. In connection with endorsing HUD Loan No. 6 for HUD mortgage 

insurance, Cambridge certified to HUD that neither it nor its principals had any 

financial stake in the sale of the Alaska Street Property.  In fact, Cambridge’s 

affiliate CFG held a junior mortgage against that property, in the amount of 
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$24,000.  Thus, by originating a HUD-insured loan to finance Cohen’s flip sale of 

the Alaska Street Property, Cambridge’s principals Kramer and Hyman stood to be 

paid in full on CFG’s loan.  In other words, and contrary to Cambridge’s certification 

to HUD, Kramer and Hyman each had a direct financial stake in the sale of the 

Alaska Street Property. 

229. Further, Cambridge, through Hyman, also falsely certified HUD Loan 

No. 6 to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that HUD Loan No. 6 failed 

to comply with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects: 

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 6  falsely understated Buyers 

6-A’s and 6-B’s liabilities by failing to include the personal debts 

they owed, which Cambridge would not pay off until a week after 

the closing; 

b. HUD Loan No. 6 had Qualifying Ratios (39.11% and 49.47%) that 

significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively), 

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and 

c. Buckley’s appraisal for the Alaska Street Property had not been 

conducted in accordance with HUD requirements and contained 

an inflated valuation for the Alaska Street Property. 

230. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 6, Buyers 6-A and 6-B 

contributed only a minimal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated 

with purchasing the Alaska Street Property.  Instead, Cohen, as the seller, paid 

$14,250 toward the down payment and $18,470 in closing costs, both of which were 

paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 6.  In other words, Cohen induced 

Buyers 6-A and 6-B to buy the property at an inflated price by effectively paying the 

entire upfront cost of buying that home. 
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231. On August 29, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 6 to Citi, pursuant 

to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received approximately $11,000 for that 

loan. 

232. Cohen gave Buyers 6-A and 6-B $14,000 to pay off their personal debts, 

and also paid for nearly all of the down payment and closing costs, to induce them 

to obtain HUD Loan No. 6 based on an inflated price for the Alaska Street Property.  

In connection with that sale, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, Mark Wolf, and Erin 

Davis, made more than $68,000 in net profits from the disbursement of HUD Loan 

No. 6. 

233. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the Alaska Street Property to Buyers 6-A 

and 6-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received approximately $22,000 in fees and 

resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 6.  Further, CFG received more than 

$27,000 in disbursement from HUD Loan No. 6, in repayment of the high-interest 

loan that it had made to Gramercy. 

234. Buckley, who through Premier provided an inflated appraisal for the 

Alaska Street Property based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with Cohen 

and the Cambridge Defendants, not only was paid $450 for that appraisal, but also 

ensured future appraisal referrals from Cohen.  This included appraisals of three 

other adjacent properties on Alaska Avenue, all of which were sold by Cohen and all 

of which Buckley appraised at inflated values.  Buckley also further cemented the 

corrupt and lucrative relationship between his business interests and Cohen’s.  See 

supra at ¶ 88.   
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235. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of the Alaska Street Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, CFG, Premier, and Buckley used interstate mail carriers and 

interstate wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading 

information, including, among other documents, false and fraudulent gift affidavits, 

appraisal report, and HUD Addendum. 

236. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Buckley submitted to 

HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for 

the Alaska Street Property and the Settlement Statement and HUD Addendum for 

HUD Loan No. 6.  Based on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the Cohen 

Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Premier, and Buckley obtained HUD 

mortgage insurance to HUD Loan No. 6.   

237. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using 

interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and 

certifications, including Buckley’s appraisal report and the Settlement Statement 

and HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 6.  Based on those false certifications and 

records, they caused Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 6. 

238. Based on the false and fraudulent certifications and records created by 

Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Premier, and Buckley, 

which certification and records had been sent to HUD using interstate mail and by 

wire, HUD agreed to insure HUD Loan No. 6.  Further, based on those false and 

fraudulent records, which had been sent to Citi using interstate mail and by wire, 

Citi agreed to purchase HUD Loan No. 6 from Cambridge. 
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239. Buyers 6-A and 6-B, who never could have afforded the Alaska Street 

Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 6 within 100 

days of the closing, exposing HUD and Citi potentially to more than $500,000 in 

losses. 

240. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, 

CFG, Premier, and Buckley violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the 

origination and sale of HUD Loan No. 6 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud 

HUD, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to 

commit mail and wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. 

G. HUD LOAN NO. 7:  NEWARK AVENUE PROPERTY B 

241. From in or about February 2007 to in or about August 2007, Cohen, 

the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg conspired to 

orchestrate the flip sale of a property located on Newark Avenue in Staten Island, 

Richmond County, New York (“Newark Avenue Property B”) at an inflated price to 

buyers who lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.   

242. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg 

obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $358,900 used to 

finance the fraudulent flip sale of Newark Avenue Property B (“HUD Loan No. 7”), 

and sold HUD Loan No. 7 to Citi, by misrepresenting the true cost of home 

ownership, paying off the buyers’ personal debts to induce them to purchase, 

obtaining an inflated appraisal for Newark Avenue Property B, creating false 
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records to omit inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with HUD 

requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to Citi. 

243. Specifically, on or about February 5, 2007, Cohen, through Buy-a-

Home, contracted with Pearsal Builders to purchase Newark Avenue Property B for 

approximately $272,000.  Rather than closing on that property, Cohen immediately 

sought to resell it to inexperienced home-buyers for $370,000.   

244. In or about July 2007, i.e., approximately five months after he 

contracted to buy Newark Avenue Property B for $272,000, Cohen, through 

Metropolitan and Buy-a-Home, induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, 

Buyers 7-A and 7-B, to buy that home for $370,000.  To influence the prospective 

buyers to accept the inflated valuation, Buy-a-Home sales agents falsely told them 

that their mortgage payments would be offset by several hundred dollars in tax 

credits. Cohen also concealed Buy-a-Home’s contract to purchase Newark Avenue 

Property B by identifying Pearsal Builders as the seller, without disclosing that 

Buy-a-Home stood to gain nearly $100,000 in gross profit from the flip sale. 

245. Cohen referred Buyers 7-A and 7-B to Lapidus at Cambridge for 

purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, based on the 

corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants 

that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of 

whether Buyers 7-A and 7-B qualified for such insurance or whether Newark 

Avenue Property B was worth $370,000. 

246. On or about August 1, 2007, Cambridge obtained an inflated appraisal 

for Newark Avenue Property B from JJG, valuing the property exactly at the sale 
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price, $370,000.  JJG’s appraisal report, which Goldberg personally reviewed, 

edited, approved, and sent to Cambridge, inflated the value of Newark Avenue 

Property B by failing to account for a significant external obsolescence – the fact 

that the property was located directly across from and faced the stanchions of an 

elevated highway leading to the Bayonne Bridge – that substantially decreased the 

value of that property.  JJG’s appraisal report also inflated the value of Newark 

Avenue Property B by selecting for comparison sales of properties that were not, in 

fact, comparable to Newark Avenue Property B.   

247. On August 21, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No. 

7, Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 7-A and 7-B, which required, as 

a condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that Buyer 7-A pay off certain 

personal debts that she owed to creditors such as Wells Fargo and AT&T. 

248. On August 30, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan  

No. 7, which Kramer, acting as the underwriter, certified as meeting HUD’s 

requirements, and which Hyman, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed for 

HUD mortgage insurance.   

249. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD on August 30, 2007, that all 

closing conditions listed in the commitment letter had been met by the time of 

closing.  In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyer 7-A had not paid off her 

personal debts prior to closing, because those debts would not be paid off until 

August 31, 2007, and September 17, 2007, when Cambridge issued approximately 

$15,000 in checks to Buyer 7-A’s creditors, including Wells Fargo and AT&T.  

Hyman personally signed those checks.  
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250. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD 

Loan No. 7, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct.  In 

fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it 

omitted the fact that Cohen had provided funds to Buyers 7-A and 7-B to pay off 

Buyer 7-A’s personal debts, which payment should have been reflected on the HUD-

1 as an inducement to purchase.   

251. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had provided funds to pay off 

Buyer 7-A’s personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants conspired with Cohen and 

the Cohen Entities to create false and fraudulent gift affidavits, which asserted that 

the funds for paying off Buyer 7-A’s debts had come from two of her relatives, rather 

than Cohen.  Cohen gave Buyers 7-A and 7-B the false impression that these funds 

had come from a grant from AmeriDream, a not-for-profit organization. 

252. Cambridge, specifically Kramer, also falsely certified HUD Loan No. 7 

to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that that loan failed to comply 

with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects: 

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 7 falsely understated Buyers 7-

A’s and 7-B’s liabilities by not including the debts they owed, which 

Cambridge would not pay off until weeks after the closing; 

b. HUD Loan No. 7 had Qualifying Ratios (43.63% and 45.94%) that 

significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively)  

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and 

c. JJG’s appraisal for Newark Avenue Property B contained an 

inflated valuation for that property and had not been conducted in 

accordance with HUD requirements. 
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253. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 7, Buyers 7-A and 7-B 

contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated 

with purchasing Newark Avenue Property B.  Instead, Cohen arranged for the 

payment of $14,700 toward the down payment and $12,864.30 in closing costs, both 

of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 7.  In other words, 

Cohen also induced Buyers 7-A and 7-B to buy the property at an inflated price by 

effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home. 

254. On or about September 10, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 7 to 

Citi, pursuant to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than $8,500 

for that loan.   

255. Cohen gave thousands of dollars to pay off Buyer 7-A’s personal debts, 

and also arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down payment and closing 

costs, to induce Buyers 7-A and 7-B to obtain HUD Loan No. 7 on the basis of an 

inflated valuation for Newark Avenue Property B.  In connection with that sale 

alone, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home and Mark Wolf, made more than $54,000 in 

profits, from the disbursement of HUD Loan No. 7. 

256. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of Newark Avenue Property B to Buyers 7-A 

and 7-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received more than $16,000 in fees and 

resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 7. 

257. Goldberg, who provided an inflated appraisal for Newark Avenue 

Property B based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with Cohen and the 

Cambridge Defendants, not only was paid $650 for that appraisal, but also ensured 
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that he would receive additional appraisal referrals from Cohen and the Cohen 

Entities. 

258. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of Newark Property B, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, and Goldberg used interstate mail carriers and interstate wire to 

transmit documents that contained false and misleading information, including, 

among other documents, false and fraudulent gift affidavits and HUD Addendum.   

259. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg submitted to 

HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for 

Newark Avenue Property B and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 7.  Based 

on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, and Goldberg obtained HUD mortgage insurance for HUD Loan No. 7.   

260. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using 

interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and 

certifications, including JJG’s appraisal report and the Settlement Statement and 

HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 7.  Based on those false certifications and 

records, they caused Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 7. 

261. Buyers 7-A and 7-B, who never could have afforded Newark Avenue 

Property B at the inflated price set by Cohen, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 7 within 

five months of closing, exposing HUD and Citi potentially to more than $400,000 in 

losses. 

262. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, 

and Goldberg violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale 
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of HUD Loan No. 7 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and 

wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. 

H. HUD LOAN NO. 8:  NEWARK AVENUE PROPERTY C 

263. From in or about February 2007 to in or about June 2007, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier, and Buckley conspired to 

orchestrate the flip sale of a property located on Newark Avenue in Staten Island, 

Richmond County, New York (“Newark Avenue Property C”) at an inflated price to 

buyers who lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.   

264. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier, and 

Buckley obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $436,500 

used to finance the fraudulent flip sale of Newark Avenue Property C (“HUD Loan 

No. 8”), and sold HUD Loan No. 8 to Citi, by paying off the buyers’ personal debts to 

induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for Newark Avenue 

Property C, creating false records to omit inducements to purchase, falsely 

certifying compliance with HUD requirements, and submitting false and misleading 

records to HUD and to Citi. 

265. Specifically, on or about February 5, 2007, Cohen, through Buy-a-

Home, contracted with Pearsal Builders to purchase Newark Avenue Property C for 

approximately $345,000.  Rather than closing on that property, Cohen immediately 

sought to resell it to inexperienced home-buyers for $450,000.   
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266. In or about June 2007, i.e., approximately four months after he 

contracted to buy Newark Avenue Property C for $345,000, Cohen, through 

Metropolitan and Buy-a-Home, induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, 

Buyers 8-A and 8-B, to buy that home for $450,000.  Cohen concealed Buy-a-Home’s 

contract to purchase Newark Avenue Property C by identifying Pearsal Builders as 

the seller, without disclosing that Buy-a-Home stood to gain more than $100,000 in 

gross profit from the flip sale. 

267. Cohen referred Buyers 8-A and 8-B to Lapidus at Cambridge for 

purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, based on the 

corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants 

that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of 

whether Buyers 8-A and 8-B qualified for such insurance or whether Newark 

Avenue Property C was worth $450,000. 

268. On or about June 18, 2007, at Cohen’s direction, Buckley, through 

Premier, issued an inflated appraisal of Newark Avenue Property C for Cambridge, 

valuing the property exactly at the sale price, $450,000.  Buckley’s appraisal report 

inflated the value of Newark Avenue Property C by failing to account for a 

significant external obsolescence – the fact that the property was located directly 

across from and faced the stanchions of an elevated highway leading to the Bayonne 

Bridge – that substantially decreased the value of that property.  Buckley’s 

appraisal report also inflated the value of Newark Avenue Property C by using as 

sales comparisons two other properties that Cohen had sold in earlier flip sales, in 

violation of a basic appraisal standard. 
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269. On June 20, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No. 8, 

Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 8-A and 8-B, which required, as a 

condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that Buyers 8-A and 8-B pay off 

certain personal debts that they owed to creditors such as AT&T and Plaza 

Associates. 

270. On June 21, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan  

No. 8, which Kramer, acting as the underwriter, certified as meeting HUD’s 

requirements, and which Hyman, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed for 

HUD mortgage insurance.   

271. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD on June 21, 2007, that all 

closing conditions listed in the commitment letter had been met by the time of 

closing.  In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyers 8-A and 8-B had not paid off 

their personal debts prior to closing, because those debts would not be paid off until 

June 22, 2007, when Cambridge issued approximately $1,780 in checks to Buyers 8-

A’s and 8-B’s creditors, including AT&T and Plaza Associates.  Hyman personally 

signed those checks.  

272. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD 

Loan No. 8, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct.  In 

fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it 

omitted the fact that Cohen had provided the funds for paying off Buyers 8-A’s and 

8-B’s personal debts, which payment should have been reflected on the HUD-1 as an 

inducement to purchase.   
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273. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had provided the funds for 

paying off Buyers 8-A’s and 8-B’s personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants 

conspired with Cohen and the Cohen Entities to create records to assert falsely that 

the funds for paying off those debts had come from Buyers 8-A and 8-B. 

274. Cambridge, specifically Kramer, also falsely certified HUD Loan No. 8 

to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that that loan failed to comply 

with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects: 

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 8  falsely understated Buyers 

8-A’s and 8-B’s liabilities by not including the debts they owed, 

which Cambridge would not pay off until weeks after the closing; 

b. HUD Loan No. 8 had Qualifying Ratios (44.16% and 47.87%) that 

significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively)  

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and 

c. Buckley’s appraisal for Newark Avenue Property C contained an 

inflated valuation for that property and had not been conducted in 

accordance with HUD requirements. 

275. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 8, Buyers 8-A and 8-B 

contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated 

with purchasing Newark Avenue Property C.  Instead, Cohen arranged for the 

payment of $14,000 toward the down payment and $19,024.50 in closing costs, both 

of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 8.  In other words, 

Cohen also induced Buyers 8-A and 8-B to buy the property at an inflated price by 

effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home. 
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276. On or about July 16, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 8 to Citi, 

pursuant to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than $10,000 for 

that loan.   

277. Cohen gave Cambridge thousands of dollars to pay off Buyers 8-A and 

8-B’s personal debts, and also arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down 

payment and closing costs, to induce Buyers 8-A and 8-B to obtain HUD Loan No. 8 

on the basis of an inflated valuation for Newark Avenue Property C.  In connection 

with that sale alone, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home and Wolf & Wolf, made more 

than $48,000 in profits, from the disbursement of HUD Loan No. 8. 

278. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of Newark Avenue Property C to Buyers 8-A 

and 8-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received more than $21,000 in fees and 

resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 8. 

279. Buckley, who provided an inflated appraisal for Newark Avenue 

Property C based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with Cohen and the 

Cambridge Defendants, not only was paid $450 for that appraisal, but also ensured 

future appraisal referrals from Cohen.  This included appraisals of two other 

adjacent properties on Newark Avenue, both of which were sold by Cohen and both 

of which Buckley appraised at inflated values.  Buckley also further cemented the 

corrupt and lucrative relationship between his business interests and Cohen’s.  See 

supra at ¶ 88.  

280. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of Newark Property C, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 
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Defendants, Premier, and Buckley used interstate mail carriers and interstate wire 

to transmit documents that contained false and misleading information, including, 

among other documents, false and fraudulent appraisal report and HUD 

Addendum.   

281. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Buckley submitted to 

HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for 

Newark Avenue Property C and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 8.  Based 

on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, Premier, and Buckley obtained HUD mortgage insurance for HUD 

Loan No. 8.   

282. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using 

interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and 

certifications, including the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 8.  Based on those 

false certifications and records, they caused Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 8. 

283. Buyers 8-A and 8-B, who never could have afforded Newark Avenue 

Property C at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 8 within 100 

days of closing, exposing HUD and Citi potentially to more than $500,000 in losses. 

284. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, 

Premier, and Buckley violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination 

and sale of HUD Loan No. 8 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit 

mail and wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. 
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I. HUD LOAN NO. 9:  EAST TREMONT AVENUE, THE BRONX 

285. From in or about May 2007 to in or about September 2007, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg conspired to orchestrate 

the flip sale of a property located on East Tremont Avenue in Bronx County, New 

York (the “East Tremont Avenue Property”) at an inflated price to buyers who 

lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.   

286. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg 

obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $459,700 used to 

finance the fraudulent flip sale of the East Tremont Avenue Property (“HUD Loan 

No. 9”), and sold HUD Loan No. 9 to Countrywide by paying off the buyers’ personal 

debts to induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for the East 

Tremont Avenue Property, creating false records to inflate a buyer’s income and 

omit inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with HUD 

requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to 

Countrywide. 

287. In or about May 2007, Cohen, through Gramercy, bought the East 

Tremont Avenue Property for $312,700.   

288. In or about August and September 2007, i.e., less than four months 

later, Cohen induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 9-A and 9-

B, to purchase the East Tremont Avenue Property, for $474,000.   

289. Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, referred Buyers 9-A and 9-B to Lapidus 

at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, 
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based on a corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge 

Defendants that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance 

irrespective of whether Buyers 9-A and 9-B qualified for such insurance or whether 

the East Tremont Avenue Property was worth $474,000. 

290. On or about August 30, 2007, JJG issued an appraisal report for the 

East Tremont Avenue Property, valuing the property at $475,000 and the rental 

income that Buyers 9-A and 9-B could expect to earn at $1,500 per month.  That 

appraisal report, which Goldberg personally reviewed, edited, approved, and sent to 

Cambridge, contained an inflated valuation for the property and rental income, and 

numerous other falsities.   

291. Specifically, JJG relied on sales and rental comparisons that were not 

truly comparable to the East Tremont Avenue Property.  JJG’s appraisal report also 

inflated the value of the property by significantly overstating the costs of the 

renovations that had been made. 

292. On August 27, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No. 

9, Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 9-A and 9-B, which required, as 

a condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that those buyers pay off certain 

personal debts, such as child support arrears and state court judgments. 

293. On September 6, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD 

Loan No. 9 to Buyers 9-A and 9-B.  Kramer, acting as the underwriter, certified to 

HUD that HUD Loan No. 9 met HUD’s underwriting requirements.  Further, 

Derrell, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed HUD Loan No. 9 to HUD for 

mortgage insurance.   
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294. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD on September 6, 2007, that 

all closing conditions listed in the commitment letter had been met by the time of 

closing.  In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyers 9-A and 9-B had not paid off 

their personal debts prior to closing, because those debts would not be paid off until 

September 7 and September 19, 2007, when Cambridge issued approximately 

$4,350 in checks to Buyers 9-A’s and 9-B’s creditors, including child support arrears 

and state court judgments.  Hyman personally signed those checks.  

295. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD 

Loan No. 9, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct.  In 

fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it 

omitted the fact that Cohen had promised Buyers 9-A and 9-B that he would make 

the first mortgage payment for them – a promise that should have been reflected in 

the HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.  

296. In connection with endorsing HUD Loan No. 9 for HUD mortgage 

insurance, Cambridge also certified to HUD that the Loan Applications and the 

MCAW form for Buyers 9-A and 9-B were true and correct.  In fact, however, the 

Cambridge Defendants conspired with Cohen and the Cohen Entities to falsify 

those records to inflate Buyer 9-B’s income.   

297. Specifically, Buyer 9-B told Lapidus that his monthly salary was 

$3,250.  Cambridge, however, inserted $4,160 as Buyer 9-B’s monthly salary into 

his final Loan Application and the MCAW form.  By inflating Buyer 9-B’s monthly 

income, Cambridge fraudulently lowered the Qualifying Ratios for HUD Loan No. 9.  
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298. Further, Cambridge, through Derrell, also falsely certified HUD Loan 

No. 9 to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that HUD Loan No. 9 failed 

to comply with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects: 

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 9 falsely overstated Buyer  

9-B’s monthly income and also falsely understated the total 

liabilities for him and Buyer 9-A by not including the personal 

debts that Cambridge would not pay off until days after the closing; 

b. HUD Loan No. 9 had Qualifying Ratios (47.54% and 49.24%) that 

significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively), 

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and 

d. JJG’s appraisal for the East Tremont Avenue Property had not 

been conducted in accordance with HUD requirements and 

contained an inflated valuation for the East Tremont Avenue 

Property. 

299. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 9, Buyers 9-A and 9-B 

contributed only a minimal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated 

with purchasing the East Tremont Avenue Property.  Instead, Cohen, as the seller, 

paid $18,140 toward the down payment and $16,468.12 in closing costs, both of 

which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 9.  In other words, Cohen 

induced Buyers 9-A and 9-B to buy the property at an inflated price by effectively 

paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home. 

300. On July 27, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 9 to Countrywide, 

pursuant to the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than 

$14,000 for that loan. 
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301. Cohen promised to make a mortgage payment for Buyers 9-A and 9-B, 

and also paid for nearly all of the down payment and closing costs, to induce them 

to obtain HUD Loan No. 9 based on an inflated price for the East Tremont Avenue 

Property.  In connection with that sale alone, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home and 

Mark Wolf, made more than $101,000 in net profits, from the disbursement of HUD 

Loan No. 9. 

302. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the East Tremont Avenue Property to 

Buyers 9-A and 9-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received close to $28,000 in fees 

and resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 9.  

303. Goldberg, who provided an inflated appraisal for the East Tremont 

Avenue Property based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with Cohen and 

the Cambridge Defendants, not only was paid $600 for that appraisal, but also 

ensured that he would receive additional appraisal referrals from Cambridge. 

304. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of the East Tremont Avenue Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the 

Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg used interstate mail carriers and interstate 

wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading information, 

including, among other documents, false and fraudulent loan applications, appraisal 

report, MCAW form, and HUD Addendum. 

305. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg submitted to 

HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for 

the East Tremont Avenue Property and the Settlement Statement and HUD 

Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS   Document 96    Filed 02/15/12   Page 90 of 210



91 
 

Addendum for HUD Loan No. 9.  Based on those false certifications and records, 

Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg obtained HUD 

mortgage insurance to HUD Loan No. 9.   

306. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide, 

using interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and 

certifications, including JJG’s appraisal report and the Settlement Statement and 

HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 9.  Based on those false certifications and 

records, they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 9. 

307. Based on the false and fraudulent certifications and records created by 

Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg, which 

certification and records had been sent to HUD using interstate mail and by wire, 

HUD agreed to insure HUD Loan No. 9.  Further, based on those false and 

fraudulent records, which had been sent to Countrywide using interstate mail and 

by wire, Countrywide agreed to purchase HUD Loan No. 9 from Cambridge. 

308. Buyers 9-A and 9-B, who never could have afforded the East Tremont 

Avenue Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 9 

within five months of the closing, exposing HUD and Countrywide potentially to 

more than $500,000 in losses. 

309. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, 

and Goldberg violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale 

of HUD Loan No. 9 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and 
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wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Countrywide Bank, in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. 

J. HUD LOAN NO. 10:  BARKLEY AVENUE, BRONX 

310. From in or about April 2007 to in or about May 2007, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants conspired to orchestrate the flip 

sale of a property located on Barkley Avenue in the Bronx, New York (the “Barkley 

Avenue Property”) at an inflated price to inexperienced home-buyers who lacked the 

financial wherewithal to purchase the property.   

311. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants obtained 

HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $315,250 used to finance the 

fraudulent flip sale of the Barkley Avenue Property (“HUD Loan No. 10”), and sold 

HUD Loan No. 10 to Citi, by paying off the buyers’ personal debts and promising to 

make mortgage payments on the buyers’ behalves to induce them to purchase, 

obtaining an inflated appraisal for the Barkley Avenue Property, creating false 

records to conceal inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with HUD 

requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to Citi. 

312. Specifically, in or about October 2005, Cohen, through Gramercy, 

acquired the Barkley Avenue Property for $140,000.  In or about March 2006, and 

to conceal the extent to which he was inflating the price of the Barkley Avenue 

Property for a subsequent resale, Cohen arranged for Gramercy to transfer that 

home to him at the inflated amount of $340,000.  
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313. In or about April and May 2007, Cohen, through Metropolitan and 

Buy-a-Home, induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 10-A and 

10-B, to buy the Barkley Avenue Property from him for $325,000, i.e., 130% more 

than what Gramercy had paid for that home a year and half earlier.   

314. To induce Buyers 10-A and 10-B to purchase the home, Cohen initially 

promised to give them $10,000 immediately after the closing.  Subsequently, Cohen 

promised those buyers that, instead of giving them cash, he would make five 

monthly mortgage payments for them and pay off their personal debts.  

315. On or about May 3, 2007, Cohen referred Buyers 10-A and 10-B to 

Lapidus at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage – on a 

“Super Super Rush” basis – from Cambridge, based on the corrupt agreement or 

understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants that Cambridge 

would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of whether Buyers 10-

A and 10-B qualified for such insurance or whether the Barkley Avenue Property 

was worth $325,000. 

316. On or about April 4, 2007, Cambridge obtained an inflated appraisal 

for the Barkley Avenue Property from Rapid, valuing the property exactly at the 

price Cohen set, $325,000.  Specifically, the Rapid appraisal ignored salient 

differences between the Barkley Avenue Property and the properties that Rapid 

used as “comparable sales.”  For example, one of those comparable sales had 

approximately 30% more living space than the Barkley Avenue Property.   Rapid, 

however, only attributed $7,680 in value, or less than 3% of the sales price, to that 

significant difference.   
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317. On May 10, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan  

No. 10.  Desiree Madison, acting as the underwriter, certified HUD Loan  

No. 10 as meeting HUD’s requirements; further, Derrell, certifying on behalf of 

Cambridge, endorsed that loan for HUD mortgage insurance.   

318. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that the closing documents, 

including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, for HUD Loan No. 10 were true and 

correct.  In fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and 

misleading because it omitted (i) the fact that Cohen had promised Buyers 10-A and 

10-B to make mortgage payments, worth thousands of dollars, on their behalves 

and (ii) the fact that Cohen also gave Buyer 10-A several hundred dollars to give to 

Cambridge, for purposes of paying off his personal debts.  Both the funds that 

Cohen gave to the buyers and promised to expend on their behalves should have 

been reflected on the HUD-1 as inducements to purchase.   

319. On or about May 15, 2007, Cambridge obtained approximately $600 in 

money orders and sent those money orders to Buyers 10-A’s creditors, such as 

Verizon, to pay off his personal debts.   

320. To conceal the fact that Cohen had given funds to Buyers 10-A to pay 

off his personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants conspired with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to create false and fraudulent records.  Specifically, Derrell inserted 

a note into Cambridge’s loan file for HUD Loan No. 10, claiming that the funds for 

the money orders had come from Buyers 10-A and 10-B.  In fact, however, Cohen 

was the source of those funds.   
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321. In connection with originating HUD Loan No. 10, Cambridge also 

falsely certified that loan to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that 

that loan failed to comply with HUD requirements in, among others, the following 

respects: 

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 10 falsely stated that Buy 10-A 

had no personal liabilities at closing, whereas he in fact still owed 

several hundred dollars in personal debts;  

b. HUD Loan No. 10 had Qualifying Ratios (49.23% and 49.23%) that 

significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively)  

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and 

c. Rapid’s appraisal for the Barkley Avenue Property contained an 

inflated valuation for that property and had not been conducted in 

accordance with HUD requirements. 

322. On or about May 25, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 10 to Citi, 

pursuant to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than $7,500 for 

that loan.  After Citi purchased HUD Loan No. 10 from Cambridge, Cohen made 

several mortgage payments on behalf of Buyers 10-A and 10-B. 

323. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 10, Buyers 10-A and 10-B 

contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated 

with purchasing the Barkley Avenue Property.  Instead, Cohen arranged for the 

payment of $9,750 toward the down payment and $13,040.18 in closing costs, both 

of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 10.  In other words, 

Cohen also induced Buyers 10-A and 10-B to buy the property at an inflated price 

by effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home. 
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324. Cohen gave funds to Buyers 10-A to pay off his personal debts, 

arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down payment and closing costs, and 

made mortgage payments on behalf of Buyers 10-A and 10-B, to induce those 

inexperienced home-buyers to obtain HUD Loan No. 10 on the basis of an inflated 

valuation for the Barkley Avenue Property.  In connection with that sale alone, 

Cohen received more than $25,000 from the disbursement of HUD Loan No. 10. 

325. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the Barkley Avenue Property to Buyers 

10-A and 10-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received more than $15,700 in fees 

and resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 10. 

326. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of the Barkley Avenue Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the 

Cambridge Defendants used interstate mail carriers and interstate wire to transmit 

documents that contained false and misleading information, including, among other 

documents, the HUD-1 Settlement Statement and the HUD Addendum.   

327. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants submitted to HUD numerous 

false records and certifications, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement and the 

HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 10.  Based on those false records and 

certifications, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants obtained 

HUD mortgage insurance to HUD Loan No. 10.   

328. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using 

interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and 

certifications, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement and the HUD Addendum 
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for HUD Loan No. 10.  Based on those false certifications and records, they caused 

Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 10. 

329. Buyers 10-A and 10-B, who never could have afforded the Barkley 

Avenue Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 10 

within five months of closing, exposing HUD and Citi potentially to more than 

$350,000 in losses. 

330. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge 

Defendants violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale of 

HUD Loan No. 10 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation of 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and wire 

fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 

1341 and 1343. 

K. HUD LOAN NO. 11:  NEWARK AVENUE PROPERTY D 

331. From in or about February 2007 to in or about May 2007, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg conspired to orchestrate 

the flip sale of a property located on Newark Avenue in Staten Island, Richmond 

County, New York (“Newark Avenue Property D”) at an inflated price to buyers who 

lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.   

332. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg 

obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $436,500 used to 

finance the fraudulent flip sale of Newark Avenue Property D (“HUD Loan No. 11”), 

and sold HUD Loan No. 11 to Citi, by paying off the buyers’ personal debts to 
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induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for Newark Avenue 

Property D, creating false records to omit inducements to purchase, falsely 

certifying compliance with HUD requirements, and submitting false and misleading 

records to HUD and to Citi. 

333. Specifically, on or about February 5, 2007, Cohen, through Buy-a-

Home, contracted with Pearsal Builders to purchase Newark Avenue Property D for 

approximately $345,000.  Rather than closing on that property, Cohen immediately 

sought to resell it to inexperienced home-buyers for $450,000.   

334. In or about May 2007, i.e., less than four months after he contracted to 

buy Newark Avenue Property D for $345,000, Cohen, through Metropolitan and 

Buy-a-Home, induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 11-A and 

11-B, to buy that home for $450,000.  To circumvent HUD rules regarding flip sales, 

Cohen concealed Buy-a-Home’s contract to purchase Newark Avenue Property D by 

identifying Pearsal Builders as the seller, without disclosing that Buy-a-Home stood 

to gain more than $100,000 in gross profit from the flip sale. 

335. Cohen referred Buyers 11-A and 11-B to Lapidus at Cambridge for 

purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, based on the 

corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants 

that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of 

whether Buyers 11-A and 11-B qualified for such insurance or whether Newark 

Avenue Property D was worth $450,000. 

336. On or about May 15, 2007, Cambridge obtained an inflated appraisal 

for Newark Avenue Property D from JJG, valuing the property exactly at the sale 
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price, $450,000.  The JJG report, which Goldberg personally reviewed, edited, 

approved, and sent to Cambridge, inflated the value of Newark Avenue Property D 

by failing to account for a significant external obsolescence – the fact that the 

property was located directly across from and faced the stanchions of an elevated 

highway leading to the Bayonne Bridge – that substantially decreased the value of 

that property.  It also inflated the value of Newark Avenue Property D by using as 

comparable sales other properties that Cohen had sold in flip sales and inflating the 

monthly rental income that could be generated by Newark Avenue Property D.   

337. Further, and in contravention of a basic tenet of HUD appraisal 

standards, JJG complied with Cambridge’s demand to “hit the number” on Newark 

Avenue Property D.  Specifically, in a fax dated May 24, 2007, Derrell requested 

that Goldberg email a “correct[ed]” version of his appraisal report for that property 

to her. Derrell’s corrections included changing the estimated rental income from 

$800 per month to $900 per month. JJG, without any justification and in 

contravention of HUD rules, incorporated Derrell’s changes into his final appraisal 

report.  Relevant excerpts from Derrell’s May 24, 2007 fax are attached to this 

Complaint as Exhibit 5. 

338. On May 24, 2007, Cambridge issued checks, totaling approximately 

$6,800, to creditors such as Capital One Auto and NCO Financial to pay off debts 

owed by Borrower 11-B, which were wholly unrelated to his purchase of Newark 

Avenue Property D. 

339. On May 24, 2007, Cambridge also originated and processed HUD Loan  

No. 11. Derrell, acting as the underwriter, certified as meeting HUD’s 
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requirements.  Further, Hyman, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed for 

HUD mortgage insurance.   

340. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that the closing documents 

for HUD Loan No. 11, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and 

correct.  In fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and 

misleading because it omitted the fact that Cohen had provided approximately 

$7,000 to Buyers 11-A and 11-B to pay off Buyer 11-A’s personal debts, which 

payment should have been reflected on the HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.   

341. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had provided funds to pay off 

Buyer 11-A’s personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants created false records for 

HUD Loan No. 11.  Specifically, Derrell, on behalf of Cambridge, inserted a note 

into Cambridge’s mortgage loan file, claiming that Buyers 11-A and 11-B had 

brought funds to the closing to pay off Buyer 11-A’s debts.  In fact, Cambridge knew 

that Cohen had provided $7,000 to Buyers 11-A and 11-B to give to Cambridge 

because a Cambridge employee had facilitated the transfer of the funds from Cohen 

to the buyers. 

342. Cambridge, specifically Derrell, also falsely certified HUD Loan No. 11 

to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that that loan failed to comply 

with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects: 

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 11 falsely understated Buyers 

11-A’s and 11-B’s liabilities by not including thousands of dollars of 

debts they owed, which Cambridge would not pay off until weeks 

after the closing; 
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b. HUD Loan No. 11 had Qualifying Ratios (36.24% and 49.19%) that 

significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively)  

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and 

c. JJG’s appraisal for Newark Avenue Property D inflated the value of 

that property and had not been conducted in accordance with HUD 

requirements. 

343. In or about July 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 11 to Citi, 

pursuant to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received more than $10,000 for 

the loan.   

344. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 11, Buyers 11-A and 11-B 

contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated 

with purchasing Newark Avenue Property D.  Instead, Cohen arranged for the 

payment of $13,500 toward the down payment and $17,735.48 in closing costs, both 

of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 11.  In other words, 

Cohen also induced Buyers 11-A and 11-B to buy the property at an inflated price 

by effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home. 

345. Cohen provided $7,000 to pay off Buyers 11-A’s personal debts, and 

also arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down payment and closing costs, 

to induce Buyers 11-A and 11-B to obtain HUD Loan No. 11 on the basis of an 

inflated valuation for Newark Avenue Property D.  In connection with that sale 

alone, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home and Wolf & Wolf, made more than $80,000 in 

profits from the disbursement of HUD Loan No. 11. 

346. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of Newark Avenue Property D to Buyers 11-

Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS   Document 96    Filed 02/15/12   Page 101 of 210



102 
 

A and 11-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received more than $22,000 in fees and 

resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 11. 

347. Goldberg conspired with the Cambridge Defendants to facilitate 

Cohen’s flip sale of Newark Avenue Property D by inflating the valuation of that 

property and by issuing an appraisal report that failed to comply with HUD 

appraisal standards.  In addition to being paid several hundred dollars for that 

appraisal, Goldberg also ensured that JJG would receive hundreds of additional 

appraisal assignments from Cambridge. 

348. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of Newark Property D, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, and Goldberg used interstate mail carriers and interstate wire to 

transmit documents that contained false and misleading information, including, 

among other documents, false and fraudulent appraisal report, HUD-1 Settlement 

Statement, and HUD Addendum.   

349. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg submitted to 

HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report, the 

HUD-1 Settlement Statement, and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 11.  

Based on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the 

Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg obtained HUD mortgage insurance to HUD 

Loan No. 11.   

350. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using 

interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and 

certifications, including JJG’s appraisal report, the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, 

Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS   Document 96    Filed 02/15/12   Page 102 of 210



103 
 

and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 11.  Based on those false certifications 

and records, they caused Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 11. 

351. Buyers 11-A and 11-B, who never could have afforded Newark Avenue 

Property D at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 11 within 

one and half years of closing, exposing HUD and Citi potentially to more than 

$450,000 in losses. 

352. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, 

and Goldberg violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale 

of HUD Loan No. 1 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and 

wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. 

L. HUD LOAN NO. 12:  SOUTH 3RD AVENUE, MOUNT VERNON 

353. From in or about March 2007 to in or about July 2007, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg conspired to orchestrate 

the flip sale of a property located on South 3rd Avenue in Mount Vernon (the “South 

3rd Avenue Property”) at an inflated price to inexperienced home-buyers who lacked 

the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.   

354. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg 

obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $460,750 used to 

finance the fraudulent flip sale of the South 3rd Avenue Property (“HUD Loan No. 

12”), and sold HUD Loan No. 12 to Citi, by misrepresenting the true cost of home 
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ownership, paying off the buyers’ personal debts to induce them to purchase, 

obtaining an inflated appraisal for the South 3rd Avenue Property, creating false 

records to omit inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with HUD 

requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to Citi. 

355. Specifically, on or about March 15, 2007, Cohen, through Gramercy, 

contracted to acquire the South 3rd Avenue Property from an individual, Jonathan 

King, for $357,000.  Rather than closing on the property, Cohen immediately sought 

to resell it through Metropolitan and Buy-a-Home to inexperienced home-buyers.     

356. Less than three months after he contracted to buy the South 3rd 

Avenue Property, Cohen induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 

12-A and 12-B, to buy that home in June 2007 for $475,000, i.e., approximately 

$120,000 more than what Cohen had contracted to pay.  To circumvent HUD rules 

regarding flip sales, Cohen concealed Gramercy’s contract to buy the South 3rd 

Avenue Property by identifying King as the seller, without disclosing that Gramercy 

stood to gain nearly $120,000 in gross profit from the flip sale. 

357. Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, referred Buyers 12-A and 12-B to 

Lapidus at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from 

Cambridge, based on a corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the 

Cambridge Defendants that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD 

insurance irrespective of whether Buyers 12-A and 12-B qualified for such 

insurance or whether the South 3rd Avenue Property was worth $475,000. 

358. On June 27, 2007, Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 

12-A and 12-B, which required, as a condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, 
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that those buyers pay off several thousand dollars in personal debts they owed to 

creditors such as Bally Total Fitness and Capital One Bank. 

359. On or about April 25, 2007, and again on or about June 28, 2007, 

Goldberg issued an appraisal report for the South 3rd Avenue Property.  Goldberg 

inflated the value of that property by valuing it – “as is” – at the exact price set by 

Cohen, $475,000.  Specifically, Goldberg inflated the value of the South 3rd Avenue 

Property by (i) claiming that no major repairs were needed, when in fact the South 

3rd Avenue Property required, among other things, replacement of both the 

bathroom and the kitchen in the studio unit; (ii) ignoring the sale of the most 

similar property in the neighborhood for $350,000, and instead selecting 

“comparable sales” that were not actually comparable to the South 3rd Avenue 

Property; and (iii) basing the expected rental income for the studio unit at the South 

3rd Avenue Property on the rent charged for one-bedroom apartments in the 

neighborhood. 

360. On June 28, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan No. 

12 for Buyers 12-A and 12-B to purchase the South 3rd Avenue Property.  Derrell, 

acting as the underwriter, certified to HUD that HUD Loan No. 12 met HUD’s 

underwriting requirements.  Further, Hyman, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, 

endorsed HUD Loan No. 12 to HUD for mortgage insurance. 

361. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that all closing conditions 

listed in the commitment letter issued by Cambridge had been met by the time of 

closing on June 28, 2007.  In fact, however, Cambridge knew that Buyers 12-A and  

12-B had not paid off their personal debts prior to closing, because those debts 
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would not be paid off until July 3, 2007, when Cambridge issued approximately 

$3,100 in checks to Buyers 12-A’s and 12-B’s creditors, including Bally Total Fitness 

and Capital One Bank.  Hyman personally signed those checks.  

362. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents, including 

the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, for HUD Loan No. 12 were true and correct.  In 

fact, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it omitted 

the fact that Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, had provided approximately $6,000 in 

funds to pay off Buyers 12-A’s and 12-B’s personal debts, which payment should 

have been reflected on the HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.   

363. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had provided the funds to  pay 

off Buyers 12-A’s and 12-B’s personal debts, the Cambridge Defendants conspired 

with Cohen and the Cohen Entities to create records to assert falsely that the funds 

for paying off those debts had come from Buyers 12-A and 12-B. 

364. Specifically, Derrell created a false note stating that, at closing, 

Cambridge had received $6,000 in cash from Buyers 12-A and 12-B.  According to 

Derrell’s note, Buyers 12-A and 12-B had obtained $6,000 by cashing their 2006 tax 

refund check.  Derrell’s note provided Cambridge with an explanation for why 

Buyers 12-A’s and 12-B’s bank account statements did not reflect their depositing 

the tax refund check and then withdrawing cash to pay Cambridge.  Derrell, 

however, knew that her note was false because Buyers 12-A and 12-B did not give 

any cash to Cambridge.  In fact, one of Cohen’s employees and Lapidus specifically 

promised Buyers 12-A and 12-B that they could purchase the South 3rd Avenue 

Property without contributing any funds upfront. 
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365. Further, Cambridge, through Hyman, also falsely certified HUD Loan 

No. 12 to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that HUD Loan No. 12 

failed to comply with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects: 

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 12 falsely understated the 

amount of personal liabilities for Buyers 12-A and 12-B, by leaving 

out thousands of dollars of debts that they still owed at closing to 

Bally Total Fitness, Capital One Bank, and other creditors;  

b. HUD Loan No. 12 had Qualifying Ratios (38.15% and 47.48%) that 

significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively), 

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and 

c. Goldberg’s appraisal significantly inflated the value for the South 

3rd Avenue Property and had not been conducted in accordance 

with HUD requirements. 

366. On July 27, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 12 to Countrywide, 

pursuant to the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement and received 

approximately $11,000 for that loan. 

367. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 12, Buyers 12-A and 12-B 

contributed only a minimal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated 

with purchasing the South 3rd Avenue Property.  Instead, Cohen, as the seller, paid 

$14,250 toward the down payment and approximately $15,017.62 in closing costs, 

both of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 12.  In other 

words, Cohen induced Buyers 12-A and 12-B to buy the property at an inflated price 

by effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home. 

368. Cohen provided thousands of dollars to pay off Buyers 12-A’s and 12-

B’s their personal debts, and also paid for nearly all of the down payment and 
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closing costs, to induce those buyers to obtain HUD Loan No. 12 based on an 

inflated price for the South 3rd Avenue Property.  In connection with that sale 

alone, Cohen made more than $110,000 in profits, which flowed directly from the 

disbursement of HUD Loan No. 12. 

369. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the South 3rd Avenue Property to Buyers 

12-A and 12-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received approximately $17,500 in 

fees and resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 12.   

370. Goldberg, who provided an inflated appraisal for the South 3rd Avenue 

Property based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with the Cambridge 

Defendants and Cohen, not only was paid $550 for that appraisal, but also ensured 

that he would receive additional appraisal assignments from Cambridge. 

371. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of the South 3rd Avenue Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the 

Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg used interstate mail carriers and interstate 

wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading information, 

including, among other documents, the MCAW form, the appraisal report, the 

HUD-1 Settlement Statement, and the HUD Addendum. 

372. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg submitted to 

HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for 

the South 3rd Avenue Property and the Settlement Statement and HUD Addendum 

for HUD Loan No. 12.  Based on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the 
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Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg obtained HUD mortgage 

insurance to HUD Loan No. 12.   

373. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide, 

using interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and 

certifications, including Goldberg’s appraisal report and the Settlement Statement 

and HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 12.  Based on those false certifications and 

records, they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 12. 

374. Buyers 12-A and 12-B, who never could have afforded the South 3rd 

Avenue Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 12 

within three months of the closing, exposing HUD and Countrywide potentially to 

more than $450,000 in losses. 

375. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, 

and Goldberg violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale 

of HUD Loan No. 12 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and 

wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Countrywide Bank, in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. 

M. HUD LOAN NO. 13:  NEBRASKA AVENUE, BAY SHORE 

376. From in or about April 2007 to in or about August 2007, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline conspired to orchestrate 

the flip sale of a property located on Nebraska Avenue in Bay Shore, Suffolk 

County, New York (the “Nebraska Avenue Property”) at an inflated price to buyers 

who lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.   
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377. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline 

obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $357,445 used to 

finance the fraudulent flip sale of the Nebraska Avenue Property (“HUD Loan No. 

13”), and sold HUD Loan No. 13 to Countrywide, paying off the buyers’ personal 

debts to induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for the Nebraska 

Avenue Property, creating false records to inflate a buyer’s income and to omit 

inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with HUD requirements, 

and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to Countrywide. 

378. Specifically, in or about April 2007, Valed Investors Group, Inc. 

(“Valed”) acquired the Nebraska Avenue Property for $260,000.  Valed then 

retained Cohen and the Cohen Entities to arrange for a flip sale of that property at 

an inflated price. 

379. In or about August 2007, i.e., approximately four months after Valed 

purchased the Nebraska Avenue Property, Cohen, through Metropolitan and Buy-a-

Home, induced three inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 13-A, 13-B and 

13-C, to buy that property for $368,500, i.e., approximately $110,000 more than 

what Valed had paid four months earlier.   

380. Cohen referred Buyers 13-A, 13-B and 13-C to Lapidus at Cambridge 

for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, based on the 

corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants 

that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of 
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whether Buyers 13-A, 13-B and 13-C qualified for such insurance or whether the 

Nebraska Avenue Property was worth $368,500. 

381. On or about August 6, 2007, Micheline issued an appraisal report for 

Nebraska Avenue Property, valuing the property at $370,000.  That appraisal 

report contained an inflated valuation for the property and numerous other 

falsities.   

382. Specifically, Micheline significantly inflated the value of the Nebraska 

Avenue Property because he failed to reduce the value of the property based on the 

existence of a significant external obsolescence – the fact that the Nebraska Avenue 

Property was adjacent to commercial property and a parking lot.  Micheline also 

inflated the value of the appraisal by selecting for sales comparisons properties that 

were not truly comparable to the Nebraska Avenue Property.  Further, Micheline 

falsely certified that his appraisal of the Nebraska Avenue Property had been 

conducted in accordance with HUD appraisal standards.  In fact, Micheline’s 

appraisal failed to comply with numerous HUD standards, including, among others, 

to select suitably comparable sales comparisons and to justify the purported 40% 

appreciation during Valed’s three-month ownership. 

383. On August 7, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No. 

13, Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 13-A, 13-B and 13-C, which 

required, as a condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that those buyers pay 

off or pay down certain student loans and personal debts owed to creditors such as 

Dish Network. 
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384. On August 13, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan  

No. 13, which Derrell, acting as the underwriter, certified as meeting HUD’s 

requirements, and which Kramer, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed for 

HUD mortgage insurance.   

385. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that all closing conditions 

listed in the commitment letter had been met by the time of closing on August 13, 

2007.  In fact, however, Cambridge knew that the buyers had not paid off their 

personal debts prior to closing, because those debts would not be paid off until 

August 14, 2007, when Cambridge issued approximately $4,000 in checks to the 

United States Department of Education and other creditors of Buyers 13-A, 13-B, 

and 13-C.  Hyman personally signed those checks.  

386. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD 

Loan No. 13, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct.  In 

fact, however, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it 

omitted the fact that Cohen had provided funds to Buyers 13-A, 13-B and 13-C to 

pay off Borrower’s personal debts, which payment should have been reflected on the 

HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.   

387. In connection with endorsing HUD Loan No. 13 for HUD mortgage 

insurance, Cambridge also certified to HUD that the Loan Applications and the 

MCAW form for Buyers 13-A and 13-B were true and correct.  In fact, however, the 

Cambridge Defendants conspired with Cohen and the Cohen Entities to falsify 

those records to inflate Buyer 13-A’s income.   
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388. Specifically, Buyer 13-A told Lapidus that, as a seasonal employee, her 

average monthly salary was $833, an amount that was corroborated by pay stubs 

and a verification of employment that Cambridge obtained from Buyer 13-A’s 

employer.  Cambridge, however, inserted $2,392 as Buyer 13-A’s monthly salary 

into her final Loan Application and the MCAW form.  By inflating Buyer 13-A’s 

monthly income, Cambridge fraudulently lowered the Qualifying Ratios for HUD 

Loan No. 13.   

389. Cambridge, through Kramer, also falsely certified HUD Loan No. 13 to 

HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that that loan failed to comply with 

HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects: 

a. HUD Loan No. 13 had an MP/I ratio (36.24%) that significantly 

exceeded HUD thresholds (31%) and did not have any applicable 

compensating factor; and 

b. Micheline’s appraisal for the Nebraska Avenue Property contained 

an inflated valuation for that property and had not been conducted 

in accordance with HUD requirements. 

390. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 13, Buyers 13-A, 13-B, 

and 13-C contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing costs 

associated with purchasing the Nebraska Avenue Property.  Instead, Cohen 

arranged for the payment of $11,055 toward the down payment and $12,586.77 in 

closing costs, both of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 13.  

In other words, Cohen also induced Buyers 13-A, 13-B and 13-C to buy the property 

at an inflated price by effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that 

home. 

Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS   Document 96    Filed 02/15/12   Page 113 of 210



114 
 

391. On or about August 28, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 13 to 

Countrywide, pursuant to the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement and received 

approximately $11,000 for that loan.   

392. Cohen gave thousands of dollars to pay off Buyers 13A’s, 13-B’s and 13-

C’s personal debts, and also arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down 

payment and closing costs, to induce Buyers 13-A, 13-B and 13-C to obtain HUD 

Loan No. 13 on the basis of an inflated valuation for the Nebraska Avenue Property.  

In connection with that sale alone, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, made almost 

$22,000 in fees, from the disbursement of HUD Loan No. 13. 

393. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the Nebraska Avenue Property to Buyers 

13-A, 13-B and 13-C at an inflated price, Cambridge received approximately 

$20,000 in fees and resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 13. 

394. Micheline, who provided an inflated appraisal for the Nebraska 

Avenue Property based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with the 

Cambridge Defendants, not only was paid a fee for that appraisal, but also ensured 

that he would receive additional appraisal referrals from Cambridge. 

395. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of the Nebraska Avenue Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the 

Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline used interstate mail carriers and interstate 

wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading information, 

including, among other documents, false and fraudulent gift affidavits, Loan 

Application, MCAW form, and HUD Addendum.   
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396. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants submitted to HUD numerous 

false records and certifications, including the Loan Application, the MCAW form, 

and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 13.  Based on those false certifications 

and records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline 

obtained HUD mortgage insurance to HUD Loan No. 13.   

397. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide, 

using interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and 

certifications, including the Loan Application, the MCAW form, and the HUD 

Addendum for HUD Loan No. 13.  Based on those false certifications and records, 

they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 13. 

398. Buyers 13-A, 13-B and 13-C, who never could have afforded the 

Nebraska Avenue Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan 

No. 13 within five months of closing, exposing HUD and Countrywide potentially to 

more than $400,000 in losses. 

399. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, 

and Micheline violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and 

sale of HUD Loan No. 13 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit 

mail and wire fraud, affecting a financial institution, namely Countrywide, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. 

N. HUD LOAN NO. 14:  SOUTH 8TH AVENUE, MOUNT VERNON  

400. From in or about February 2007 to in or about May 2007, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg conspired to orchestrate 
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the flip sale of a property located on South 8th Avenue in Mount Vernon, 

Westchester County, New York (“the South 8th Avenue Property”) at an inflated 

price to buyers who lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.   

401. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg 

obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $460,750 used to 

finance the fraudulent flip sale of the South 8th Avenue Property (“HUD Loan No. 

14”), and sold HUD Loan No. 14 to Citi, by paying off the buyers’ personal debts to 

induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for the South 8th Avenue 

Property, creating false records to omit inducements to purchase, falsely certifying 

compliance with HUD requirements, and submitting false and misleading records 

to HUD and to Citi. 

402. In or about February 2007, Cohen, through Treuhold Capital Group 

LLC (an entity that Cohen controlled in 2007), acquired the South 8th Avenue 

Property for $227,500. 

403. Less than a month later, Cohen, through Metropolitan and Buy-a-

Home, induced four inexperienced, first-time home-buyers – Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-

C, and 14-D – to purchase the South 8th Avenue Property for $475,000.  

404. In March 2007, Cohen referred Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-C, and 14-D to 

Lapidus at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from 

Cambridge, based on the corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and 

the Cambridge defendants that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD 
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insurance irrespective of whether Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-C, and 14-D qualified for 

such insurance or whether the South 8th Avenue Property was worth $475,000. 

405. On March 1, 2007, and in connection with originating HUD Loan No. 

14, Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-C, and 14-D, 

which required, as a condition that must be fulfilled prior to closing, that Borrower 

14-A and 14-B pay off personal debts owed to creditors such as DirecTV and 

Verizon. 

406. On or about April 30, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed a 

mortgage loan in the amount of $460,750 to Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-C, and 14-D, 

which Kramer, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed for HUD mortgage 

insurance (“HUD Loan No. 14”). 

407. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that it had obtained an 

appraisal report valuing the South 8th Avenue Property at or above the contracted 

sale price and that the appraisal report had been conducted in accordance with 

HUD appraisal rules.  In fact, however, Goldberg did not issue an appraisal report 

for the South 8th Avenue Property until May 1, 2007.  Further, Goldberg’s report 

inflated the value of the South 8th Avenue Property by failing to account for several 

significant external obsolescence, including the property’s proximity to railroad 

tracks and being adjacent to parking lots and commercial properties, which 

substantially decreased its value.  Goldberg also inflated the value of the South 8th 

Avenue Property by selecting for comparison sales of properties that were not, in 

fact, comparable.  Finally, Goldberg falsely certified compliance with numerous 

HUD appraisal standards, such as stating that he personally conducted the 
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appraisal, whereas the appraisal had, in fact, been conducted by Mark Pitman, 

another JJG appraiser. 

408. Cambridge also certified that all closing conditions listed in the 

commitment letter had been met by the time of closing.  In fact, however, 

Cambridge knew that Buyers 14-A and 14-B had not paid off their personal debts 

prior to closing, because those debts would not be paid off until May 4, 2007, when 

Cambridge issued checks totaling approximately $1,790 to DirecTV, Verizon, and 

other creditors, to pay off debts owed by Buyers 14-A and 14-B.   

409. Cambridge, specifically Kramer, also falsely certified HUD Loan No. 

14 to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that that loan failed to comply 

with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects: 

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 14 falsely understated the 

liabilities of the buyers, including the personal debts that 

Cambridge would pay off, post-closing; 

b. HUD Loan No. 14 had Qualifying Ratios (33.44% and 46.18%) 

that exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively) – 

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and 

c. Goldberg’s appraisal for the South 8th Avenue Property was 

inflated and had not been conducted in accordance with HUD 

appraisal standards. 

410. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 14, Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-

C, and 14-D contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing 

costs associated with purchasing the South 8th Avenue Property.  Instead, Cohen 

arranged for the payments of $14,300 toward down payment and $15,415.42 in 

closing costs, both of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 14.  
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In other words, Cohen induced Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-C, and 14-D to buy the 

property at an inflated price by effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying 

that home. 

411. On or about May 17, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 14 to Citi, 

pursuant to the Citi Loan Purchase Agreement and received approximately $11,000 

for that loan. 

412. Cohen arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down payment 

and closing costs for purposes of inducing Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-C, and 14-D to 

obtain HUD Loan No. 14 based on an inflated valuation for the South 8th Avenue 

Property.  In connection with that sale, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, made $95,330 

in profits, which was paid directly from disbursement from HUD Loan No. 14. 

413. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, and Goldberg to consummate the sale of the South 8th Avenue 

Property to Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-C, and 14-D at an inflated price, Cambridge 

received more than $17,000 in fees and resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan 

No. 14. 

414. Goldberg conspired with the Cambridge Defendants to facilitate the 

Cohen’s flip sale of the South 8th Avenue Property by inflating the valuation of that 

property and by issuing an appraisal report that failed to comply with HUD 

appraisal standards.  In addition to being paid $650 for that appraisal, Goldberg 

also guaranteed that JJG would receive hundreds of additional appraisal 

assignments from Cambridge. 
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415. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of the South 8th Avenue Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the 

Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg used interstate mail carriers and interstate 

wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading information, 

including, among other documents, the appraisal report and the HUD Addendum.   

416. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg submitted to 

HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for 

the South 8th Avenue Property and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 14.  

Based on those false reports and records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, and Goldberg obtained HUD mortgage insurance to HUD Loan No. 14.   

417. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Citi, using 

interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and 

certifications, including Goldberg’s appraisal report and the HUD Addendum for 

HUD Loan No. 14.  Based on those false certifications and records, they caused Citi 

to purchase HUD Loan No. 14. 

418. Buyers 14-A, 14-B, 14-C, and 14-D, who never could have afforded the 

South 8th Avenue Property at the inflated price that Cohen set, defaulted on HUD 

Loan No. 14 within five months of closing, exposing HUD and/or Citi potentially to 

more than $500,000 in losses. 

419. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, 

and Goldberg violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and sale 

of HUD Loan No. 14 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit mail and 
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wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Citibank, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. 

O. HUD LOAN NO. 15:  TOMPKINS PLACE, STATEN ISLAND 

420. In or about June 2007, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, and Micheline conspired to orchestrate the flip sale of a property 

located on Tompkins Place in Staten Island, Richmond County, New York (the 

“Tompkins Place Property”) at an inflated price to buyers who lacked the financial 

wherewithal to purchase the property.   

421. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline 

obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $362,200 used to 

finance the fraudulent flip sale of the Tompkins Place Property (“HUD Loan No. 

15”), and sold HUD Loan No. 15 to Countrywide, by obtaining an inflated appraisal 

for the Tompkins Place Property, falsely certifying compliance with HUD 

requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to 

Countrywide. 

422. In or about June and July 2007, Cohen, through Metropolitan and 

Buy-a-Home, induced two inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 15-A and 

15-B, to buy the Tompkins Place Property and an adjacent property – each for 

$373,500.  

423. Cohen referred Buyers 15-A and 15-B to Lapidus at Cambridge for 

purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, based on the 

corrupt agreement or understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants 
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that Cambridge would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of 

whether Buyers 15-A and 15-B qualified for such insurance or whether the 

Tompkins Place Property was worth $373,500. 

424. Cambridge obtained an inflated appraisal for the Tompkins Place 

Property from Micheline, valuing the property at, $378,000.  Micheline’s appraisal 

report inflated the value of the Tompkins Place Property by selecting for 

comparison sales of properties that were not, in fact, comparable to the Tompkins 

Place Property.  Micheline also failed to conduct a “complete” appraisal, in violation 

of a basic HUD appraisal requirement.   

425. On July 6, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan  

No. 15, which Kramer, acting as the underwriter, certified as meeting HUD’s 

requirements, and which Hyman, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed for 

HUD mortgage insurance.   

426. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents, including 

affidavits stating that both Buyers 15-A and 15-B intended to use the Tompkins 

Place Property as their residence, were true and correct. In fact, however, 

Cambridge knew that Buyers 15-A and 15-B were purchasing two adjacent 

properties simultaneously and intended to reside separately in each of those 

properties.   

427.  Cambridge, specifically Kramer, also falsely certified HUD Loan No. 

15 to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that that loan failed to comply 

with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects: 
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a. HUD Loan No. 15 had Qualifying Ratios (36.17% and 49.40%) that 

significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively)  

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and 

b. Micheline’s appraisal for the Tompkins Place Property contained an 

inflated valuation for that property and had not been conducted in 

accordance with HUD requirements. 

428. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 15, Buyers 15-A and 15-B 

contributed only a nominal amount to the down payment or closing costs associated 

with purchasing the Tompkins Place Property.  Instead, Cohen arranged for the 

payment of $11,205 toward the down payment and $16,191.48 in closing costs, both 

of which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 15.  In other words, 

Cohen also induced Buyers 15-A and 15-B to buy the property at an inflated price 

by effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying that home. 

429. In or about August 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 15 to 

Countrywide, pursuant to the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement, and received 

more than $11,000 for that loan.   

430. Cohen arranged for the payments of nearly all of the down payment 

and closing costs to induce Buyers 15-A and 15-B to obtain HUD Loan No. 15 on the 

basis of an inflated valuation for the Tompkins Place Property.  In connection with 

that sale alone, Cohen, personally and through Buy-a-Home and Mark Wolf, 

received more than $22,000 in fees, from the disbursement of HUD Loan No. 15. 

431. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the Tompkins Place Property to Buyers 
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15-A and 15-B at an inflated price, Cambridge received more than $20,000 in fees 

and resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 15. 

432. Micheline, who provided an inflated appraisal for the Tompkins Place 

Property based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with the Cambridge 

Defendants, not only was paid a fee for that appraisal, but also ensured that he 

would receive additional appraisal referrals from Cambridge 

433. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of the Tompkins Place Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, and Micheline used interstate mail carriers and interstate wire to 

transmit documents that contained false and misleading information. 

434. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Micheline submitted to 

HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for 

the Tompkins Place Property and the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 15.  

Based on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the 

Cambridge Defendants obtained HUD mortgage insurance for HUD Loan No. 15.   

435. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide, 

using interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and 

certifications, including the HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 15.  Based on those 

false certifications and records, they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan 

No. 15. 

436. Buyers 15-A and 15-B, who never could have afforded the Tompkins 

Place Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 15 
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within 90 days of closing, exposing HUD and Countrywide potentially to more than 

$400,000 in losses. 

437. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, 

and Micheline violated 12 U.S.C. § 1833a in connection with the origination and 

sale of HUD Loan No. 15 in that they engaged in a scheme to defraud HUD, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014, and participated in a scheme to commit 

mail and wire fraud affecting a financial institution, namely Countrywide Bank, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. 

P. HUD LOAN NO. 16:  155TH STREET, JAMAICA 

438. From in or about April 2007 to August 2007, Cohen, the Cohen 

Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline conspired to orchestrate the flip 

sale of a property located on 155th Street in Jamaica, New York (the “155th Street 

Property”) at an inflated price to an inexperienced home-buyer who lacked the 

financial wherewithal to purchase the property.   

439. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline 

obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $365,750 used to 

finance the fraudulent flip sale of the 155th Street Property (“HUD Loan No. 16”), 

and sold HUD Loan No. 16 to Countrywide, by misrepresenting the true cost of 

home ownership, paying off the buyer’s personal debts to induce them to purchase, 

obtaining an inflated appraisal for the 155th Street Property, creating false records 

to omit inducements to purchase, falsely certifying compliance with HUD 
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requirements, and submitting false and misleading records to HUD and to 

Countrywide. 

440. Specifically, in or about July 2006, KR Management LLC, a business 

affiliate of Cohen’s, acquired the 155th Street Property for $225,000.  After 

arranging for only limited renovations, KR Management retained Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities in 2007 to arrange a flip sale of the 155th Street Property at a 

significantly inflated price.  

441. In June 2007, Cohen, through Metropolitan and Buy-a-Home, induced 

Buyer 16, an inexperienced, first-time home-buyer, to buy the 155th Street Property 

for $375,000, i.e., $150,000 more than what KR Management had paid less than a 

year earlier.  Specifically, sales agents at Buy-a-Home told Buyer 16 that her 

monthly payments for purchasing the home would be less than $2,100, when in fact 

the true cost of owning the property was approximately $2,950 per month.  Further, 

Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, also promised to pay off Buyer 16’s personal debts.   

442. On or about June 20, 2007, Cohen and the Cohen Entities referred 

Buyer 16 to Lapidus at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a HUD-insured 

mortgage from Cambridge, based on a corrupt agreement or understanding between 

Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants that Cambridge would endorse an 

application for HUD insurance irrespective of whether Buyer 16 qualified for such 

insurance or whether the 155th Street Property was worth $375,000. 

443. On or about July 23, 2007, Cambridge obtained an inflated appraisal 

report for the 155th Street Property from Micheline, valuing it at the exact price 

Cohen set, $375,000.  Specifically, Micheline inflated the value of that home by 
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selecting as “comparable sales” properties that were not actually comparable to the 

155th Street Property, and by ignoring the fact that KR Management did not pay 

for the amount of renovations that would have warranted a $150,000 increase in the 

value of that home. 

444. On August 10, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan 

No. 16 for Buyer 16 to purchase the 155th Street Property.  Kramer, acting as the 

underwriter, certified to HUD that HUD Loan No. 16 met HUD’s underwriting 

requirements.  Further, Derrell, certifying on behalf of Cambridge, endorsed HUD 

Loan No. 16 to HUD for mortgage insurance. 

445. Specifically, Cambridge certified to HUD that the closing documents 

for HUD Loan No. 16, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and 

correct.  In fact, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because 

it omitted the fact that the Cambridge Defendants had conspired with Cohen to pay 

off Buyer 16’s personal debts, which payment should have been reflected on the 

HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.  Specifically, Cambridge sent money orders, 

totaling approximately $700, to Buyer 16’s creditors, post-closing. 

446. Further, to conceal the fact that they had conspired with Cohen to pay 

off Buyer 16’s personal debts to induce her to purchase, the Cambridge Defendants 

created records to assert falsely that the funds for paying off those debts had come 

from Buyers 16’s own funds.   

447. Specifically, Cambridge inserted a note into its file for HUD Loan No. 

16, falsely claiming that, at closing, Buyers 16 had given Cambridge approximately 
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$700 in cash to pay off her debts.  In fact, Buyer 16 did not give Cambridge any 

money in connection with purchasing the 155th Street Property.   

448. Further, Cambridge, through Derrell, also falsely certified HUD Loan 

No. 16 to HUD for mortgage insurance, despite knowing that HUD Loan No. 16 

failed to comply with HUD requirements in, among others, the following respects: 

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 16 falsely understated the 

amount of personal liabilities for Buyer 16, by leaving out the debts 

that she still owed at closing;  

b. HUD Loan No. 16 had Qualifying Ratios (37.92% and 43.32%) that 

significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively), 

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and 

c. Micheline’s appraisal significantly inflated the value for the 155th 

Street Property and had not been conducted in accordance with 

HUD requirements. 

449. On August 27, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 16 to 

Countrywide, pursuant to the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement and received 

approximately $11,000 for that loan. 

450. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 16, Buyer 16 did not 

contribute anything to the down payment or closing costs associated with 

purchasing the 155th Street Property.  Instead, Cohen arranged for payment of all 

down payment and closing costs, which were paid using disbursement from HUD 

Loan No. 16.  In other words, Cohen also induced Buyer 16 to buy the 155th Street 

Property at an inflated price by effectively paying the entire upfront cost of buying 

that home. 
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451. Cohen conspired with the Cambridge Defendants to pay off Buyer 16’s 

personal debts, and also arranged for payment of all the down payment and closing 

costs, to induce Buyer 16 to obtain HUD Loan No. 16 based on an inflated price for 

the 155th Street Property.  In connection with that sale alone, Cohen received, 

through Buy-a-Home, more than $17,500 in fees from the disbursement of HUD 

Loan No. 16. 

452. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the 155th Street Property to Buyer 16 at 

an inflated price, Cambridge received approximately $5,300 in fees for originating 

HUD Loan No. 16.   

453. Micheline, who provided an inflated appraisal for the 155th Street 

Property based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with the Cambridge 

Defendants, not only was paid $450 for that appraisal, but also ensured that he 

would receive additional appraisal referrals from Cambridge. 

454. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of the 155th Street Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, and Micheline used interstate mail carriers and interstate wire to 

transmit documents that contained false and misleading information, including, 

among other documents, the MCAW form, the appraisal report, the HUD-1 

Settlement Statement, and the HUD Addendum. 

455. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants and Micheline submitted to 

HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the appraisal report for 

the 155th Street Property and the Settlement Statement and HUD Addendum for 
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HUD Loan No. 16.  Based on those false certifications and records, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline obtained HUD mortgage 

insurance to HUD Loan No. 16.   

456. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide, 

using interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and 

certifications, including Micheline’s appraisal report and the Settlement Statement 

and HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 16.  Based on those false certifications and 

records, they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 16. 

457. Buyer 16, who never could have afforded the 155th Street Property at 

the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 16 within four months of 

the closing.  As result of that default and the subsequent foreclosure on and 

conveyance of the 155th Street Property, HUD paid out $262,101 in mortgage 

insurance on HUD Loan No. 16. 

458. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, 

and Micheline violated the FCA, specifically 33 U.S.C. §3729(a)(1)(A)–(C), in 

connection with the origination of HUD Loan No. 16 in that they knowingly, or with 

reckless disregard for the truth, (i) caused a false claim for mortgage insurance to 

be presented to, and paid by, HUD; (ii) caused false records and false statements to 

be used or made in connection with the presentation of a claim for mortgage 

insurance to HUD; and (iii) conspired to cause a false mortgage insurance claim for 

be presented to HUD and to cause false records and false statements to be used or 

made in connection with the presentation of a mortgage insurance claim to HUD. 
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Q. HUD LOAN NO. 17:  BEACH 88TH STREET, FAR ROCKAWAY 

459. From in or about June 2007 to September 2007, Cohen, the Cohen 

Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier and Buckley conspired to orchestrate 

the sale of a property located on Beach 88th Street in Far Rockaway, New York (the 

“Beach 88th Street Property”) at an inflated price to inexperienced home-buyers who 

lacked the financial wherewithal to purchase the property.   

460. In furtherance of that conspiracy and pursuant to their corrupt 

agreement, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier and 

Buckley obtained HUD insurance for a mortgage loan in the amount of $421,950 

used to finance the fraudulent sale of the Beach 88th Street Property (“HUD Loan 

No. 17”), and sold HUD Loan No. 17 to Countrywide, by paying off the buyers’ 

personal debts to induce them to purchase, obtaining an inflated appraisal for the 

Beach 88th Street Property, creating false records to omit inducements to purchase, 

falsely certifying compliance with HUD requirements, and submitting false and 

misleading records to HUD and to Countrywide. 

461. Specifically, in or about June 2007, Cohen and the Cohen Entities were 

retained by a business associate of Cohen’s to arrange a sale of the Beach 88th 

Street Property at a significantly inflated price.  

462. On or about August 13, 2007, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, induced 

inexperienced, first-time home-buyers, Buyers 17-A, 17-B, and 17-C, to buy the 

Beach 88th Street Property for $435,000.   

463. On or about June 20, 2007, Cohen and the Cohen Entities referred 

Buyers 17-A, 17-B and 17-C to Lapidus at Cambridge for purposes of obtaining a 
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HUD-insured mortgage from Cambridge, based on a corrupt agreement or 

understanding between Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants that Cambridge 

would endorse an application for HUD insurance irrespective of whether Buyers 17-

A, 17-B, and 17-C qualified for such insurance or whether the Beach 88th Street 

Property was worth $435,000. 

464. On or about July 23, 2007, at Cohen’s direction, Buckley, through 

Premier, issued an inflated appraisal report for the Beach 88th Street Property, 

valuing it at $435,000.  Specifically, Buckley inflated the value of that home by 

ignoring significant differences between the Beach 88th Street Property and the 

properties that Buckley had selected as “comparable sales.”  For example, one of 

those comparable sales, a home on the same street as the Beach 88th Street 

Property, had twice the amount of living space, i.e., 2,200 square feet vs. 1,100 

square feet.  Buckley, however, only attributed $12,000 in value, or less than 3% of 

the sales price, to that difference.  Buckley also issued multiple other appraisals for 

the Beach 88th Street Property, each with the same value inflation and each at the 

direction of Cohen.   

465. On August 22, 2007, Cambridge issued a commitment letter to Buyers 

17-A, 17-B, and 17-C, which required, as a condition that must be fulfilled prior to 

closing, that those buyers pay off several thousand dollars in child support arrears 

and debts they owed to creditors such as Con Edison and the Dish Network. 

466. On August 24, 2007, Cambridge originated and processed HUD Loan 

No. 17 for Buyers 17-A, 17-B, and 17-C to purchase the Beach 88th Street Property.  

Derrell, acting as the underwriter, certified to HUD that HUD Loan No. 17 met 
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HUD’s underwriting requirements.  Further, Kramer, certifying on behalf of 

Cambridge, endorsed HUD Loan No. 17 to HUD for mortgage insurance. 

467. Specifically, Kramer, on behalf of Cambridge, certified to HUD that all 

closing conditions listed in the commitment letter issued by Cambridge had been 

met by the time of closing on August 24, 2007.  In fact, however, Cambridge knew 

that Buyers 17-A, 17-B, and 17-C had not paid off their personal debts prior to 

closing, because those debts would not be paid off until September 17, 2007, when 

Cambridge issued approximately $4,300 in checks to pay off the buyers’ child 

support arrears and other debts.  Hyman personally signed those checks.  

468. Cambridge also certified to HUD that the closing documents for HUD 

Loan No. 17, including the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, were true and correct.  In 

fact, Cambridge knew that the HUD-1 was false and misleading because it omitted 

the fact that Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, had provided funds to Buyers 17-A, 17-B, 

and 17-C to pay off their personal debts, which payment should have been reflected 

on the HUD-1 as an inducement to purchase.   

469. Further, to conceal the fact that Cohen had given $5,000 to Buyers 17-

A, 17-B, and 17-C to induce them to purchase, the Cambridge Defendants created 

fraudulent gift affidavits to assert falsely that the funds for paying off the buyers’ 

personal debts had come from their relatives.   

470. In addition, Cambridge falsely certified HUD Loan No. 17 to HUD for 

mortgage insurance.  In fact, the underwriter at Cambridge initially assigned to 

underwrite HUD Loan No. 17 refused to approve that mortgage loan because it did 

not meet HUD requirements.  Instead of ensuring compliance with HUD rules and 
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regulations, Kramer simply reassigned the loan to Derrell, with specific direction to 

approve it for HUD mortgage insurance, even though that loan did not meet HUD 

requirements in, among others, the following respects: 

a. The MCAW form for HUD Loan No. 17 falsely understated the 

amount of personal liabilities for Buyers 17-A, 17-B and 17-C, by 

leaving out the debts that she still owed at closing;  

b. HUD Loan No. 17 had Qualifying Ratios (52.34% and 52.34%) that 

significantly exceeded HUD thresholds (31% and 43%, respectively), 

and did not have any applicable compensating factor; and 

c. The Premier appraisal issued by Buckley significantly inflated the 

value for the Beach 88th Street Property and had not been 

conducted in accordance with HUD requirements. 

471. On or about September 20, 2007, Cambridge sold HUD Loan No. 17 to 

Countrywide, pursuant to the Countrywide Loan Purchase Agreement and received 

more than $14,000 for that loan. 

472. In connection with obtaining HUD Loan No. 17, Buyers 17-A, 17-B and 

17-C contributed only a minimal amount to the down payment or closing costs 

associated with buying the Beach 88th Street Property.  Instead, Cohen arranged 

for payment of $12,900 in down payment and approximately $13,000 in closing 

costs, which were paid using disbursement from HUD Loan No. 17.  In other words, 

Cohen also induced Buyers 17-A, 17-B and 17-C to buy the Beach 88th Street 

Property at an inflated price by arranging for the payment of nearly the entirety of 

the upfront cost of buying that home. 

473. Cohen provided funds to Buyers 17-A, 17-B and 17-C, and also 

arranged for payment of all the down payment and closing costs, to induce those 
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buyers to obtain HUD Loan No. 17 based on an inflated price for the Beach 88th 

Street Property.  In connection with that sale alone, Cohen received, through Buy-a-

Home and his partner Mark Wolf, more than $24,000 in fees from the disbursement 

of HUD Loan No. 17. 

474. For the Cambridge Defendants’ role in conspiring with Cohen and the 

Cohen Entities to consummate the sale of the Beach 88th Street Property to Buyers 

17-A, 17-B and 17-C at an inflated price, Cambridge received more than $28,000 in 

fees and resale proceeds for originating HUD Loan No. 17.   

475. Buckley, who, through Premier, provided an inflated appraisal for the 

Beach 88th Street Property, based on a corrupt agreement or understanding with 

Cohen and the Cambridge Defendants, not only was paid $450 for that appraisal, 

but also ensured future appraisal referrals from Cohen and further cemented the 

corrupt and lucrative relationship between his business interests and Cohen’s.  See 

supra at ¶ 88. 

476. In connection with executing their scheme to consummate a fraudulent 

flip sale of the Beach 88th Street Property, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the 

Cambridge Defendants, Premier, and Buckley used interstate mail carriers and 

interstate wire to transmit documents that contained false and misleading 

information, including, among other documents, the MCAW form, the appraisal 

report, the HUD-1 Settlement Statement, and the HUD Addendum. 

477. Specifically, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier, and Buckley 

submitted to HUD numerous false records and certifications, including the 

appraisal report for the Beach 88th Street Property and the Settlement Statement 
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and HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 17.  Based on those false certifications and 

records, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Premier, and 

Buckley obtained HUD mortgage insurance to HUD Loan No. 17.   

478. Further, the Cambridge Defendants also submitted to Countrywide, 

using interstate mail carrier and interstate wire, numerous false records and 

certifications, including Buckley’s appraisal report and the Settlement Statement 

and HUD Addendum for HUD Loan No. 17.  Based on those false certifications and 

records, they caused Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 17. 

479. Buyers 17-A, 17-B and 17-C, who never could have afforded the Beach 

88th Street Property at the inflated price Cohen set, defaulted on HUD Loan No. 17 

within three months of the closing.  As result of that default and the subsequent 

foreclosure on and conveyance of the Beach 88th Street Property, HUD has been 

presented with a claim for mortgage insurance on HUD Loan No. 17 in the amount 

of $482,470. 

480. Accordingly, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, 

Premier, and Buckley violated the FCA, specifically 33 U.S.C. §3729(a)(1)(A)–(C), in 

connection with the origination of HUD Loan No. 17 in that they knowingly, or with 

reckless disregard for the truth, (i) caused a false claim for mortgage insurance to 

be presented to HUD; (ii) caused false records and false statements to be used or 

made in connection with the presentation of a claim for mortgage insurance to 

HUD; and (iii) conspired to cause a false mortgage insurance claim for be presented 

to HUD and to cause false records and false statements to be used or made in 

connection with the presentation of a mortgage insurance claim to HUD. 
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AFTER 2007, COHEN, BUY-A-HOME, AND BUCKLEY CONTINUED TO 

ORCHESTRATE FRAUDULENT FLIP SALES USING HUD-INSURED LOANS 

481. In late 2007, Cambridge ceased to originate mortgage loans for flip 

sales arranged by Cohen and Buy-a-Home.  Cohen and Buckley, however, continued 

to orchestrate the mortgage fraud scheme that Cohen perpetrated in connection 

with HUD Loans Nos. 1–17.   

482. In 2010, for example, Cohen used two other entities that he had 

created – Your First Home, LLC (“YFH”) and Tower Wealth Management, LLC 

(“Tower”) – to acquire dozens of residential properties.  After he acquired these 

properties, Cohen had superficial renovations done on these homes by contractors, 

including, frequently, IDU Renovations, Inc. (“IDU Renovations”), a construction 

business Buckley controls.   

483. Through Buy-a-Home, Cohen sought out inexperienced, financially 

unsophisticated home-buyers who were eligible for HUD-insured mortgage loans.  

To lure these inexperienced home-buyers into agreeing to buy his properties at 

inflated prices, Cohen understated the true costs of home-ownership, and gave or 

promised a variety of inducements to purchase, including giving funds to buyers for 

their down payments, paying off buyers’ personal debts, and promising to make 

mortgage payments for buyers.   

484. To obtain financing for his fraudulent flip sales, Cohen cultivated 

relationships with HUD direct endorsers (other than Cambridge) that would 

originate HUD-insured mortgage loans, including, in 2010, First Residential 

Mortgage Services Corp. (“First Residential”).   Further, to justify the inflated prices 
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that Cohen set for his properties, Buckley had a Premier employee set up an 

appraisal management business, A+ Appraisal Management Corp. (“A Plus”), 

through which Cohen and Buckley obtained fraudulent appraisals. 

485. Through these fraudulent means, and as illustrated by the four sample 

transactions described in more detail below, Cohen conspired with Buckley and 

others to orchestrate more than thirty-five flip sales in 2010.   

2010 Cohen Flip Sale No. 1 

486. From in or about March 2010 to in or about June 2010, Cohen, Buy-a-

Home, and Buckley conspired to orchestrate the flip sale of a house on Prospect 

Avenue in the Bronx (the “Prospect Avenue Property”) at an inflated price, by 

fraudulently obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage loan.   

487. In or about March 2010, Cohen, through Tower, acquired the Prospect 

Avenue Property for approximately $215,000.  Cohen then had IDU Renovations, 

Buckley’s construction business, install new fixtures and appliances and make 

superficial repairs at that property to create the impression that it had been fully 

renovated.  In fact, however, Buckley failed to make certain basic repairs to the 

Prospect Avenue Property, including to repair or replace the chimney, which was 

leaning and not properly secured, and to repair the roof, sections of which were 

sagging and accumulating water.  

488. In May 2010, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, found two inexperienced 

home buyers for the Prospect Avenue Property (“2010 Buyers 1-A and 1-B”).  To 

convince these buyers to purchase the property from him at an inflated price, Cohen 

promised to make major repairs to the property before and after the closing.  
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Further, to induce these buyers to purchase, Cohen had his sales agent Mohammed 

Ibrahim, and manager Erin Davis, provide $10,000 in cash to 2010 Buyers 1-A and 

1-B for their down payment.   

489. On or about June 10, 2010, Cohen sold the Prospect Avenue Property 

for $480,000, i.e., more than twice what he had paid for the home in March 2010, to 

2010 Buyers 1-A and 1-B, who obtained a HUD-insured mortgage loan from First 

Residential in the amount of $463,200.  At the closing, Cohen caused to be executed 

a false HUD-1 settlement statement indicating that no inducement to purchase had 

been made in connection with the sale,  whereas, in fact, Cohen had given the 

buyers $10,000 for down payment. 

490. Further, to obtain the HUD-insured mortgage loan, Cohen and 

Buckley, through A Plus, obtained an appraisal from Peter Sarafian, an appraiser 

who had worked for Buckley at Premier, that misstated the condition of the 

Prospect Avenue Property and inflated its value.  Among other things, Sarafian’s 

appraisal falsely described the Prospect Avenue Property as being “in an above 

average maintained condition with no inadequacies for repairs,” and falsely 

certified that the appraisal was based on suitably comparable sales comparisons.   

491. Through their fraudulent devices, Cohen and Buckley each earned tens 

of thousands of dollars in connection with the sale of the Prospect Avenue Property.  

2010 Buyers 1-A and 1-B, however, were left with a home in need of numerous 

repairs, as well as mortgage payments that they could barely afford.   

492. In January 2011, 2010 Buyers 1-A and 1-B defaulted on their mortgage 

loan.   Although these buyers subsequently were able to catch up on their mortgage 
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payments, HUD remains exposed to the risk of substantial loss on its mortgage 

insurance for the Prospect Avenue Property. 

2010 Cohen Flip Sale No. 2 

493. From in or about May 2010 to in or about August 2010, Cohen, Buy-a-

Home, and Buckley conspired to orchestrate the flip sale of a house on 165th Street 

in Queens (the “165th Street Property”) at an inflated price, by fraudulently 

obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage loan. 

494. In or about May 2010, Cohen, through YFH, acquired the 165th Street 

Property for approximately $126,000.  Cohen then had IDU Renovations, Buckley’s 

construction business, install new fixtures and appliances and make superficial 

repairs at that property to create the impression that it had been fully renovated.  

In fact, however, Buckley failed to make certain fundamental repairs to the 165th 

Street Property, such as to address a serious termite infestation.  

495. In July 2010, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, found two inexperienced 

home-buyers for the 165th Street Property (“2010 Buyers 2-A and 2-B”).  To induce 

these buyers to purchase the home from him at an inflated price, Cohen promised to 

make the first two mortgage payments.  Further, to create the appearance that the 

buyers received a $8,500 gift from a family member for the down payment, Cohen 

also had his sales agents deposit, and then withdraw, $8,500 from the bank account 

of 2010 Buyer 2-A’s brother, and then create a false gift affidavit from the brother.  

496. On or about August 26, 2010, Cohen sold the 165th Street Property for 

$327,500, i.e., more than two and half times what he had paid for the home in May, 

to 2010 Buyers 2-A and 2-B, who obtained a HUD-insured mortgage loan from First 
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Residential in the amount of $323,147.  At the closing, Cohen caused to be executed 

a false HUD-1 settlement statement indicating that no inducement to purchase had 

been made or promised in connection with the sale, whereas, in fact, Cohen had 

given the buyers $8,500 for down payments and also promised to make the first two 

mortgage payments on their behalf. 

497. Further, to obtain the HUD-insured mortgage loan, Cohen and 

Buckley, through A Plus, obtained from Peter Sarafian an appraisal that misstated 

the condition of the 165th Street Property and inflated its value.  Among other 

things, Sarafian’s appraisal ignored the costs required to cure the termite 

infestation at the 165th Street Property, underestimated the costs of other repairs 

that were needed for the property, and falsely certified that it was based on suitably 

comparable sales comparisons.   

498. Through their fraudulent devices, Cohen and Buckley each earned tens 

of thousands of dollars in connection with the sale of the 165th Street Property.  

2010 Buyers 2-A and 2-B, however, were left with a home in need of urgent repairs, 

as well as mortgage payments that they could barely afford.   

499. In December 2010, 2010 Buyers 2-A and 2-B defaulted on their 

mortgage loan.   Although these buyers subsequently were able to catch up on their 

mortgage payments, HUD remains exposed to the risk of substantial loss on its 

mortgage insurance for the 165th Street Property. 

2010 Cohen Flip Sale No. 3 

500. From in or about May 2010 to in or about September 2010, Cohen, 

Buy-a-Home, and Buckley conspired to orchestrate the flip sale of a house on 
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Olmstead Avenue in the Bronx (the “Olmstead Avenue Property”) at an inflated 

price, by fraudulently obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage loan. 

501. In or about May 2010, Cohen, through YFH, acquired the Olmstead 

Avenue Property for approximately $207,000.  Cohen then had IDU Renovations, 

Buckley’s construction business, install new fixtures and appliances and make 

superficial repairs at that property to create the impression that it had been fully 

renovated.  In fact, however, Buckley failed to make certain fundamental repairs to 

the Olmstead Avenue Property, such as to repair the basement to prevent flooding.  

502. In August 2010, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, found an inexperienced 

home-buyer for the Olmstead Avenue Property (“2010 Buyer 3”).  To induce that 

buyer to purchase the home from him at an inflated price, and to enhance the 

buyer’s credit history, Cohen paid $3,000 to reduce 2010 Buyer 3’s personal debts. 

503. On or about September 29, 2010, Cohen sold the Olmstead Avenue 

Property for $460,000, i.e., more than twice what he had paid for that home in May, 

to 2010 Buyer 3, who obtained a HUD-insured mortgage loan from First Residential 

in the amount of $453,887.  At the closing, Cohen executed a false HUD-1 

settlement statement indicating that no inducement to purchase had been made or 

promised in connection with the sale, whereas, in fact, Cohen had paid $3,000 to 

reduce the personal debts of 2010 Buyer No. 3. 

504. Further, to obtain the HUD-insured mortgage loan, Buckley issued an 

appraisal that misstated the condition of the Olmstead Avenue Property and 

inflated its value.  Among other things, Buckley falsely certified to HUD that he 

had no personal interest in either the Olmstead Avenue Property or any participant 
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in the sale, whereas, in fact, Cohen paid Buckley’s business, IDU Renovations, 

$60,000 in connection with the sale.  In addition, Buckley’s appraisal for the 

Olmstead Avenue Property also ignored the insufficient repairs to the basement 

and falsely certified that it was based on suitably comparable sales comparisons.   

505. While Cohen and Buckley, through their fraudulent devices, each 

earned tens of thousands of dollars in connection with the sale of the Olmstead 

Avenue Property, their fraudulent scheme, which caused HUD to provide mortgage 

insurance for that property at an inflated value, has exposed HUD to the risk of 

substantial loss.  

2010 Cohen Flip Sale No. 4 

506. From in or about February 2010 to in or about August 2010, Cohen, 

Buy-a-Home, and Buckley conspired to orchestrate the flip sale of a house on East 

167th Street in the Bronx (the “East 167th Street Property”) at an inflated price, by 

fraudulently obtaining a HUD-insured mortgage loan. 

507. In or about February 2010, Cohen, through YFH, acquired the East 

165th Street Property for approximately $210,000.  Cohen then had Felix Soto, one 

of his agents, install new fixtures and appliances and make superficial repairs at 

that property to create the impression that it had been fully renovated.  In fact, 

however, Soto failed to make certain fundamental repairs, such as to address a 

serious vermin infestation or properly repair the home’s foundation.  

508. In July 2010, Cohen, through Buy-a-Home, found an inexperienced 

home-buyer for the East 167th Street Property (“2010 Buyer 4”).  After determining 

that 2010 Buyer 4’s income was insufficient to obtain a HUD-insured mortgage 
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loan, Cohen had the buyer enlist her mother to seek the loan as a co-occupant of the 

home, even though the mother of 2010 Buyer 4 told Cohen that she had no intention 

of residing at that property. 

509. On or about August 13, 2010, Cohen sold the East 167th Street 

Property for $345,000, i.e., more than 50% above what he had paid for the home in 

May, to 2010 Buyer 4, who obtained a HUD-insured mortgage loan from First 

Residential in the amount of $340,415.  In connection with that sale, Cohen caused 

the mother of 2010 Buyer 4 to falsely seek a HUD-insured mortgage loan as a 

borrower, even though she had no intention of residing at the property. 

510. Further, to obtain the HUD-insured mortgage loan, Cohen and 

Buckley, through A Plus, obtained from Peter Sarafian an appraisal that misstated 

the condition of the East 167th Street Property and inflated its value.  Among other 

things, Sarafian’s appraisal understated the costs of repairs that were needed for 

conditions affecting the East 167th Street Property, such as the vermin infestation, 

and falsely certified that it was based on suitably comparable sales comparisons.   

511. While Cohen and Buckley, through their fraudulent devices, together 

earned tens of thousands of dollars in connection with the sale of the Olmstead 

Avenue Property, their fraudulent scheme, which caused HUD to provide mortgage 

insurance for that property at an inflated value, has exposed HUD to the risk of 

substantial loss. 

Cohen’s and Buckley’s Conduct Since December 2010 

512. In December 2010, the United States sought and obtained a temporary 

restraining order, and then a preliminary injunction (the “Injunction”), against 
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Cohen and Buy-a-Home.  In the absence of such injunctive relief, Cohen, together 

with Buckley, would have consummated numerous other flip sales in December 

2010 and early 2011 (attached as Exhibit 6 is a copy of a November 15, 2010 e-mail 

from Cohen, identifying eleven more flip sales to be consummated in December 

2010 and January and February 2011). 

513. In 2011, and notwithstanding the imposition of the Injunction against 

Cohen, Cohen and Buckley continued to attempt to orchestrate flip sales using 

HUD-insured mortgage loans.  Specifically, Cohen, through three businesses 

controlled by his wife Marcia Kaufman, acquired approximately a dozen residential 

properties in early 2011.  Buckley, in turn, contracted with Cohen to provide 

superficial renovations on several of the properties, so that Cohen could then try to 

resell these homes at inflated prices to inexperienced buyers who would seek HUD-

insured mortgage loans.  In December 2011, Cohen was held in contempt by the 

Court on account of his willful violation of the Injunction in 2011.  

514. Moreover, even after the United States put Cohen on notice in June  

2011 that he had violated the Injunction by participating in residential real estate 

sales transactions involving HUD-insured financing, Cohen resorted to yet another 

mortgage fraud scheme using Fixing Houses, Inc. – a business controlled by his 

long-time contractor Louis Astuto – as a conduit.  Specifically, from October to 

December 2011, and through Fixing Houses, Cohen attempted to orchestrate 

additional fraudulent flip sales targeting inexperienced home-buyers eligible for 

HUD-insured loans.  Put simply, absent permanent injunctive relief against Cohen 
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and Buckley, they can be expected to continue their fraudulent schemes to profit 

from flip sales, at the expense of HUD and inexperienced home-buyers. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 1 
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Buckley, 

Buckley Consulting, and Micheline) 

515. Allegations in paragraphs 1–514 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference.  

516. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for 

HUD Loan No. 1, which was used to finance the flip sale of the 116th Street 

Property, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Buckley, Buckley Consulting (formerly 

Premier), and Micheline unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly created false and 

fraudulent records, prepared a false and inflated appraisal, made false 

certifications, and submitted or intended to be submitted such false and fraudulent 

records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 1006 and 1014. 

517. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the 116th Street 

Property, at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully, 

and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants, 

CFG, Buckley, Buckley Consulting, and Micheline to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 

1014.  Specifically, it was a part and an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge 

Defendants, Buckley, Buckley Consulting, and Micheline would unlawfully, 

willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare false and 

inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and fraudulent 
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records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA.  Moreover, in 

furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge 

Defendants, Buckley, Buckley Consulting, and Micheline committed numerous 

overt acts, including, among other acts, the creation of false records omitting the 

payment that Cohen made to Buyers 1-A and 1-B to induce them to purchase, the 

preparation of an inflated appraisal for the 116th Street Property, the making of 

false certifications regarding HUD Loan No. 1, and the submission of such false 

records, appraisal, and certifications to HUD and FHA. 

518. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale 

of the 116th Street Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy, 

Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Buckley, Buckley 

Consulting, and Micheline unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme 

and artifice to defraud, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.  Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, 

the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Buckley, Buckley Consulting, and Micheline 

fraudulently induced or intended to induce Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 1 from 

Cambridge by sending to Countrywide false, fraudulent and misleading records, 

appraisal, and certifications, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire.  

Further, as HUD Loan No. 1 defaulted within months of its being purchased by 

Citi, this scheme to defraud has affected Countrywide Bank, a financial institution. 

519. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, CFG, Buckley, Buckley Consulting, and Micheline is liable for civil 

penalties to the maximum amount authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a. 
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SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 2 
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants) 

520. Allegations in paragraphs 1-519 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference.  

521. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for 

HUD Loan No. 2, which was used to finance the flip sale of Newark Avenue 

Property A, the Cambridge Defendants unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly created 

false and fraudulent records, made false certifications, and submitted such false 

and fraudulent records and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. 

522. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of Newark Avenue 

Property A at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully, 

and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants to 

violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.  Specifically, it was a part and an object of the 

conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants would unlawfully, willfully, and 

knowingly create false and fraudulent records, make false certifications, and submit 

such false and fraudulent records and certifications to HUD and to FHA.  Moreover, 

in furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the 

Cambridge Defendants committed numerous overt acts, including, among other 

acts, the creation of false records inflating Buyer 2-A’s income and omitting the 

payment that Cohen made to Buyers 2-A and 2-B to induce them to purchase, the 

Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS   Document 96    Filed 02/15/12   Page 148 of 210



149 
 

making of false certifications regarding HUD Loan No. 2, and the submission of 

such false records and certifications to HUD and FHA. 

523. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale 

of Newark Avenue A and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy, Cohen, 

the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants unlawfully, willfully, and 

knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud, using interstate mail carriers 

and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.  Specifically, Cohen, 

the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants fraudulently induced Citi to 

purchase HUD Loan No. 2 from Cambridge by sending to Citi false, fraudulent and 

misleading records and certifications, using interstate mail carrier and interstate 

wire.  Further, as HUD Loan No. 2 defaulted within months of its being purchased 

by Citi, this scheme to defraud has affected Citibank, a financial institution. 

524. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge 

Defendants is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount authorized under 12 

U.S.C. § 1833a. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 3 
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,  

Buckley Consulting, and Buckley) 

525. Allegations in paragraphs 1-524 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference. 

526. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for 

HUD Loan No. 3, which was used to finance the flip sale of the York Avenue 

Property, the Cambridge Defendants, Buckley Consulting (formerly Premier), and 
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Buckley unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly created false and fraudulent records, 

prepared a false and inflated appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted 

such false and fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to 

FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. 

527. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the York Avenue 

Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully, 

and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants, 

Buckley Consulting, and Buckley to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.  

Specifically, it was a part and an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge 

Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley would unlawfully, willfully, and 

knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare false and inflated 

appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and fraudulent records, 

appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA.  Moreover, in furtherance of the 

conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge Defendants, 

Buckley Consulting, and Buckley committed numerous overt acts, including, among 

other acts, the creation of false records omitting the payment that Cohen had made 

to Buyers 3-A and 3-B to induce them to purchase, the preparation of an inflated 

appraisal for the York Avenue Property, the making of false certifications regarding 

HUD Loan No. 3, and the submission of such false records, appraisal, and 

certifications to HUD and FHA. 

528. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale 

of the York Avenue Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy, 

Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and 

Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS   Document 96    Filed 02/15/12   Page 150 of 210



151 
 

Buckley unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to 

defraud, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 1341 and 1343.  Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley fraudulently induced Countrywide to 

purchase HUD Loan No. 3 from Cambridge by sending to Countrywide false, 

fraudulent and misleading records, appraisal, and certifications, using interstate 

mail carriers and interstate wire.  Further, as HUD Loan No. 3 defaulted within 

months of its being purchased by Countrywide, this scheme to defraud has affected 

Countrywide Bank, a financial institution. 

529. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley is liable for civil penalties to the 

maximum amount authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a. 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 4 
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg) 

530. Allegations in paragraphs 1-529 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference. 

531. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for 

HUD Loan No. 4, which was used to finance the flip sale of the Beach 46th Street 

Property, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg unlawfully, willfully, and 

knowingly created false and fraudulent records, prepared a false and inflated 

appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted such false and fraudulent 
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records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 1006 and 1014. 

532. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the Beach 46th Street 

Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully, 

and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants 

and Goldberg to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.  Specifically, it was a part and 

an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg would 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare 

false and inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and 

fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA.  Moreover, in 

furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge 

Defendants and Goldberg committed numerous overt acts, including, among other 

acts, the creation of false records inflating the incomes of Buyers 4-A and 4-B, the 

preparation of an inflated appraisal for the Beach 46th Street Property, the making 

of false certifications regarding HUD Loan No. 4, and the submission of such false 

records, appraisal, and certifications to HUD and FHA. 

533. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale 

of the Beach 46th Street Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud 

conspiracy, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud, 

using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 

and 1343.  Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and 

Goldberg fraudulently induced Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 4 from Cambridge 
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by sending to Citi false, fraudulent and misleading records, appraisal, and 

certifications, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire.  Further, as HUD 

Loan No. 4 defaulted within months of its being purchased by Citi, this scheme to 

defraud has affected Citibank, a financial institution. 

534. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants and Goldberg is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount 

authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a. 

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 5 
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg) 

535. Allegations in paragraphs 1-534 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference. 

536. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for 

HUD Loan No. 5, which was used to finance the flip sale of the Nicholas Avenue 

Property, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg unlawfully, willfully, and 

knowingly created false and fraudulent records, prepared a false and inflated 

appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted such false and fraudulent 

records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 1006 and 1014. 

537. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the Nicholas Avenue  

Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully, 

and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants 

and Goldberg to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.  Specifically, it was a part and 
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an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg would 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare 

false and inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and 

fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA.  Moreover, in 

furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge 

Defendants and Goldberg committed numerous overt acts, including, among other 

acts, the creation of false records omitting the payment that Cohen had made to 

Buyers 5-A and 5-B to induce them to purchase, the preparation of an inflated 

appraisal for the Nicholas Avenue Property, the making of false certifications 

regarding HUD Loan No. 5, and the submission of such false records, appraisal, and 

certifications to HUD and FHA. 

538. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale 

of the Nicholas Avenue Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud 

conspiracy, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud, 

using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 

and 1343.  Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and 

Goldberg fraudulently induced Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 5 from Cambridge 

by sending to Citi false, fraudulent and misleading records, appraisal, and 

certifications, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire.  Further, as HUD 

Loan No. 5 defaulted within months of its being purchased by Citi, this scheme to 

defraud has affected Citibank, a financial institution. 
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539. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, and Goldberg is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount 

authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a. 

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 6 
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG,  

Buckley Consulting, and Buckley) 

540. Allegations in paragraphs 1-539 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference. 

541. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for 

HUD Loan No. 6, which was used to finance the flip sale of the Alaska Street 

Property, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Buckley Consulting (formerly Premier), 

and Buckley unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly created false and fraudulent 

records, prepared a false and inflated appraisal, made false certifications, and 

submitted such false and fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD 

and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. 

542. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the Alaska Street 

Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully, 

and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants, 

CFG, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.  

Specifically, it was a part and an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge 

Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley would unlawfully, willfully, and 

knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare false and inflated 

appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and fraudulent records, 
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appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA.  Moreover, in furtherance of the 

conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge Defendants, 

Buckley Consulting, and Buckley committed numerous overt acts, including, among 

other acts, the creation of false records omitting the payment that Cohen had made 

to Buyers 6-A and 6-B to induce them to purchase, the preparation of an inflated 

appraisal for the Alaska Street Property, the making of false certifications 

regarding HUD Loan No. 6, and the submission of such false records, appraisal, and 

certifications to HUD and FHA. 

543. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale 

of the Alaska Street Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy, 

Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, CFG, Buckley Consulting, 

and Buckley unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to 

defraud, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 1341 and 1343.  Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, CFG, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley fraudulently induced Citi to 

purchase HUD Loan No. 6 from Cambridge by sending to Citi false, fraudulent and 

misleading records, appraisal, and certifications, using interstate mail carriers and 

interstate wire.  Further, as HUD Loan No. 6 defaulted within months of its being 

purchased by Citi, this scheme to defraud has affected Citibank, a financial 

institution. 

544. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge  

Defendants, CFG, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley is liable for civil penalties to 

the maximum amount authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a. 
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SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 7 
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg) 

545. Allegations in paragraphs 1-544 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference. 

546. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for 

HUD Loan No. 7, which was used to finance the flip sale of Newark Avenue 

Property B, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg unlawfully, willfully, and 

knowingly created false and fraudulent records, prepared a false and inflated 

appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted such false and fraudulent 

records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 1006 and 1014. 

547. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of Newark Avenue 

Property B at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully, 

and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants 

and Goldberg to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.  Specifically, it was a part and 

an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg would 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare 

false and inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and 

fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA.  Moreover, in 

furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge 

Defendants and Goldberg committed numerous overt acts, including, among other 

acts, the creation of false records omitting the payment that Cohen had made to 
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Buyers 7-A and 7-B to induce them to purchase, the preparation of an inflated 

appraisal for Newark Avenue Property B, the making of false certifications 

regarding HUD Loan No. 7, and the submission of such false records, appraisal, and 

certifications to HUD and FHA. 

548. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale 

of Newark Avenue Property B and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy, 

Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg unlawfully, 

willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud, using interstate 

mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.  

Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg 

fraudulently induced Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 7 from Cambridge by sending 

to Citi false, fraudulent and misleading records, appraisal, and certifications, using 

interstate mail carriers and interstate wire.  Further, as HUD Loan No. 7 defaulted 

within months of its being purchased by Citi, this scheme to defraud has affected 

Citibank, a financial institution. 

549. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, and Goldberg is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount 

authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a. 

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 8 
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,  

Buckley Consulting, and Buckley) 

550. Allegations in paragraphs 1-549 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference. 
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551. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for 

HUD Loan No. 8, which was used to finance the flip sale of Newark Avenue 

Property C, the Cambridge Defendants, Buckley Consulting (formerly Premier), and 

Buckley unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly created false and fraudulent records, 

prepared a false and inflated appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted 

such false and fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to 

FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. 

552. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the East Tremont 

Avenue Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, 

willfully, and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge 

Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 

1014.  Specifically, it was a part and an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge 

Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley would unlawfully, willfully, and 

knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare false and inflated 

appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and fraudulent records, 

appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA.  Moreover, in furtherance of the 

conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge Defendants, 

Buckley Consulting, and Buckley committed numerous overt acts, including, among 

other acts, the preparation of an inflated appraisal for Newark Avenue Property C, 

the making of false certifications regarding HUD Loan No. 8, and the submission of 

such false records, appraisal, and certifications to HUD and FHA. 

553. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale 

of Newark Avenue Property C and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy, 
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Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and 

Buckley unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to 

defraud, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 1341 and 1343.  Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley fraudulently induced Citi to purchase 

HUD Loan No. 8 from Cambridge by sending to Citi false, fraudulent and 

misleading records, appraisal, and certifications, using interstate mail carriers and 

interstate wire.  Further, as HUD Loan No. 8 defaulted within months of its being 

purchased by Citi, this scheme to defraud has affected Citibank, a financial 

institution. 

554. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley is liable for civil penalties to the 

maximum amount authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a. 

NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 9 
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg) 

555. Allegations in paragraphs 1-554 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference. 

556. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for 

HUD Loan No. 9, which was used to finance the flip sale of the East Tremont 

Avenue Property, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg unlawfully, willfully, 

and knowingly created false and fraudulent records, prepared a false and inflated 

appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted such false and fraudulent 
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records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 1006 and 1014. 

557. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the East Tremont 

Avenue Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, 

willfully, and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge 

Defendants and Goldberg to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.  Specifically, it was 

a part and an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg 

would unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, 

prepare false and inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such 

false and fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA.  

Moreover, in furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, 

the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg committed numerous overt acts, including, 

among other acts, the creation of false records omitting the payment that Cohen 

had made to Buyers 9-A, 9-B, and 9-C to induce them to purchase, the preparation 

of an inflated appraisal for the East Tremont Avenue Property, the making of false 

certifications regarding HUD Loan No. 9, and the submission of such false records, 

appraisal, and certifications to HUD and FHA. 

558. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale 

of the East Tremont Avenue Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud 

conspiracy, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud, 

using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 

and 1343.  Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and 
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Goldberg fraudulently induced Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 9 from Cambridge 

by sending to Citi false, fraudulent and misleading records, appraisal, and 

certifications, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire.  Further, as HUD 

Loan No. 9 defaulted within months of its being purchased by Citi, this scheme to 

defraud has affected Citibank, a financial institution. 

559. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, and Goldberg is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount 

authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a. 

TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 10 
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants) 

560. Allegations in paragraphs 1-559 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference. 

561. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for 

HUD Loan No. 10, which was used to finance the flip sale of the Barkley Avenue 

Property, the Cambridge Defendants unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly created 

false and fraudulent records, made false certifications, and submitted such false 

and fraudulent records and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. 

562. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the Barkley Avenue 

Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully, 

and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants to 

violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.  Specifically, it was a part and an object of the 
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conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants would unlawfully, willfully, and 

knowingly create false and fraudulent records, make false certifications, and submit 

such false and fraudulent records and certifications to HUD and to FHA.  Moreover, 

in furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the 

Cambridge Defendants committed numerous overt acts, including, among other 

acts, the creation of false records omitting the inducements to purchase that Cohen 

had provided to Buyers 10-A and 10-B – namely, paying off their personal debts and 

promising to make mortgage payments on their behalves, the making of false 

certifications regarding HUD Loan No. 10, and the submission of such false records 

and certifications to HUD and FHA. 

563. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale 

of the Barkley Avenue Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy, 

Cohen, the Cohen Entities and the Cambridge Defendants unlawfully, willfully, and 

knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud, using interstate mail carriers 

and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.  Specifically, Cohen, 

the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants fraudulently induced Citi to 

purchase HUD Loan No. 10 from Cambridge by sending to Citi false, fraudulent 

and misleading records and certifications, using interstate mail carriers and 

interstate wire.  Further, as HUD Loan No. 10 defaulted within months of its being 

purchased by Citi, this scheme to defraud has affected Citibank, a financial 

institution. 
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564. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities and the Cambridge 

Defendants is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount authorized under 12 

U.S.C. § 1833a. 

ELEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 11 
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg) 

565. Allegations in paragraphs 1-564 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference. 

566. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for 

HUD Loan No. 11, which was used to finance the flip sale of Newark Avenue 

Property D, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg unlawfully, willfully, and 

knowingly created false and fraudulent records, made false certifications, issued an 

inflated appraisal, and submitted such false and fraudulent records, certifications, 

and appraisal to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014. 

567. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of Newark Avenue 

Property D at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully, 

and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants 

and Goldberg to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.  Specifically, it was a part and 

an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg would 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, make false 

certifications, issue an inflated appraisal, and submit such false and fraudulent 

records, certifications, and appraisal to HUD and to FHA.  Moreover, in furtherance 

of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge Defendants 
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and Goldberg committed numerous overt acts, including, among other acts, the 

creation of false records omitting the payment that Cohen had made to Buyers 11-A 

and 11-B to induce them purchase, the making of false certifications regarding 

HUD Loan No. 11, the issuance of an inflated appraisal, and the submission of such 

false records, certifications, and appraisal to HUD and FHA. 

568. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale 

of Newark Avenue Property D and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy, 

Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg unlawfully, 

willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud, using interstate 

mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.  

Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg 

fraudulently induced Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 11 from Cambridge by 

sending to Citi false, fraudulent and misleading records, certifications, and 

appraisal using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire.  Further, as HUD Loan 

No. 11 defaulted within months of its being purchased by Citi, this scheme to 

defraud has affected Citibank, a financial institution. 

569. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, and Goldberg is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount 

authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a. 
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TWELFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 12 
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, and the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg) 

570. Allegations in paragraphs 1-569 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference.  

571. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for 

HUD Loan No. 12, which was used to finance the flip sale of the South 3rd Avenue 

Property, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg unlawfully, willfully, and 

knowingly created false and fraudulent records, prepared a false and inflated 

appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted such false and fraudulent 

records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 1006 and 1014. 

572. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the South 3rd Avenue 

Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully, 

and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants 

and Goldberg to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.  Specifically, it was a part and 

an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg would 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare 

false and inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and 

fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA.  Moreover, in 

furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge 

Defendants and Goldberg committed numerous overt acts, including, among other 

acts, the creation of false records omitting the funds that Cohen had provided to 
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induce Buyers 12-A and 12-B to purchase, the preparation of an inflated appraisal 

for the South 3rd Avenue Property, the making of false certifications regarding HUD 

Loan No. 12, and the submission of such false records, appraisal, and certifications 

to HUD and FHA. 

573. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale 

of the South 3rd Avenue Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud 

conspiracy, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud, 

using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 

and 1343.  Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and 

Goldberg fraudulently induced Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 12 from 

Cambridge by sending to Countrywide false, fraudulent and misleading records, 

appraisal, and certifications, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire.  

Further, as HUD Loan No. 12 defaulted within months of its being purchased by 

Citi, this scheme to defraud has affected Countrywide Bank, a financial institution. 

574. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, and Goldberg is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount 

authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a. 

THIRTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 13 
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline) 

575. Allegations in paragraphs 1-574 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference. 
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576. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for 

HUD Loan No. 13, which was used to finance the flip sale of the Nebraska Avenue 

Property, the Cambridge Defendants and Micheline unlawfully, willfully, and 

knowingly created false and fraudulent records, prepared a false and inflated 

appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted such false and fraudulent 

records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 1006 and 1014. 

577. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the Nebraska Avenue 

Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully, 

and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants 

and Micheline to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.  Specifically, it was a part and 

an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Micheline would 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare 

false and inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and 

fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA.  Moreover, in 

furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge 

Defendants and Micheline committed numerous overt acts, including, among other 

acts, the creation of false records disguising the funds that Cohen provided to 

induce Buyers 13-A, 13-B, and 13-C to purchase, the preparation of an inflated 

appraisal for the Nebraska Avenue Property, the making of false certifications 

regarding HUD Loan No. 13, and the submission of such false records, appraisal, 

and certifications to HUD and FHA. 
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578. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale 

of the Nebraska Avenue Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud 

conspiracy, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud, 

using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 

and 1343.  Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and 

Micheline fraudulently induced Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 13 from 

Cambridge by sending to Countrywide false, fraudulent and misleading records, 

appraisal, and certifications, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire.  

Further, as HUD Loan No. 13 defaulted within months of its being purchased by 

Countrywide, this scheme to defraud has affected Countrywide Bank, a financial 

institution. 

579. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, and Micheline is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount 

authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a. 

FOURTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 14 
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg)  

580. Allegations in paragraphs 1-579 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference. 

581. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for 

HUD Loan No. 14, which was used to finance the flip sale of the South 8th Avenue 

Property, the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg unlawfully, willfully, and 
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knowingly created false and fraudulent records, prepared a false and inflated 

appraisal, made false certifications, and submitted such false and fraudulent 

records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 1006 and 1014. 

582. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the South 8th Avenue  

Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully, 

and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants 

and Goldberg to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.  Specifically, it was a part and 

an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Goldberg would 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare 

false and inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and 

fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA.  Moreover, in 

furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge 

Defendants and Goldberg committed numerous overt acts, including, among other 

acts, the preparation of an inflated appraisal for the South 8th Avenue Property, the 

making of false certifications regarding HUD Loan No. 14, and the submission of 

such false records, appraisal, and certifications to HUD and FHA. 

583. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale 

of the South 8th Avenue Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud 

conspiracy, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Goldberg 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud, 

using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 

and 1343.  Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and 
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Goldberg fraudulently induced Citi to purchase HUD Loan No. 314 from Cambridge 

by sending to Citi false, fraudulent and misleading records, appraisal, and 

certifications, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire.  Further, as HUD 

Loan No. 14 defaulted within months of its being purchased by Citi, this scheme to 

defraud has affected Citibank, a financial institution. 

584. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, and Goldberg is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount 

authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a. 

FIFTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER FIRREA IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 15 
(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline) 

585. Allegations in paragraphs 1-584 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference. 

586. For purposes of fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for 

HUD Loan No. 15, which was used to finance the flip sale of the Tompkins Place 

Property, the Cambridge Defendants and Micheline unlawfully, willfully, and 

knowingly created false and fraudulent records, prepared an inflated appraisal, 

made false certifications, and submitted such false and fraudulent records, 

appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 

and 1014. 

587. In connection with orchestrating the flip sale of the Tompkins Place 

Property at an inflated price, Cohen and the Cohen Entities unlawfully, willfully, 

and knowingly combined, conspired, and agreed with the Cambridge Defendants 

Case 1:10-cv-09280-LGS   Document 96    Filed 02/15/12   Page 171 of 210



172 
 

and Micheline to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1006 and 1014.  Specifically, it was a part and 

an object of the conspiracy that the Cambridge Defendants and Micheline would 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly create false and fraudulent records, prepare 

false and inflated appraisals, make false certifications, and submit such false and 

fraudulent records, appraisals, and certifications to HUD and to FHA.  Moreover, in 

furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the illegal objects thereof, the Cambridge 

Defendants and Micheline committed numerous overt acts, including, among other 

acts, the creation of false records claiming that Buyers 15-A and 15-B both intended 

to use the Tompkins Place Property as their primary residence, the preparation of 

an inflated appraisal for the Tompkins Place Property, the making of false 

certifications regarding HUD Loan No. 15, and the submission of such false records, 

appraisal, and certifications to HUD and FHA. 

588. Further, for purposes of obtaining financing for the fraudulent flip sale 

of the Tompkins Place Property and for continuing their mortgage fraud conspiracy, 

Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline unlawfully, 

willfully, and knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud, using interstate 

mail carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.  

Specifically, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline 

fraudulently induced Countrywide to purchase HUD Loan No. 15 from Cambridge 

by sending to Countrywide false, fraudulent and misleading records, appraisal, and 

certifications, using interstate mail carriers and interstate wire.  Further, as HUD 

Loan No. 15 defaulted within months of its being purchased by Countrywide, this 

scheme to defraud has affected Countrywide Bank, a financial institution. 
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589. Accordingly, each of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge 

Defendants, and Micheline is liable for civil penalties to the maximum amount 

authorized under 12 U.S.C. § 1833a. 

SIXTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR TREBLE DAMAGES AND CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER THE FCA  
IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 16 

(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline) 

590. Allegations in paragraphs 1-589 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference.  

591. The United States seeks treble damages and civil penalties against 

Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline because they 

fraudulently obtained HUD insurance for HUD Loan No. 16 for the sale of the 155th 

Street Property to Buyer 16, in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(1)(A)–(C). 

592. Specifically, as set forth above, see supra at ¶¶ 438 – 458, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline knowingly, or with 

reckless disregard for the truth, caused a false claim for mortgage insurance 

coverage for HUD Loan No. 16 to be presented to an officer, employee, or agent of 

the United States, namely HUD, in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(1)(A).   

593. Further, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and 

Micheline knowingly, or with reckless disregard for the truth, caused false records 

and false statements to be made or used to get a false claim for mortgage insurance 

coverage for HUD Loan No. 16 paid by HUD, in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(1)(B).   

594. In addition, and in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(1)(C), Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline conspired to cause a 
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false claim mortgage insurance coverage for HUD Loan No. 16 to be presented to 

HUD, or to cause false records and false statements to be made or used to get a 

false claim for mortgage insurance coverage for HUD Loan No. 16 paid by HUD.  

595.  By reason of the fraudulent conduct of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the 

Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline in connection with obtaining HUD insurance 

for HUD Loan No. 16, the United States has sustained $262,101 in damages to 

date, and such further damages in an amount to be determined at trial. 

SEVENTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR TREBLE DAMAGES AND CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER THE FCA  
IN CONNECTION WITH HUD LOAN NO. 17 

(Against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants,  
Buckley Consulting and Buckley) 

596. Allegations in paragraphs 1-595 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference.  

597. The United States seeks treble damages and civil penalties against 

Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Buckley Consulting 

(formerly Premier), and Buckley because they fraudulently obtained HUD 

insurance for HUD Loan No. 17 for the sale of the Beach 88th Street Property to 

Buyers 17-A, 17-B, and 17-C, in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(1)(A)–(C).   

598. Specifically, as set forth above, see supra at ¶¶ 459–480, Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley 

knowingly, or with reckless disregard for the truth, caused a false claim for 

mortgage insurance coverage for HUD Loan No. 17 to be presented to an officer, 
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employee, or agent of the United States, namely HUD, in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 

3729(1)(A).   

599. Further, Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, 

Buckley Consulting, and Buckley knowingly, or with reckless disregard for the 

truth, caused false records and false statements to be made or used to get a false 

claim for mortgage insurance coverage for HUD Loan No. 17 paid by HUD, in 

violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(1)(B).   

600. In addition, and in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(1)(C), Cohen, the 

Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley 

conspired to cause a false claim mortgage insurance coverage for HUD Loan No. 17 

to be presented to HUD, or to cause false records and false statements to be made or 

used to get a false claim for mortgage insurance coverage for HUD Loan No. 17 paid 

by HUD.  

601.  By reason of the fraudulent conduct of Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the 

Cambridge Defendants, Buckley Consulting, and Buckley in connection with 

obtaining HUD insurance for HUD Loan No. 17, the United States has sustained 

$482,470 in damages to date, and such further damages in an amount to be 

determined at trial. 

EIGHTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR AN INJUNCTION UNDER THE FRAUD INJUNCTION STATUTE 
(Against Cohen and Buckley) 

602. Allegations in paragraphs 1-601 are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference. 
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603. Cohen and Buckley knowingly and intentionally devised, and 

participated in, schemes to defraud the United States, specifically HUD, of money 

and property, by abusing the HUD mortgage insurance program; and to commit 

frauds that affected home-buyers, financial institutions, and HUD.   

604. For the purpose of executing their schemes to defraud, Cohen and  

Buckley sent or delivered, or caused to be sent or delivered, to HUD and to financial 

institutions false and misleading statements and information in Loan Applications, 

HUD-1 Settlement Statements, MCAW forms, and appraisal reports, and other 

documents, by interstate mail carriers and interstate wire, in violations of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 1341 and 1343. 

605. As set forth above, see supra at ¶¶ 481–514, Cohen and Buckley have 

been, and can be expected to continue, devising, and participating in, schemes to 

defraud HUD by fraudulently obtaining HUD mortgage insurance for sales of 

residential properties at inflated valuations, and to commit mail and wire fraud 

that affect home-buyers, financial institutions, and HUD.  Specifically, in 2010, 

Cohen and Buckley orchestrated more than thirty-five such fraudulent flip sales.  In 

connection with those frauds, Cohen and Buckley sent, or caused to be sent, false 

statements and information to HUD and to financial institutions, by interstate mail 

carriers and interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.   

606. Further, in 2011, and notwithstanding the entry of an injunction 

against Cohen in December 2010, Cohen and Buckley continued to attempt to 

orchestrate fraudulent flip sales using HUD-insured mortgage loans.  Accordingly, 

it is highly probable that Cohen and Buckley will continue to devise schemes to 
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commit fraud on HUD and financial institutions, using interstate mail carriers and 

interstate wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343. 

607. Cohen’s and Buckley’s ongoing mortgage fraud scheme poses the 

prospect of a continuing and substantial injury to the United States, its citizens, its 

financial institutions, and the secondary marketplace for mortgage loans.   

608. Accordingly, Cohen’s and Buckley’s ongoing fraudulent conduct should 

be enjoined pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1345. 

WHEREFORE, the United States prays for judgment against defendants as 

follows: 

(a) With respect to each claim for civil penalties under FIRREA (Claims 

Nos. 1–15), a judgment imposing civil penalties against each defendant charged 

under each claim, up to the maximum amount of $1,000,000 allowed by law; 

(b) With respect to the FCA claim arising from HUD’s payment of a 

mortgage insurance claim for HUD Loan No. 16 (Claim No. 16), a judgment against 

Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, and Micheline, holding 

them jointly and severally liable to the United States for the amount of $786,303, 

plus such appropriate civil penalties to be determined by the Court; 

(c) With respect to the FCA claim arising from a claim on HUD for 

mortgage insurance coverage for the default of HUD Loan No. 17 (Claim No. 17), a 

judgment against Cohen, the Cohen Entities, the Cambridge Defendants, Buckley 

Consulting, and Buckley, holding them jointly and severally liable to the United 

States for the amount of $1,447,410, plus such appropriate civil penalties to be 

determined by the Court; 
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(d) With respect to the Fraud Injunction Claim (Claim No. 18), the entry of 

a preliminary injunction and a permanent injunction against Cohen and Buckley: 

i. Enjoining Cohen and Buckley, and any of their employees, agents, 

assigns, or any persons acting on their behalf, from (1) participating 

in any real estate transaction that involves any request or 

application for mortgage insurance from HUD or FHA; and (2) 

advertising, marketing to the public, otherwise soliciting business 

that involve the origination of any federally-insured home mortgage 

loans;  

ii. Ordering Cohen and Buckley to identify to the United States, within 

seven (7) days of the entry of the preliminary injunction, all business 

entities in which any of them holds a greater than 10% interest or 

over which either exercises any control; 

iii. Ordering Cohen and Buckley to notify the United States within three 

(3) days of any of them having acquired a greater than 10% interest 

in a business or having acquired any control over a business; 

iv. Directing Cohen and Buckley, and any of their employees, agents, 

assigns, or any persons acting on their behalf, to notify the United 

States within 48 hours of the following events:  (1) the execution of 

an agreement for the purchase of a residential property in any real 

estate transaction in which any of them participates in any capacity; 

(2) the making of an application to obtain a mortgage loan to finance 

the purchase of a residential property, or to refinance a residential 
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property, in connection with a real estate transaction in which any of 

them participates in any capacity; (3) the disbursement of a mortgage 

loan in connection with a residential real estate transaction in which 

any of them participates in any capacity; and (4) the default by one or 

more buyers on a mortgage loan originated in connection with a 

residential real estate transaction in which any of them participates 

in any capacity;  

v. Directing each of Cohen and Buckley to submit, within ten days after 

the end of quarter following the entry of the preliminary and 

permanent injunction, sworn statements to the United States that 

set forth, for the preceding quarter, the following information: (i) 

Cohen’s or Buckley’s total income for that quarter, including, but not 

limited to, any income derived from any business in which Cohen or 

Buckley has any ownership interest or control; (ii) the sources of 

Cohen’s or Buckley’s income during that quarter; and (iii) all 

business entities or real estate properties in which Cohen or Buckley 

held any interest during the quarter; 

vi. Ordering Cohen and Buckley to show a copy of the preliminary 

injunction and, if extant, the permanent injunction to all their 

employees, agents, and any other persons acting on their behalf, as 

well as to all prospective home-buyers to whom Cohen or Buckley 

seeks to sell a property; and  

vii. Ordering Cohen and Buckley to file with the Court, and serve upon  
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the United States, a written report, within fourteen (14) days of the 

entry of the preliminary and the permanent injunction, in which 

report each shall set forth, under oath, the manner of its compliance 

with each provision of each injunction. 

(e) With respect to the FIRREA Claims and the FCA Claims (Claims Nos.  

1- 17), a preliminary injunction and a permanent injunction against the Cambridge 

Defendants:  

i. Enjoining the Cambridge Defendants, and any of their employees, 

agents, assigns, or any persons acting on their behalf, from (1) 

obtaining mortgage insurance fraudulently from HUD; (2)  using the 

mail or write transmissions, or causing the use of the mail or wire 

transmissions, to defraud HUD or to execute a scheme to defraud 

that affects a financial institution; (3) destroying, altering, disposing 

of or in any other fashion failing to maintain business, financial, 

accounting, real estate and legal records; (4) originating, processing, 

or preparing any application for mortgage insurance from HUD; and 

(5) advertising, marketing to the public, or otherwise soliciting 

business to originate, or otherwise handle, any federally-insured 

home mortgage loans;  

ii. Ordering the Cambridge Defendants to identify to the United States, 

within seven (7) days of the entry of the preliminary injunction, all 

business entities in which any of them holds a greater than 10%  

interest or over which any exercises any control; 
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iii. Ordering the Cambridge Defendants to notify the United States 

within three (3) days of any of them having acquired a greater than 

10% interest in a business or having acquired any control over a 

business; and 

iv. Ordering the Cambridge Defendants to file with the Court, and serve 

upon the United States, a written report, within fourteen (14) days of 

the entry of the preliminary and the permanent injunction, in which 

report each shall set forth, under oath, the manner of its compliance 

with each provision of each injunction. 

(f) With respect to the FIRREA Claims and the FCA Claims, a preliminary 

injunction and a permanent injunction against Goldberg and Micheline:  

i. Enjoining Goldberg and Micheline, and any of their employees, 

agents, assigns, or any persons acting on their behalf, from (1) 

preparing, reviewing, approving or submitting appraisal reports in 

connection with a real estate sale or refinancing to be financed 

through a HUD-insured mortgage loan; (2) advertising, marketing to 

the public, or otherwise soliciting business to provide appraisal 

services in connection with any federally-insured home mortgage 

loans; and (3) destroying, altering, disposing of or in any other 

fashion failing to maintain business, financial, accounting, real estate 

and legal records; 

ii. Ordering Goldberg and Micheline to identify to the United States, 

within seven (7) days of the entry of the preliminary injunction, all 
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